
 

NOTICE AND AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING 
 

Wednesday, November 9, 2022, 1:30 PM 
  

As permitted by Government Code section 54953(e), this meeting will be held by Zoom and teleconference (webinar) and 
also in person at 1025 Escobar Street, First Floor in Martinez.   
 

PUBLIC ACCESS AND PUBLIC COMMENT INSTRUCTIONS 
 

If joining remotely, please click the link below to join the webinar: 
 
https://cccounty-us.zoom.us/j/89633801679 
Or Telephone: 
    Dial: 
            USA 214 765 0478 US Toll 
            USA 888 278 0254 US Toll-free 
Conference code: 220394 
 
LAFCO meetings are audio recorded and posted online at http://contracostalafco.org/meetings-and-public-hearings/. 
Audio recordings are available the day following the LAFCO meeting. LAFCO meeting materials and staff reports are 
available online at http://contracostalafco.org/meetings-and-public-hearings/. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: The Commission will consider all verbal and written comments received.  Comments may be 
emailed to LouAnn.Texeira@lafco.cccounty.us or by U.S. mail to Contra Costa LAFCO at 40 Muir Road 1st Floor, Martinez, 
CA  94553. Please indicate the agenda item number, if any. If you want your comments read into the record, please indicate 
so in the subject line. For public hearings, the Chair will announce the opening and closing of the public hearing. The Chair 
will call for verbal public comments.  

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

Disclosable public records for a regular meeting agenda distributed to a majority of the members of the Commission less 
than 72 hours prior to that meeting will be made available on http://contracostalafco.org/meetings 
 

Campaign Contribution Disclosure 
If you are an applicant or an agent of an applicant on a matter to be heard by the Commission, and if you have made 
campaign contributions totaling $250 or more to any Commissioner in the past 12 months, Government Code Section 
84308 requires that you disclose the fact, either orally or in writing, for the official record of the proceedings. 
   
Notice of Intent to Waive Protest Proceedings 
In the case of a change of organization consisting of an annexation or detachment, or a reorganization consisting solely of 
annexations or detachments, or both, or the formation of a county service area, it is the intent of the Commission to waive 
subsequent protest and election proceedings provided that appropriate mailed notice has been given to landowners and 
registered voters within the affected territory pursuant to Gov. Code sections 56157 and 56663, and no written  opposition 
from affected landowner or voters to the proposal is received before the conclusion of the commission proceedings on the 
proposal. 
 

American Disabilities Act Compliance 
LAFCO will provide reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities planning to join the meeting. Please contact the 
LAFCO office at least 48 hours before the meeting at 925-313-7133.   

https://cccounty-us.zoom.us/j/89633801679
http://contracostalafco.org/meetings-and-public-hearings/
http://contracostalafco.org/meetings-and-public-hearings/
mailto:LouAnn.Texeira@lafco.cccounty.us
http://contracostalafco.org/meetings


 
NOVEMBER 9, 2022 CONTRA COSTA LAFCO AGENDA 

1. Call to Order 
2. Roll Call 
3. Approval of Minutes of the September 14, 2022 regular LAFCO meeting  
4. Public Comment Period (please observe three-minute time limit): Members of the public are invited to 

address the Commission regarding any item that is not scheduled for discussion as part of this Agenda. 
No action will be taken by the Commission at this meeting as a result of items presented at this time. 

 

TELECONFERENCING  
5. Resolution Authorizing Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361 – adopt a resolution 

authorizing LAFCO to conduct teleconference meetings per Gov. Code §54953(e) and make related 
findings  

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE (SOI) AMENDMENTS/CHANGES OF ORGANIZATION 
6. LAFCO 22-04 – Annexation to – EBMUD – Thomas Property – consider annexing to EBMUD 35+ acres 

(APNs 365-230-037/-038) located at 4949 Happy Valley Road (unincorporated Lafayette) and consider a 
categorical exemption under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)  Public Hearing  

7. LAFCO 22-07- Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (CCCFPD) and City of Pinole – Out of Agency 
Service Agreement (OAS) -  consider a request by CCCFPD to provide fire, rescue and emergency medical 
services to the City of Pinole under a 5-year contract between CCCFPD and the City effective March 1, 2023, 
and consider a categorical exemption under CEQA Public Hearing        

 

BUSINESS ITEMS 
8. Contra Costa Mosquito & Vector Control District (CCMVCD) & Contra Costa Resource Conservation 

District (CCRCD) Municipal Services Review (MSR) & Sphere of Influence (SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 
receive an overview of the Final Draft CCMVCD/CCRCD MSR, receive public comments, provide input, 
and consider CEQA exemptions Public Hearing 

9. LAFCO 2023 Meeting Schedule – consider approving the 2023 LAFCO meeting schedule 
10. FY 2022-23 First Quarter Budget Report – receive FY 2022-23 first quarter budget report 
11. 2022 Legislative Wrap-up – a legislative update will be provided – information only 

12. Updates to LAFCO Staffing, Budget, and Personnel - consider approving the LAFCO Clerk Analyst job 
description, updates to the LAFCO salary schedule, an increase in FY 2022-23 salary and benefit costs, and 
recruitment efforts for a Clerk Analyst  

 

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
13. Current and Potential Applications - update on current and potential applications – information only 
14. Correspondence from Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association (CCCERA) including 

GASB 68 Actuarial Report (Measurement Date 12/31/21), five-year projection of employer contribution 
rate changes and the reconciliations of employer contribution rate, and unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability reconciliation by cost group based on the December 31, 2021 Actuarial Valuation letters 

15. Commissioner Comments and Announcements  
16. Staff Announcements/CALAFCO Conference Highlights/Newspaper Articles 

 

ADJOURNMENT 
     Next regular LAFCO meeting December 14, 2022 at 1:30 pm.  
     LAFCO STAFF REPORTS AVAILABLE AT http://www.contracostalafco.org/meeting_archive.htm 

http://www.contracostalafco.org/meeting_archive.htm


November 9, 2022 

Agenda Item 3 

CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 

September 14, 2022 

1. Welcome and Call to Order; Roll Call (Agenda Items 1&2)

Chair Schroder called the regular meeting of September 14, 2022, to order at 1:31 p.m.

The following Commissioners and staff were present:

Announcement: Pursuant to Governor Newsom’s Executive Order and local county health orders issued to 

address the COVID 19 pandemic, the Commission meeting is being held both via Zoom videoconference and 

in person at 1025 Escobar Street, First Floor in Martinez. The public may listen to the meeting telephonically 

and comment by calling in to the teleconference meeting per the instructions on page 1 of the agenda. As 

required by the Brown Act, all votes taken by a roll call vote of the attending Commissioners. 

3. Approval of Minutes

Upon motion by Commissioner Blubaugh and second by Commissioner Anderson, the Commission

unanimously, by a 6-0 vote approved the August 10, 2022, meeting minutes.

VOTE: 

AYES: Andersen, Blubaugh, Bristow, Glover, McGill, Schroder 

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Butt 

ABSTAIN: None 

4. Public Comments

Chair Schroder invited members of the audience to provide public comment. There were no speakers.

TELECONFERENCING 

5. Resolution Authorizing Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361 – adopt a resolution

authorizing LAFCO to conduct teleconference meetings per Gov. Code §54953(e) and make related

findings

Following Commissioner comments and upon a motion by Commissioner Blubaugh and second by 

Commissioner Andersen, the Commission, unanimously, by a 6-0 vote, adopted Resolution No. 2022- 

06 allowing Contra Costa LAFCO to conduct teleconference meetings pursuant to GC section 54953(e) 

and make related findings. 

VOTE: 

AYES: Andersen, Blubaugh, Bristow, Glover, McGill, Schroder 

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Butt 

ABSTAIN: None  

Regular Commissioners Alternate Commissioners Staff 

Rob Schroder, Chair  

Federal Glover, Vice Chair 

Candace Andersen 

Don Blubaugh  

Patricia Bristow 

Tom Butt (Absent) 

Mike McGill 

Stan Caldwell (Absent) 

Chuck Lewis  

Diane Burgis (Absent) 

Edi Birsan (Absent)  

Lou Ann Texeira, Executive Officer 

Tom Geiger, Commission Counsel 

Sherrie Weis, LAFCO Clerk  



Local Agency Formation Commission of Contra Costa County 

Draft Meeting Minutes of September 14, 2022   Page 2 

 

 

 

 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE (SOI) AMENDMENTS/CHANGES OF ORGANIZATION 
 

6. LAFCO 22-03 – SOI Amendment – EBMUD – Thomas Property – consider expanding EBMUD’s 

SOI (32+ acres) to include two parcels (APNs 365-23-037/-038) located at 4949 Happy Valley Road 

(unincorporated Lafayette) and consider a categorical exemption under the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) Public Hearing Continued from August 10, 2022 

 

Chair Schroder opened the public hearing and closed the public hearing; and there were no speakers 

 

Following Commissioners comments and upon a motion by Commissioner Andersen and second by 

Commissioner Glover, unanimously, by a 6-0 vote, adopted Resolution 22-03 approving the proposed 

EBMUD SOI expansion of 32+ acres and determining that the SOI expansion is exempt from CEQA 

 

VOTE: 

AYES: Andersen, Blubaugh, Bristow, Glover, McGill, Schroder  

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Butt 

ABSTAIN: None     
 

7. LAFCO 22-01 – Annexation to City of Concord and Detachment from County Service Area (CSA) 

P-6 – Akins Property – consider annexation to City of Concord and detachment from CSA P-6 of one 

parcel (APN 116-092-007) (1.42+ acres) located at 1974 Ayers Road (unincorporated Concord) and 

consider a categorical exemption under CEQA Public Hearing  

 

Chair Schroder opened the public hearing and closed the public hearing; and there were no speakers 

 

Following Commissioners comments and upon a motion by Commissioner Blubaugh and second by 

Commissioner McGill, unanimously, by a 6-0 vote, adopted Resolution 22-01 approving annexation to 

City of Concord and detachment from CSA P-6, Akins property 1.42+ located at 1974 Ayers Road in 

unincorporated Concord (Ayers Ranch). The annexation/detachment is in accordance with the City’s 

pre-annexation agreement and LAFCO’s conditions of approval for out-of-agency wastewater service 

in June 2021. The Commission determined the project is exempt from CEQA, and deferred issuing the 

LAFCO Certificate of Completion until September 30, 2023, to allow the property owners to obtain 

permits from the County and complete construction  
 

VOTE: 

AYES: Andersen, Blubaugh, Bristow, Glover, McGill, Schroder  

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Butt 

ABSTAIN: None     
 

8. LAFCO 22-05 – City of Martinez – Out of Agency Service Request – consider a request by the City 

of Martinez to extend municipal water services outside its jurisdictional boundary to property located 

at 2567 Reliez Valley Road (22,000 sq. ft) (APN 365-150-015) in unincorporated Martinez, and 

consider a categorical exemption under CEQA 

 



Local Agency Formation Commission of Contra Costa County 

Draft Meeting Minutes of September 14, 2022   Page 3 

 

 

 

Commissioners urged the City of Martinez to annex and prepare an annexation plan. Following 

Commissioners comments and upon a motion by Commissioner Glover and second by Commissioner 

Blubaugh, unanimously, by a 6-0 vote, adopted Resolution 22-05 authorizing the City of Martinez to 

provide Out-Of-Agency Water Service to APN 365-150-015 (2567 Reliez Valley Road) and 

determining that the project is exempt from CEQA. The LAFCO resolution includes a provision that 

the City of Martinez must provide LAFCO with an update by December 31, 2022, regarding the City’s 

future plans to annex the Alhambra Valley. 

 

VOTE: 

AYES: Andersen, Blubaugh, Bristow, Glover, McGill, Schroder  

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Butt 

ABSTAIN: None     

 

9. LAFCO 22-06 – West County Wastewater District (WCWD) – Out of Agency Service Request – 

consider a request by WCWD to extend municipal wastewater services outside its jurisdictional 

boundary to two parcels (APNs 408-090-055 and 408-130-041) totaling 26.38+ acres located on Parr 

Blvd in unincorporated Richmond, and consider related actions as a responsible agency under CEQA 

 

Following Commissioners comments and upon a motion by Commissioner McGill and second by 

Commissioner Andersen, unanimously, by a 6-0 vote, adopted Resolution 22-06 authorizing WCWD to 

extend municipal wastewater services outside its jurisdictional boundary to two parcels (APNs 408-090-

055 and 408-130-041) located at 155 and 177 Parr Blvd in unincorporated Richmond, and consider 

related actions as a responsible agency under CEQA. The LAFCO resolution includes a condition that 

the landowners submit to LAFCO an application to annex the subject parcels to WCWD, along with the 

applicable annexation fees, by September 30, 2023 

 

VOTE: 

AYES: Andersen, Blubaugh, Bristow, Glover, McGill, Schroder  

NOES: None 

ABSENT: Butt 

ABSTAIN: None     

 

BUSINESS ITEMS 

 
10. July 1, 2021 Actuarial Valuation and June 30, 2022 GASB 75 Supplemental Schedules – 

informational item – no action required by the Commission 

 

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

 

11. Current and Potential Applications – update on current and potential applications – informational item 

– no action required by the Commission 

 

12. Correspondence from Contra Costa County Employee’s Retirement Association (CCCERA) – 

informational update – no action required by the Commission 
 

13. Commissioner Comments and Announcements 
Commissioner McGill updated the Commission on CALAFCO’s activities: 



Local Agency Formation Commission of Contra Costa County 

Draft Meeting Minutes of September 14, 2022   Page 4 

 

 

 

• August 15, 2022 - CALAFCO Annual Conference Program Committee 

• September 8, 2022 – CALAFCO Annual Conference Program Committee 

• September 19, 2022 – CALAFCO U 

• October 7, 2022 – CALAFCO Legislative Committee Meeting 

• October 18-21, 2022 – CALAFCO Annual Conference 

 

14. Staff Announcements 
Executive Officer Texeira, Clerk Weis and several Commissioners will be attending the CALAFCO 

Annual Conference 

 

Tom Geiger, Commission Counsel – updated the Commissioners on the Knightsen Town Community 

Services District Dissolution 

 

The meeting adjourned at 1:56 p.m.  

 

Final Minutes Approved by the Commission November 9, 2022 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

The next regular LAFCO meeting is November 9, 2022, at 1:30 pm.  

 

By       

Executive Officer  



November 9, 2022 
Agenda Item 5 November 9, 2022 

Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission 
40 Muir Road, 1st Floor 
Martinez, CA 94553 

Adoption of Resolution 2022-07 (AB 361) 

Dear Members of the Commission: 

Since June 2020, Contra Costa LAFCO has conducted its public meetings via Zoom/teleconference, 
consistent with the Governor’s Executive Orders allowing teleconferencing and AB 361, which authorizes 
teleconferencing without following the non-emergency teleconferencing rules in the Brown Act. The 
Commission has adopted a resolution at each LAFCO meeting authorizing LAFCO to conduct 
teleconference meetings. 

In August 2022, the Commission discussed format options for future LAFCO meetings, including virtual/ 
teleconference meetings, in-person meetings, and hybrid meetings (both virtual/teleconference and in-
person). The Commission indicated a preference for the hybrid meeting format, which we have 
implemented.  

In September 2022, the Commission approved a resolution authorizing LAFCO to continue conducting 
teleconference meetings under Government Code section 54953(e). Commissioners indicated that because 
of the rise in Covid-19 cases dues to variants, the question of whether to continue meeting remotely would 
be revisited at each meeting.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 1) Adopt Resolution No. 2022-07 authorizing LAFCO to conduct 
teleconference meetings under Government Code §54953(e) and make related findings.   

Sincerely, 

LOU ANN TEXEIRA 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Attachment – Draft AB 361 – LAFCO Resolution 2022-07 



RESOLUTION NO. 2022-07 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION 

COMMISSION AUTHORIZING TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS UNDER 

GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54953(e) (ASSEMBLY BILL 361) 

Recitals 

A. On March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom proclaimed the existence of a state of emergency

in California under the California Emergency Services Act, Government Code (GC) §8550 et

seq.

B. On March 10, 2020, the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors found that due to the

introduction of COVID-19 in the County, conditions of disaster or extreme peril to the safety

of persons and property had arisen, commencing on March 3, 2020.  Based on these

conditions, pursuant to GC §8630, the Board of Supervisors adopted Resolution No. 2020/92,

proclaiming the existence of a local emergency throughout Contra Costa County.

C. On March 17, 2020, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-29-20, which suspended

the teleconferencing rules set forth in the California Open Meeting law, GC §54950 et seq.

(the Brown Act), provided certain requirements were met and followed.

D. On June 11, 2021, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-08-21, which clarified the

suspension of the teleconferencing rules set forth in the Brown Act and further provided that

those provisions would remain suspended through September 30, 2021.

E. On September 16, 2021, Governor Newsom signed Assembly Bill (AB) 361, which provides

that under GC §54953(e), a legislative body subject to the Brown Act may continue to meet

using teleconferencing without complying with the non-emergency teleconferencing rules in

GC §54953(b)(3) if a proclaimed state of emergency exists and state or local officials have

imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing.

F. On October 4, 2022, the Contra Costa County Health Officer issued recommendations for

safely holding public meetings that include recommended measures to promote social

distancing.

G. Among the Health Officer’s recommendations: (1) on-line meetings (teleconferencing

meetings) are strongly recommended as those meetings present the lowest risk of transmission

of SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19; (2) if a local agency determines to hold in-

person meetings, offering the public the opportunity to attend via a call-in option or an

internet-based service option is recommended when possible to give those at higher risk of

an/or higher concern about COVID-19 an alternative to participating in person; (3) a written

safety protocol should be developed and followed, and it is recommended that the protocol

require social distancing – i.e., six feet of separation between attendees – and face masking of

all attendees; (4) seating arrangements should allow for staff and members of the public to

easily maintain at least six-foot distance from one another at all practicable times.

H. Because of the prevalence of COVID-19 variants in the Bay Area, case rates and COVID-19

hospitalizations remain high in the County.

I. In the interest of public health and safety, as affected by the emergency caused by the spread

of COVID-19, the Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) intends to

invoke the provisions of AB 361 related to teleconferencing.

Attachment



Contra Costa LAFCO Resolution No. 2022-07 

Authorizing Teleconference Meetings Under Government Code Section 54953(E) (Assembly Bill 361) 

Page 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission resolves as follows: 

1. LAFCO finds that: the state of emergency proclaimed by Governor Newson on March 4, 2020,

is currently in effect; and the Contra Costa County Health Officer has strongly recommended

that public meetings be held by teleconferencing as those meetings present the lowest risk of

transmission of SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19.

2. As authorized by AB 361, LAFCO will use teleconferencing for its meetings in accordance

with the provisions of GC §54953(e).

3. The Executive Officer is authorized and directed to take all actions necessary to implement

the intent and purpose of this resolution, including conducting open and public meetings in

accordance with GC §54953(e) and all other applicable provisions of the Brown Act.

PASSED AND ADOPTED on November 9, 2022, by the following vote: 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

ROB SCHRODER, CHAIR, CONTRA COSTA LAFCO 

I hereby certify that this is a correct copy of a resolution passed and adopted by this Commission on 

the date stated above. 

Dated:  November 9, 2022 

Lou Ann Texeira, Executive Officer 



CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT  

 
 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 
 
 

LAFCO 22-04  Annexation to East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD) – 4949 Happy Valley 
Road  (unincorporated Lafayette)  

APPLICANT  Steve Thomas - Landowner/Applicant 
SYNOPSIS   The applicant proposes to annex two parcels (APNs 365-230-037 and -038) to 

EBMUD. The parcels total 35+ acres and are located at 4949 Happy Valley Road in 
unincorporated Lafayette -  see attached map (Exhibit A). 

   The purpose of the proposal is to allow for the extension of municipal water service 
to serve one existing single-family home, along with a personal vineyard and 
livestock. There is also the potential to construct a second single-family home on the 
adjacent parcel. 

BACKGROUND  
In May 2022, the landowner applied to Contra Costa LAFCO to expand EBMUD’s sphere of influence 
(SOI) and annex the subject property to EBMUD. Included with the application was a request that Alameda 
LAFCO transfer jurisdiction to Contra Costa LAFCO to process these applications.  Alameda is the 
principal county for LAFCO proceedings related to EBMUD matters. The “principal county” for LAFCO 
proceedings is the county having the greatest portion of the assessed value, as shown on the last equalized 
assessment roll, of all taxable property within the district. [Government Code (GC) §56066].  
Contra Costa LAFCO submitted a request to Alameda LAFCO to transfer jurisdiction to Contra Costa 
LAFCO, and on July 14, 2022, Alameda LAFCO approved the request. 
On September 14, 2022, Contra Costa LAFCO approved expanding EBMUD’s SOI to include the two 
subject parcels. On November 9, 2022, the Commission will be asked to approve the corresponding 
annexation as described below.  
DISCUSSION 
Government Code (GC) §56668 sets forth factors that the Commission must consider in evaluating a 
proposed boundary change as discussed below. In the Commission’s review, no single factor is 
determinative. In reaching a decision, each is to be evaluated within the context of the overall proposal. 

1. Consistency with the Sphere of Influence (SOI) of Any Local Agency: 
The parcel proposed for annexation is within EBMUD’s SOI as approved by the Commission on 
September 14, 2022.  EBMUD staff does not oppose the proposed annexation.   

2. Land Use, Planning and Zoning - Present and Future: 
One of the parcels includes a single-family home, vineyard, and livestock; the other parcel is 
currently vacant. The County General Plan designation for the subject parcels is Agricultural Land 
(AL) and the zoning designation is General Agricultural five acre minimum (A-2). The parcels are 
outside the Contra Costa County Urban Limit Line. 
 
 
  

November 9, 2022 
Agenda Item 6 



Executive Officer’s Report 
LAFCO 22-04  

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 
Page 2 

 
3. The Effect on Maintaining the Physical and Economic Integrity of Agricultural Lands and 

Open Space Lands:  
The subject parcels are not under an active Williamson Act contract. There are no lands under 
Williamson Act contracts near or around the subject parcels. One of the subject parcels (APN -037) 
meets the LAFCO definition of “agricultural land” (GC §56016) as the parcel contains a vineyard. 

4. Topography, Natural Features and Drainage Basins: 
The subject parcel is located in unincorporated Lafayette. The topography within and around the 
subject parcels is described as “hilly with valleys.” The subject properties are near Briones 
Reservoir.  

5. Population: 
The estimated population increase is approximately 2.87 persons per household (owner) and 2.37 
persons per household (renter) based on the US Census Bureau, American Community Survey 5-
year estimates, 2016-2020. 
 

6. Fair Share of Regional Housing: 
In its review of a proposal, LAFCO must consider the extent to which the proposal will assist the 
receiving entity in achieving its fair share of the regional housing needs as determined by the 
regional council of governments. The proposed annexation will have no effect on regional housing 
needs.   

7. Governmental Services and Controls - Need, Cost, Adequacy and Availability: 
In conjunction with an annexation application, the applicant must submit a plan for providing 
services within the affected territory (Gov. Code §56653). The plan for services is available in the 
LAFCO office at 40 Muir Road, Martinez. The plan includes all of the following information and 
additional information required by the Commission or the LAFCO Executive Officer: 
(1) An enumeration and description of the services to be extended to the affected territory. 
(2) The level and range of those services. 
(3) An indication of when those services can feasibly be extended to the affected territory. 
(4) An indication of any improvement or upgrading of structures, roads, sewer or water facilities, 

or other conditions the local agency would impose or require within the affected territory if the 
change of organization or reorganization is completed. 

(5) Information with respect to how those services will be financed.  
The annexation area is currently within the service boundaries of various local agencies including, 
but not limited to, Contra Costa County, Contra Costa Fire County Protection District, various 
school districts, and other local and regional agencies.  
The proposal before the Commission is annexation of two parcels to EBMUD to support an existing 
single-family home, a vineyard, livestock, and one proposed single-family home on the second 
parcel.   

8. Timely Availability of Water and Related Issues: 
Pursuant to the CKH, LAFCO must consider the timely and available supply of water in conjunction 
with a boundary change proposal. Contra Costa LAFCO policies state that any proposal for a change 
of organization that includes the provision of water service shall include information relating to 
water supply, storage, treatment, distribution, and waste recovery; as well as adequacy of services, 



Executive Officer’s Report 
LAFCO 22-04  

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 
Page 3 

 
facilities, and improvements to be provided and financed by the agency responsible for the provision 
of such services, facilities and improvements. 
The proposal includes annexation to EBMUD for the provision of water services. EBMUD provides 
potable water services and limited wastewater collection and treatment services in portions of the 
District’s service area. The EBMUD service area is approximately 332 square miles (Contra Costa 
and Alameda counties). EBMUD provides potable water to approximately 1.4 million people within 
the two-county service area. Within Contra Costa County, EBMUD provides water service to a 225+ 
square mile service area, serving an estimated 522,000 residents.   
EBMUD’s water supply is distributed through a collection system consisting of aqueducts, 
reservoirs, and other components. The primary source of water for EBMUD is the Mokelumne 
River; this watershed accounts for 90 percent of EBMUD’s water supply. EBMUD’s existing water 
rights allow the delivery of up to 325 mgd or approximately 364,037 acre-feet per year of water 
from the Mokelumne River.  
EBMUD’s water rights are subject to variability, particularly during dry and multiple dry years. The 
availability of the Mokelumne River runoff is subject to senior water rights of other users, 
downstream fishery flow requirements, and other Mokelumne River water uses. Given the 
variability, EBMUD indicates that supplemental water supply sources are needed to meet future 
water demand during extended periods of drought. 
The Freeport Regional Water Facility ,located along the Sacramento River between Sacramento and 
the town of Freeport, is a regional water supply project that provides supplemental water supply to 
EBMUD during dry years. During periods of drought, EBMUD receives Central Valley Project 
(CVP) water from the Freeport Regional Water Facility to augment EBMUD’s water supply. The 
U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (USBR) provides supplemental water supply during dry and multiple 
dry years to ensure the reliability of EBMUD’s water supply. In conjunction with the request to 
annex the property, EBMUD must seek approval from the USBR for inclusion. Furthermore, the 
District may be required to obtain approval to update the District’s Place-in-Use with the California 
Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). To initiate the review and approval process with the 
USBR and SWRCB, the landowner must enter into an agreement with EBMUD to reimburse the 
District for all fees levied by these agencies. 
The landowner reports that the water quality on the property has a high level of boron. Contra Costa 
Environmental Health (CCEH) reviewed the water quality for the well located on the property and 
confirmed that the boron level of 5,900 micrograms per liter (ug/L) exceeds the California State 
Notification Level of 1,000 (ug/L). CCEH has no objection to EBMUD supplying water to the 
subject property as noted in their letter (Attachment 1).    
The estimated water demand for the subject area is currently unknown and would need to be 
provided by EBMUD as part of the completed application to EBMUD to determine if the property 
can feasibly be served. The property owner provided an estimated range of approximately 3,000 to 
5,000 gallons per day. Specific water infrastructure will be determined when the landowner applies 
to EBMUD for service. EBMUD staff provided a will serve letter indicating that municipal water 
service will be available following annexation (Attachment 2).  
  

9. Assessed Value, Tax Rates, and Indebtedness: 
The annexation area is within tax rate area 73015. The assessed value for the annexation area is 
$2,326,896 (2022-23 roll). The territory being annexed shall be liable for all authorized or existing 
taxes and bonded debt comparable to properties presently within the annexing agencies. 



Executive Officer’s Report 
LAFCO 22-04  

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 
Page 4 

 
10. Environmental Impact of the Proposal: 

The proposed annexation of the subject parcel is exempt from the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines §§15303(a) and (d) as a utility extension to serve one to 
three single-family residences.   

11. Landowner Consent and Consent by Annexing Agency: 
According to County Elections, there are fewer than 12 registered voters on the subject property; 
thus, the area proposed for annexation is, by statute, considered uninhabited. The property 
owner/applicant consents to the proposed annexation. Therefore, if the Commission approves the 
annexation, the Commission may waive the protest hearing (Gov. Code §56662).  
All landowners and registered voters within the proposal area(s) and within 300 feet of the exterior 
boundary of the subject parcel were sent notice of the LAFCO hearing. 

12. Boundaries and Lines of Assessment: 
The property proposed for annexation is within EBMUD’s SOI as approved by the Commission on 
September 14, 2022. A map and legal description to implement the proposed annexation were 
received and are subject to final approval by the County Surveyor. 

13. Environmental Justice: 
LAFCO is required to consider the extent to which proposals for changes of organization or 
reorganization will promote environmental justice. As defined by statute, “environmental justice” 
means the fair treatment of people of all races, cultures, and incomes with respect to the location of 
public facilities and the provision of public services. The proposed annexation is not expected to 
promote or discourage the fair treatment of minority or economically disadvantaged groups. 

14. Disadvantaged Communities: 
In accordance with State legislation, local agencies and LAFCOs are required to plan for 
disadvantaged unincorporated communities (DUCs). Many of these communities lack basic 
infrastructure, including streets, sidewalks, storm drainage, clean drinking water, and adequate 
sewer service. LAFCO actions relating to Municipal Service Reviews, SOI reviews/ amendments, 
and annexations must take into consideration DUCs, and specifically the adequacy of public 
services, including sewer, water, and fire protection needs or deficiencies, to these communities. 
According to the County Department of Conservation and Development, the annexation area does 
not meet the criteria of a DUC. 

15. Comments from Affected Agencies/Other Interested Parties: 
As of this writing, no comments were received from other affected agencies or parties. 

16. Regional Transportation and Regional Growth Plans: 
In its review of a proposal, LAFCO shall consider a regional transportation plan adopted pursuant 
to GC §65080 [GC §56668(g)]. Further, the Commission may consider the regional growth goals 
and policies established by a collaboration of elected officials only, formally representing their local 
jurisdictions in an official capacity on a regional or sub regional basis (GC §56668.5). Regarding 
these sections, LAFCO looks at consistency of the proposal with the regional transportation and 
other regional plans affecting the Bay Area. 
SB 375, a landmark state law, requires California’s regions to adopt plans and policies to reduce the 
generation of greenhouse gases (GHG), primarily from transportation. To implement SB 375, the 



Executive Officer’s Report 
LAFCO 22-04  

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 
Page 5 

Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) and the Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
(MTC), in July 2013, adopted Plan Bay Area as the “Regional Transportation Plan and Sustainable 
Communities Strategy” for the San Francisco Bay Area through 2040. Plan Bay Area focuses on 
where the region is expected to grow and how development patterns and the transportation network 
can work together to reduce GHG emissions. The Plan’s key goals are to reduce GHG emissions by 
specified amounts; and plan sufficient housing for the region’s projected population over the next 
25 years.  
In October 2021, ABAG and MTC adopted Plan Bay Area 2050, which serves as the Bay Area's 
official long-range plan for housing, economic development, transportation, and environmental 
resilience for the next four years. While prior iterations of Plan Bay Area focused on transportation 
and housing, the 2050 plan expands the scope introducing strategies for long-term economic 
development and environmental resilience, while meeting federal and state requirements. This 
proposal is consistent with Plan Bay Area.  

ALTERNATIVES FOR COMMISSION ACTION 
After consideration of this report and any testimony or additional materials submitted, the Commission 
should consider taking one of the following actions: 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Approve Option 1 
 

Option 1 Approve the annexation as proposed. 
A. Find that the project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to §§15303(a) and (d) of the CEQA

Guidelines.
B. Adopt this report, approve LAFCO Resolution No. 22-04 (Attachment 3), and approve the

proposal, to be known as Annexation to East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD) –
4949 Happy Valley Road  - (unincorporated Lafayette) subject to the terms and conditions
in Resolution No. 22-04.

Option 2 Adopt this report and DENY the proposal. 

Option 3 If the Commission needs more information, CONTINUE this matter to a future meeting. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Approve Option 1 

LOU ANN TEXEIRA, EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

 

Attachments   
1. Letter from Contra Costa Environmental Health
2. EBMUD Will Serve Letter
3. Draft LAFCO Resolution 22-04

 

Exhibit 
A. Annexation Map – 49494 Happy Valley Road

c: Steve Thomas, Landowner/Applicant
Jack Flynn, EBMUD



Lafayette

Orinda

Happy Valley Rd

Bear Creek Rd

Orinda View Rd

Sundown Ter

Wellesley Dr

Canyon View Dr

0 1,500 3,000750

FeetMap created 10/12/2022
by Contra Costa County Department of

Conservation and Development, GIS Group
30 Muir Road, Martinez, CA 94553
37:59:41.791N  122:07:03.756W

This map or dataset was created by the Contra Costa County Department of Conservation
and Development with data from the Contra Costa County GIS Program.  Some 

base data, primarily City Limits, is derived from the CA State Board of Equalization's
tax rate areas. While obligated to use this data the County assumes no responsibility for

its accuracy. This map contains copyrighted information and may not be altered.  It may be 
reproduced in its current state if the source is cited. Users of this map agree to read and 

accept the County of Contra Costa disclaimer of liability for geographic information. ®

LAFCO 22-04
EBMUD
EBMUD SOI
City Boundaries
County Urban Limit Line

LafayetteOrinda

Moraga

Briones

ÄÅ2424

LAFCO No. 22-04  Annexation to East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD) - Thomas Property
Exhibit A



Attachment 3 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 22-04 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
MAKING DETERMINATIONS AND APPROVING  

ANNEXATION TO EAST BAY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT (EBMUD)  
4949 HAPPY VALLEY ROAD - LAFAYETTE 

 
WHEREAS, the above-referenced proposal was filed with the Executive Officer of the Contra 

Costa Local Agency Formation Commission pursuant to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local 
Government Reorganization Act (§56000 et seq. of the Gov. Code); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer examined the application and executed her certification in 
accordance with law, determining and certifying that the filing is sufficient; and 

 
WHEREAS, at the time and in the manner required by law, the Executive Officer gave notice 

of the Commission’s consideration of the proposal; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Executive officer reviewed available information and prepared a report 
including her recommendations therein, and the report and related information were presented to and 
considered by the Commission; and  

WHEREAS, at a public hearing held on November 9, 2022, the Commission heard, discussed, 
and considered all oral and written testimony related to the proposal including, but not limited to, the 
Executive Officer’s report and recommendations, the environmental document and determinations, 
applicable General and Specific Plans, consistency with the sphere of influence, and related factors and 
information including those contained in Gov. Code §56668; and  

WHEREAS, information satisfactory to the Commission was presented that no affected 
landowners/registered voters within the subject area object to the proposal; and 

 
WHEREAS, the applicant delivered to LAFCO an executed indemnification agreement 

providing for the applicant to indemnify LAFCO against any expenses arising from any legal actions to 
challenge the annexation; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Local Agency Formation Commission determines the proposal to be in the best 

interest of the affected area and the organization of local governmental agencies within Contra Costa 
County. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission DOES 

HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND ORDER as follows: 
 

1. The Commission finds that the annexation to EBMUD is exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines sections 15300(a) and (d) as 
a utility extension to serve one to three single-family residences.  



Contra Costa LAFCO Resolution No. 22-04 
Annexation to EBMUD – Thomas Property 
Page 2 
 
2. Annexation to East Bay Municipal Utility District of two parcels (APNs 365-230-037 and -038) 

totaling 35+ acres located at 4949 Happy Valley Road in unincorporated Lafayette is approved. 
3. The subject proposal is assigned the distinctive short-form designation: 
 

ANNEXATION TO EAST BAY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT – 4949 HAPPY 
VALLEY ROAD – UNINCORPORATED LAFAYETTE 

 
4. The boundary of the subject area is found to be definite and certain as approved and set forth in 

Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof. 
 

5. The subject area is liable for any authorized or existing taxes, charges, and assessments currently 
being levies on comparable properties within the annexing agency. 
 

6. The subject area is uninhabited. 
 
7. No affected landowners or registered voters within the subject area object to the proposal, and 

the conducting authority (protest) proceedings are hereby waived. 
 
8. Water service is conditioned upon EBMUD receiving acceptance for inclusion of the annexed 

area from the United States Bureau of Reclamation (USBR), pursuant to the requirements in 
EBMUD’s contract with USBR for supplemental water supply from the Central Valley Project.  
 

9. All subsequent proceedings in connection with this annexation shall be conducted only in 
compliance with the approved boundaries set forth in the attachments and any terms and 
conditions specified in this resolution. 

 
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 9th day of November 2022, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:    
NOES:     
ABSTENTIONS:  
ABSENT:    
 
 
ROB SCHRODER, CHAIR, CONTRA COSTA LAFCO 

  
I hereby certify that this is a correct copy of a resolution passed and adopted by this Commission on the 
date stated. 
 
Dated:   November 9, 2022                               

                          Lou Ann Texeira, Executive Officer 



ANNA M. ROTH, RN, MS. MPH 
HEALlH SERVICES DIRECTOR 
·-··- . ··- . ·· ··•· ·· -

RANDALL L. SAWYER 
DEPUlY HEALTH DIRECTOR 

JOCELYN STORTZ, MS, REHS 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALlH DiRECTOR 

April 28, 2022 

Contra Costa County 

. -~.QNIRA .~Q~.II.\_ 
HEALTH SERV 'ICES 

Local Agency Formation Commission 
40 Muir Road, 1st Floor 
Martinez, CA 94553 

Subject: Property Owner Request for Water Service 
4949 Happy Valley Rd, Lafayette, CA 
APN: 365-230-037 

Dear Members of the Commission: 

CONTRA COSTA 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

2120 Diamond Boulevard, Suite 100 
Concord, California 94520 

Ph (925) 608-5500 
Fax (925) 608-5502 

www.cchealth.org/eh/ 

Contra Costa Environmental Health (CCEH) has reviewed water quality results for the well located 
at the subject property. 

The results report indicated a boron level of 5,900 micrograms per liter (µg/L), which exceeds the 
California State Notification Level of 1,000 µg/L. 
Notification levels are non-regulatory health-based advisory levels established by the State Water 
Resources Control Board (SWRCB) for chemicals for which maximum contaminant levels (MCL) 
have not been established. The US EPA has also established a Health Advisory Level for non-cancer 
health effects from boron in drinking water of 5,000 µg/L. The US EPA and SWRCB have not 
established an MCL for boron. 
CCEH has no objection to the East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD) supplying water to the 
subject property. 

If you have any questions, please contact me at (925) 383-6831 or by email at 
timothy.ellsworth@cchealth.org. 

Sin<Y~w 
Timothy Ellsworth, R.E.H.S. 
Environmental Health Specialist Il 
Land Use Program 

cc: Jocelyn Stortz, Director of Environmental Health 

TE:lj 

John Wiggins, Supervising Environmental Health Specialist 
Steven Thomas, Property Owner 

• Contra C~ Behavioral ~~tri ~~ • <:,ontra Cost~ E_me!'Qency Medical St:~.• ,Contra Gosta En~rcnmemtal .Health!&~~ Ma~ri~ls ~~ra!:"'5 • 

• Contra \Costa Health, IHousi~ & :HorimeJess Selvices • Contra Costa :Health 1Plan • ,Contra ,Costa Rubnc IHealtl!! • ,cor.rtra tCost.a Regional Medical Center,& Health Cemter:s ,• 

Attachment 1



Attachment 2



November 9, 2022 

Agenda Item 7 
 

CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT 
 

 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 
 

 

LAFCO 22-07  Contra Costa County Fire Protection District and City of Pinole – Extension of 

   Out of Agency Service (OAS)  
 

STATUTORY FRAMEWORK 

LAFCOs were created by the State legislature and are governed by the Cortese Knox Hertzberg Local 

Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (CKH). In 2016, the CKH was amended to include Government Code 

(GC) §56134, which establishes procedural requirements for a public agency to provide fire protection service 

by contract outside the public agency’s jurisdictional boundary in accordance with Senate Bill 239 

(Hertzberg).  GC §56134 authorizes LAFCO to review and approve OAS agreements between local 

government agencies for the provision of fire protection and related services. 
 

This statute applies to contracts for the exercise of new or extended fire protection services outside a public 

agency’s boundary if the contract would transfer responsibility for providing services in more than 25% of a 

public agency’s service area to another public agency or would change the employment status of more than 

25% of the employees of a public agency affected by the contract. The proposed cooperative fire protection 

agreement between CCCFPD and the City of Pinole would result in the transfer of 100% of the current City 

of Pinole firefighting services and staff to CCCFPD, triggering review and approval by LAFCO. 
 

Application Criteria: Pursuant to GC §56134 and LAFCO’s policies and procedures, an OAS application must 

include a fire protection contract, plan for service, independent comprehensive fiscal analysis, and a LAFCO 

public hearing. Both the City of Pinole and CCCFPD also submitted resolutions supporting the application 

following their respective public hearings (Exhibits A and B, respectively).  
 

SYNOPSIS 

The Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (“CCCFPD”) recently submitted an application to LAFCO 

to provide fire, rescue, and emergency medical services (EMS) to the City of Pinole (“City”) through a service 

contract with a five0year term (Attachment 1). The application includes supporting documents including 

consent resolutions from both CCCFPD and the City of Pinole, a fire protection services agreement, a Plan 

for Providing Services, an independent fiscal analysis, lease agreements (signatures pending), and agency 

consent letters and side letters and agreements from the City, Local 1230, and the United Chief Officers 

Association.  
 

PURPOSE 

The key purposes of the proposed CCCFPD and City of Pinole out of agency service contract are as follows: 

1. To enhance and expand fire and emergency medical services to the City of Pinole, including reopening 

of Station 74; 

2. To improve economies of scale of fire protection services within the City of Pinole; and 

3. To better meet the fire, rescue, and emergency medical service needs of the City of Pinole  
 

Both the City and CCCFPD held multiple public hearings and received public input regarding the proposal. 

There were numerous public speakers at the October 10th City of Pinole public hearing. The public comments 

were significantly positive.  Several speakers expressed concerns regarding the 5-year contract, what happens 

after five years, and the fiscal forecast/sustainability.      

 



Executive Officer’s Report 

LAFCO 22-07 – CCCFPD-City of Pinole - OAS 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 2 

 

DISCUSSION  

Background   

CCCFPD was formed in 1964 as a county-dependent district through the consolidation of the Central Fire 

District and the Mt. Diablo County Fire District. Subsequently, Mountain View FPD, Lafayette FPD, Bay 

Point FPD, Island FPD, Briones County FPD, Pinole FPD, Riverview FPD, West County FPD, and most 

recently, East Contra Costa Fire Protection District (ECCFPD), consolidated with CCCFPD. The County 

Board of Supervisors serves as the governing board for CCCFPD, which is a dependent district. 
 

The CCCFPD service boundary covers 555+ square miles and includes the cities of  Antioch, Brentwood, 

Clayton, Concord, Lafayette, Martinez, Oakley, Pleasant Hill, Pittsburg, San Pablo, and Walnut Creek. 

Unincorporated communities of Alhambra Valley, Bay Point, Bethel Island, Byron, Clyde, Discovery Bay, El 

Sobrante, Knightsen, Marsh Creek/Morgan Territory area,  and Pacheco, serving a population of 

approximately 760,600 (Data analysis by CCC DCD).  

CCCFPD currently owns 34 fire stations throughout the District, including those in the former ECCFPD. Two 

were closed as of 2022, and one is a reserve station and a leased facility. Two replacement stations and one 

new station are in the design and development process. Funding and personnel are available  to staff two 

additional fire companies, in Antioch and Brentwood, which will effectively bring staffing back to pre-

recession levels in March 2023. CCCFPD personnel includes 392 operations staff, 21 dispatchers, 28 fire 

prevention staff, 54 full-time administrative/support staff, and 27 part-time support staff.  There is currently 

an academy of 32 firefighter recruits anticipated to graduate in mid-February 2023 which will increase the 

total operations staff.    

 

CCCFPD is funded primarily by property tax revenues (ad valorem). Other revenue sources include charges 

for services, intergovernmental revenue, and other taxes. CCCFPD’s FY 2022-23 General Funds budget totals 

$175,494,000 with an additional estimated $20,000,000 in revenues from the former ECCFPD annexation 

effective July 1, 2022. 
  

   The City of Pinole incorporated in 1903. City services include finance, city clerk and administration, public 

safety (police and fire), public works (parks, streets, highways, street sweeping), development (planning, 

building, city engineering, sewer collection and treatment), recreation (senior center, youth center, facility 

rentals, tiny tots’ program, cable access TV).  Contractual services include legal, solid waste/recycling, 

community branch library, and animal control. 

The City’s boundary is approximately 11.61+ square miles including 6.5+ square miles under water. The  City 

serves a population of 19,343 (American Community Survey ).  
 

The City relies primarily on property and sales and uses taxes for revenue. The FY 2022-23 fire department 

budget is $5.5 million and comprises 11% of the City’s budget.   

Need for Service: For most if its history, the City has operated with one fire station (Station 73). The City 

operated with two fire stations from 2003 to 2011. The second station (Station 74) was closed due to lack of 

funding. The City has conducted multiple studies regarding its fire service model and funding options, 

including surveying the public. The most recent study was conducted in November 2019 by Emergency 

Services Consulting International (ESCI).  

Based on the ESCI study and other research, in March 2021 City staff recommended that the City increase fire 

and emergency medical staffing and services and collaborate with CCCFPD to expand the City’s fire protection 

services, including reopening Station 74.       



Executive Officer’s Report 

LAFCO 22-07 – CCCFPD-City of Pinole - OAS 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 3 

 

Contract for Services 

As proposed, the contract for service between CCCFPD and City Pinole commences on January 1, 2023 and 

terminates on June 30, 2028 unless extended as mutually agreed upon in writing by CCCFPD and City of 

Pinole. The contract provides that CCCFPD will commence services on a date mutually agreed to in writing 

by both parties. 

The contract addresses the following provisions: scope of services, facilities/apparatus/equipment, cost of 

services/funding commitment, personnel/transition plan, new development/development submittal process, 

indemnification, insurance, and miscellaneous provisions including term, extension, and termination of 

contract for services.   
 

Under the contract, the City and CCCFPD agree to jointly prepare a review and analysis of services provided 

to the City by March 31, 2027. CCCFPD will prepare an updated 5-year cost projection, for the purpose of 

inclusion in an extension agreement, if any such extension agreement is agreed to and executed by the parties. 

 

Fiscal Impact  

In accordance with GC §56134, an independent fiscal analysis (IFA) was prepared in conjunction with the 

OAS LAFCO application. The IFA was prepared by Stone Municipal Group (Attachment 2). The scope of the 

IFA reviews and documents the following: 

 

1. A thorough review of the plan for services submitted by the public agency. 
 

2.  Analysis of how the costs of the existing service provider compare to the costs of services 

           provided in service areas with similar populations and of similar geographic size that provide a 

           similar level and range of services and make a reasonable determination of the costs expected to 

           be borne by the public agency providing new or extended fire protection services; and 
 

     3.   Evaluation that the proposed affected territory is expected to receive revenues sufficient to 

           provide public services and facilities and a reasonable reserve during the three fiscal years 

           following the effective date of the contract or agreement between the public agencies to provide 

           the new or extended fire protection services. 
 

     4.   Any other information and analysis needed to support the proposal. 

      

The fiscal study reflects that the City has the fiscal ability to enter into and sustain an agreement with CCCFPD 

to provide fire and emergency response services given the County’s commitment to providing $2 million 

annually of Measure X funding to subsidize CCCFPD’s services.  
 

Services will be provided through a five-year contract. The first-year costs are estimated at $7.5 million with 

the City contributing $5.5 million and the County contributing $2 million (Measure X funds) annually through 

FY 2027-28. There is no fiscal impact to CCCFPD associated with leasing both fire stations 73 and 74. The 

IFA reflects that the City has the fiscal ability to enter into and sustain an agreement with CCCFPD to provide 

fire and emergency response services given the County’s contribution of $2 million annually (Measure X 

funds) to subsidize CCCFPD’s services. Details regarding the fiscal impacts are provided in the IFA. 
 

Table A below includes a 5-year comparison of the cost of fire/EMS services as provided by the City for both 

one and two stations, and the cost of these services for two stations as provided by CCCFPD. 

 

 

 



Executive Officer’s Report 

LAFCO 22-07 – CCCFPD-City of Pinole - OAS 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 4 

 

Table A 
 

 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 
City runs 1 station $6,363,316 $6,746,973 $7,155,799 $7,575,803 $8,005,331 
City runs 2 stations $8,655,357 $9,338,113 $9,894,535 $10,469,430 $11,061,687 
OAS w/ CCCFPD 

with 2 stations 
$6,107,445 $6,493,411 $6,950,823 $7,433,677 $7,937,218 

Table B below shows the proposed FY 2022-23 budget and budget forecasts throughout the contract term -  

FYs 2023-24 thru 2027-28.  

Table B 

 2022-23 2023-24 (F) 2024-25 (F) 2025-26 (F) 2026-27 (F) 2027-28 (F) 

Personnel Costs $2,540,000 $2,616,200 $2,694,686 $2,775,527 $2,858,792 $2,944,556 

Employee Benefits $3,461,572 $3,738,498 $4,037,578 $4,360,584 $4,709,430 $5,086,185 

Materials/Supplies $173,872 $187,782 $202,804 $219,029 $236,551 $255,475 

Equipment Replacement $305,000 $320,250 $336,263 $353,076 $370,729 $389,266 

Comm Center Allocation $172,498 $179,398 $186,574 $194,037 $201,798 $209,870 

Admin Allocation $648,044 $686,927 $728,142 $771,831 $818,141 $867,229 

Total Operating Costs $7,300,986 $7,729,054 $8,186,046 $8,674,082 $9,195,442 $9,752,581 

Measure X Allocation* $2,000,000 $2,080,000 $2,163,200 $2,249,728 $2,339,717 $2,433,306 

Net Costs - CCCFPD 

Contract 

$5,300,986 $5,649,054 $6,022,846 $6,424,354 $6,855,725 $7,319,275 

 

*  Includes maximum 4% escalator for Measure X allocations 

(F) - Forecast 

The FY 2022-23 City of Pinole Fire Department budget is $5.5 million and comprises 11% of the City’s 

budget. Based on the City’s current fire service costs, it appears there will be cost savings to the City should 

the City contract with CCCFPD for fire/EMS services.  Further, the contract provides for the reopening of 

Station 74.   
 

Plan for Services 

In accordance with GC §56134, a Plan for Services was submitted (Attachment 3). The Plan for Services 

includes the following: 

 Background/history 

 Justification 

 Plan and description of services (current/future), infrastructure, transition plan  

 GC §56134 factors  
 

The Plan for Services includes a description of both the City’s and CCCFPD’s services, level of demand, 

response times, facilities, apparatus, and programs. The Plan for Services also notes the benefits of out-of-

agency service including augmented service levels, enhanced standardization, and service efficiencies. Other 

benefits include reopening of Station 74, and improvements in fire, rescue, and emergency medical services. 



Executive Officer’s Report 

LAFCO 22-07 – CCCFPD-City of Pinole - OAS 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 5 

 

Additionally, fire prevention, public education programs, and administrative support functions will be enhanced 

and delivered in a consistent manner throughout the proposed service area.  

Services to be extended include fire, rescue, and emergency medical services; fire prevention; community risk 

reduction and fire investigation services; administrative and support services.  
 

Below is a summary of services to be provided by CCCFPD. Details are provided in the Plan for Services. 

Current Service Delivery Levels 

▪ Service and staffing 

overview 

▪ Dispatch/Communications 

Level of Demand 

▪ Total 911 Call Volume – 

City of Pinole 

▪ Response Times 

▪ Pinole Fire Dept Facilities 

▪ Fire Dept Apparatus 

Public Education Programs 

Support Services 

▪ Apparatus and Vehicle 

Maintenance  

▪ Fire Prevention 

▪ Fire Cause Determination 

& Investigation 

Proposed Service Delivery Plan 

▪ Service Overview 

▪ Staffing 

▪ Dispatch Communication 

▪ Level of Demand 

▪ Response Times 

▪ Automatic and Mutual Aid 

▪ Public Outreach/Education 

▪ Fire Prevention 

▪ Fire Code Adoption 

▪ Administration 

▪ Maintenance 

▪ Training 

▪ Personnel/Recruitment 

Level and Range of Proposed 

Services 

▪ Capacity Availability 

▪ Willingness to Serve 

▪ Service Adequacy 

 

Infrastructure Needs/Planning 

Improvements 

▪ Facilities 

▪ Apparatus 

▪ Equipment 

 

Transition Plan 

▪ Apparatus and Equipment 

Transfer 

▪ Fire Station 74 Staffing 

▪ Personnel and Employment 

Agreements 

 

LAFCO Municipal Service Reviews 

Contra Costa LAFCO has completed two Municipal Service Reviews (MSRs) and sphere of influence (SOI) 

updates covering fire/EMS services. The first Fire/EMS MSR was completed in 2009 and was a comprehensive 

study covering fire/EMS service providers including the cities of El Cerrito, Pinole, and Richmond and the 

following districts: CCCFPD, Crockett-Carquinez FPD (CCFPD), East Bay Regional Park District (EBRPD), 

East Contra Costa FPD (ECCFPD), Kensington FPD (KFPD), Moraga-Orinda FPD (MOFPD), Rodeo-

Hercules FPD (RHFPD), San Ramon Valley FPD (SRVFPD), County Service Area (CSA) EM-1, and various 

regional service providers. The 2009 MSR identified the following governance options for CCCFPD and City 

of Pinole: 

CCCFPD City of Pinole 

 Expand SOI to include City of Pinole 

 With regard to west county, form a West County Ad 

Hoc Fire Service Committee to study and develop a 

reorganization plan  

 Annex unincorporated areas (Bay View, Tara Hills) 

 Consolidate with all west county service providers 

 Consolidate with RHFPD and adjacent CCCFPD 

areas (Battalion 7) 

 Consolidate with RHFPD, CCFPD, and adjacent 

CCCFPD areas  

 Discontinue direct fire service and contract with 

CCCFPD or annex to CCCFPD 

 Form a West County Ad Hoc Fire Service 

Committee to study/develop a reorganization plan; 

defer SOI update pending completion of West 

County Sub-regional MSR, and committee report 



Executive Officer’s Report 

LAFCO 22-07 – CCCFPD-City of Pinole - OAS 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 6 

 

In conjunction with the 2009 Fire/EMS MSR, LAFCO formed a FIRE AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AD-

HOC COMMITTEE comprised of LAFCO Commissioners.  The Committee met over the course of six months, 

Subsequently, the committee provided recommendations to the Commission. 
 

In addition, a West County Technical Advisory Committee was formed to provide technical advice and 

analytical information on the various fire service governance options. The committee reported to the West 

County Mayors at their monthly meetings. The Committee included the City Managers from Pinole, San Pablo, 

and Hercules; five Fire Chiefs [CCCFPD, cities of Pinole, El Cerrito and Richmond fire departments, Rodeo-

Hercules Fire Protection District (RHFPD)], one representative from Local 1230 (representing CCCFPD, City 

of Pinole, and RHFPD); and one representative from Local 188 (Richmond Fire). 

  

The 2009 MSR culminated in updating the SOIs for the fire districts as follows: 
 

❖ CCCFPD – SOI expansions/reductions     ❖ MOFPD – expansion 

❖ ECCFPD – reduction ❖ SRVFPD – expansion 

 

In 2016, LAFCO completed its second-round fire/EMS MSR which provided updates to the 2009 MSR.  The 

2016 MSR covered all fire/EMS service agencies; however, the primary focus of the 2016 MSR was on the 

two most distressed fire districts – ECCFPD and RHFPD. 
  
The 2016 LAFCO MSR identified the following determinations, governance, and SOI options for CCCFPD 

and City of Pinole: 
 

CCCFPD City of Pinole 

 Consider annexing underserved areas and areas the 

district is already serving (e.g., Tesoro refinery, 

Roddy Ranch, small area southeast of Clayton)  

 Defer SOI update pending report from West 

County agencies regarding a regional Standards of 

Cover (SOC) Study, and collaboration on grant 

opportunities, programs and services 

 Participate with West County fire agencies in a 

regional SOC Study, and collaboration on grant 

opportunities, programs and services  

 

 SOI update following 2nd round city services MSR 

 

The 2016 MSR culminated in updating the SOIs for the fire districts as follows: 
 

❖ CCCPD - SOI update pending     ❖ MOFPD – retained SOI 

❖ CCFPD – SOI update pending 

❖ ECCFPD – provisional SOI 

❖ KFPD – SOI update pending 

❖ RHFPD – provisional SOI 

❖ SRVFPD – retained SOI 

 

Both the 2009 and 2016 fire/EMS MSRs noted the cooperation present in West County including participation 

in the Battalion 7 configuration and sharing of resources and Battalion Chiefs. Both MSRs presented 

governance options including consolidation of West County service providers – both “functional” 

consolidation (e.g., shared positions, services, etc.) and boundary reorganizations (e.g., consolidation, 

annexation, etc.).  

Environmental Review 

CCCFPD, as Lead Agency, found the project categorically exempt from the California Environmental Quality 

Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15320, Class 20 – Changes in Organization of Local Agencies.  



Executive Officer’s Report 

LAFCO 22-07 – CCCFPD-City of Pinole - OAS 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 7 

 

Indemnification Agreement  

CCCFPD has delivered to LAFCO an executed indemnification agreement providing for CCCFPD to 

indemnify LAFCO against any claims or legal actions that challenge LAFCO’s approval of the out of agency 

services contract. 

 

ALTERNATIVES FOR COMMISSION ACTION 

LAFCOs were formed for the primary purpose of promoting orderly development through the logical 

formation and determination of local agency boundaries and facilitating the efficient provision of public 

services. Under GC §56134(h)(2), LAFCO can approve, disapprove, or approve with conditions a contract for 

fire protection services. The following options and recommended terms and conditions are presented for the 

Commission’s consideration. 

Option 1    

 A.  Find that the project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to 

CEQA Guidelines section 15320, Class 20 – Changes in Organization of Local Agencies.  

B. Approve the attached resolution authorizing CCCFPD to provide fire, rescue, and emergency 

medical services (EMS) to the City of Pinole under the proposed fire protection contract subject 

to the following terms and conditions:  

1. CCCFPD shall provide LAFCO with a mid-term status report by December 1, 2025 

regarding services provided to the City of Pinole.  

Option 2   

A. Find that the project is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to    

CEQA Guidelines section 15320, Class 20 – Changes in Organization of Local Agencies.  

B. Approve the attached resolution authorizing CCCFPD to provide fire, rescue, and emergency 

medical services (EMS) to the City of Pinole under the proposed fire protection contract subject 

to the following terms and conditions:  

1. CCCFPD shall provide LAFCO with a mid-term status report by December 1, 2025  

regarding services provided to the City of Pinole; and 

2. Within five years after LAFCO’s approval of OAS under the contract, CCCFPD and/or the 

City of Pinole must submit to LAFCO an application to annex the City of Pinole to 

CCCFPD’s service area to allow for CCCFPD to continue to provide fire, rescue, and EMS 

in the City of Pinole.  

Option 3           Deny the request, thereby preventing CCCFPD from providing fire/EMS to the City of Pinole.   

 

Option 4 Continue this matter to a future meeting to obtain more information. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Option 1 

 

            

LOU ANN TEXEIRA, EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

CONTRA COSTA LAFCO  

 



Executive Officer’s Report 

LAFCO 22-07 – CCCFPD-City of Pinole - OAS 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 8 

 

Exhibits 

A. Map - LAFCO 22-07 – Out of Agency Service Agreement – Contra Costa County Fire Protection 

District and City of Pinole 

 

Attachments 

1. Service Contract - CCCFPD & City of Pinole  

2. Independent Fiscal Analysis  

3. Plan for Services 

4. Draft LAFCO Resolution 22-07  

5.  City of Pinole Resolution 

6. CCCFPD Resolution 

 

 

c:  Chief Lewis Broschard, CCCFPD  

     Monica Nino, Contra Costa County – County Administrator 

     Chief Wynkoop, City of Pinole 

     Andrew Murray, City Manager, City of Pinole  

     Distribution  



Rich m ond

North
Richmond

San
Pablo
Bay

Pinole Hercules

Richmond

Richmond
San Pablo

Rodeo

El Sobrante

Tara
Hills

North
Richmond

Bay View

Montalvin
Manor

8080

44

Richmond Pkwy

San Pablo Ave

Pinole Valley Rd

4th St

Giant Hwy

Alhambra
Valley RdParr Blvd

Willow Ave

Atlas Rd

7th St

Appian Way
May 

Rd

Bl
um

e D
r

Refugio Valley RdTara Hills R d

Pheasant Dr
Fit

zgerald Dr

Simas Ave

Sarah Dr

Tennent Ave

Manor Rd

Haw
tho

rne
 Dr

Richmond Pkwy

California St

Marin
County

LAFCO 22-07
Co n tra Co sta Co un ty Fire  Pro te ctio n  District 
City Bo un darie s
Co un ty Urban  Lim it Lin e
Co n tra Co sta Co un ty

Richmond

Pinole
Hercules

Orinda
El
Cerrito

San
Pablo

Rodeo
Crockett

8080

580

780

44

8080San
Pablo
Bay

San
Francisco

Bay

LAFCO 22-07 – Out o f Age n cy Se rvice  Agre e m e n t – Co n tra Co sta Co un ty Fire  Pro te ctio n  District an d City o f Pin o le  

0 10 205

Mile sMap cre ate d 10/24/2022
by Co n tra Co sta Co un ty De partm e n t o f

Co n se rvatio n  an d De ve lo pm e n t, GIS Gro up
30 Muir Ro ad, Martin e z , CA 94553
37:59:41.791N  122:07:03.756W

T his m ap o r datase t was cre ate d by the  Co n tra Co sta Co un ty De partm e n t o f Co n se rvatio n
an d De ve lo pm e n t with data fro m  the  Co n tra Co sta Co un ty GIS Pro gram .  So m e  
base  data, prim arily City Lim its, is de rive d fro m  the  CA State  Bo ard o f Equalizatio n 's
tax rate  are as. While  o bligate d to  use  this data the  Co un ty assum e s n o  re spo n sibility fo r
its accuracy. T his m ap co n tain s co pyrighte d in fo rm atio n  an d m ay n o t be  alte re d.  It m ay be  
re pro duce d in  its curre n t state  if the  so urce  is cite d. Use rs o f this m ap agre e  to  re ad an d 
acce pt the  Co un ty o f Co n tra Co sta disclaim e r o f liability fo r ge o graphic in fo rm atio n .

Exhibit A



Attachment 4 

 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 22-07 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

AUTHORIZING CONTRA COSTA COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT TO PROVIDE  

OUT OF AGENCY FIRE PROTECTION SERVICES TO THE CITY OF PINOLE 
 

WHEREAS, the above-referenced request was filed with the Executive Officer of the Contra Costa Local 

Agency Formation Commission pursuant to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act 

(California Government Code Section 56000 et seq.); and 

WHEREAS, at the time and in the manner required by law the Executive Officer gave notice of the 

Commission’s consideration of this request; and  

WHEREAS, the Commission heard, discussed, and considered all oral and written testimony related to this 

request including, but not limited to, the Executive Officer's report and recommendation; and 

WHEREAS, out of agency service approval of a fire protection contract between Contra Costa County Fire 

Protection District (CCCFPD) and the City of Pinole is needed to expand and improve fire protection and related services 

in the City of Pinole; and 

WHEREAS, CCCFPD delivered to LAFCO an executed indemnification agreement providing for CCCFPD to 

indemnify LAFCO against any expenses arising from any legal actions challenging the out of agency service.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED DETERMINED, AND ORDERED by the Contra Costa Local 

Agency Formation Commission as follows: 

A. The Commission finds that the project is categorically exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 

(CEQA) pursuant to Section 15320, Class 20 – Changes in Organization of Local Agencies.  

B. Pursuant to Government Code section 56134, the Commission authorizes CCCFPD to provide fire protection 

and related services to the City of Pinole under the approved fire protection contract between CCCFPD and the 

City of Pinole subject to the following terms and conditions:  

1. CCCFPD shall provide LAFCO with a mid-term status report by December 1, 2025 regarding 

services provided to the City of Pinole.  
 

C.         Approval to extend CCCFPD services beyond those specifically noted herein is withheld and is subject to future 

LAFCO review. 

* * * * * * * 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 9th day of November 2022, by the following vote: 

 

AYES:   

NOES:    

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:  

 

 

ROB SCHRODER, CHAIR, CONTRA COSTA LAFCO 

 

I hereby certify that this is a correct copy of a resolution passed and adopted by this Commission on the date stated 

above. 

 

Dated:  November 9, 2022              

                                                                 Lou Ann Texeira, Executive Officer 



Attachment 2
Independent Fiscal Analysis 

Attachment 2



COMPREHENSIVE 

FISCAL ANALYSIS 

Independent !heal analysis of the proposed cooperative fire servi.ce :igreement 

between the Ctty or Pinole, CA, an<l Contra Costa Cuunty Fire Pmtcuion 

District. Thi: purposr of the n:port is to rstimatc and compare the cosl oi' 

service between similar agencies and fon:cast the L'.Xpcctcd impact lo Pinole. 

This rrron is a rcquin:J diligence item as. part of thi: application to LAFCO 

and i:j intended lo aide in the local Jccis.im,-rnaking prnrc;js. 

B
STONE 
MUNICIPAL 
GRQ,UP 



October 5, 2022

This Independent Comprehensive Fiscal Analysis (“analysis”) was prepared for the City of Pinole,
California (“City”) as its officials navigate the decision of whether to enter a cooperative shared services
fire protection agreement with Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (“CCCFPD”).  Per the Contra
Costa County Local Agency Formation Commission (“LAFCO”), the initiation process includes a variety
of required steps and due diligence items the City of Pinole must complete prior to applying for
collaborative fire protection.  Specifically, the State of California Government Code Section 56134
requires a submission of an independent fiscal analysis to ascertain whether the financial terms of the
service contract are feasible and sustainable.   The specific scope of this independent fiscal analysis must
review and document all the following:

1. A thorough review of the plan for services submitted by the public agency.
2. Analysis of how the costs of the existing service provider compare to the costs of services

provided in service areas with similar populations and of similar geographic size that provide a
similar level and range of services and make a reasonable determination of the costs expected to
be borne by the public agency providing new or extended fire protection services; and

3. Any other information and analysis needed to support the proposal.
4. Evaluation that the proposed affected territory is expected to receive revenues sufficient to

provide public services and facilities and a reasonable reserve during the three fiscal years
following the effective date of the contract or agreement between the public agencies to provide
the new or extended fire protection services.

Our analysis was completed using budgetary, census, and departmental statistics that were publicly
available on the individual units’ websites or data portals.  We completed a thorough review of the plan
for service and supporting documents during the month of June 2022 and communicated with city, county,
and fire leadership officials on clarifying questions at that time over multiple worksessions.  A list of the
comparative agencies was selected with the assistance of city officials on June 15th .  Assumptions were
used in the estimation of certain direct and indirect costs and are noted within the contents of the report.
It is our goal to be conservative in forward looking estimates while also illustrating what the potential
fiscal impact may likely be from the proposed cooperative fire service plan.  I can be reached at
Adam@StoneMunicipal.com or at (317) 476-2826 for questions or additional information as needed.

Sincerely,

Ada� D. Sto��
Adam D. Stone, CPA

Stone Municipal Group | Municipal Advisor | Principal-in-charge

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 1

mailto:Adam@StoneMunicipal.com


Table of Contents
Executive Summary 3

Purpose of Report 3

How to Use Navigate & Use Report 3

Plans and Document Review 4

Analysis of Existing Service Provider Cost 5

Comparison of Existing Service Provided to Similar Entities 6

Entity Selection 6

Entity Comparison 6

Budget Comparison 7

Scenarios Overview 8

Scenario 1 - Continuation of Current Service Level 8
Expected Costs of Current Service Level (“Most Likely”) 8

Current Service Level Sensitivity Analysis 9

Scenario 2 – Cooperative Fire Service Agreement with CCCFPD 10

Expected Costs of Cooperative Fire Agreement (“Most Likely”) 11

Cooperative Fire Agreement Sensitivity Analysis 12

Additional Information & Analysis 13

Cost Comparison of Scenarios 13

Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Administrative Cost 14

Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Revenue Sufficiency 14

City of Pinole Financial Feasibility & Sustainability 15

CalPERS Fire Department Unfunded Accrued Liability 17

Budget Impacts - Remaining Items 18

Budget Impacts - Transitioning Items 19

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 2



Executive Summary
In November, 2021 the County Board of Supervisors approved certain expenditures of Measure X funds.
Included in this decision was an intent to provide $2 Million in funding from Measure X to assist in
providing full funding, when combined with City of Pinole (“PFD”) funds, to reopen Fire Station 74 in
Pinole Valley as part of a contract for fire services to be provided by Contra Costa County Fire Protection
District (“CCCFPD”) for the full operation of fire, rescue, emergency medical, fire prevention, training,
and administration to the City of Pinole.

Background information related to the contract for service:

● Fire Station 74 in Pinole Valley was closed in 2012.
● The proposed service plan will provide for the reopening and staffing of Fire Station 74.

Purpose of Report
This report was prepared to assist the City of Pinole with the Contra Costa County Local Agency
Formation Commission (“LAFCO”) process related to contracting with another unit or agency of local
government to provide fire contractual services.  An independent fiscal report is required and outlined by
the State of California Government Code Section 56134 to ascertain whether the financial terms of the
service contract are feasible and sustainable.   To comply with the requirements, our firm completed a
detailed and thorough review of the proposed service plan, comparable costs, and other documentation
that outlines the proposed plan to contract with CCCFPD to provide fire service to City of Pinole
residents.

How to Use Navigate & Use Report
This report is prepared for external technical financial review purposes and is not intended to argue one
method over another.  This report does not make a recommendation or advice regarding negotiation terms,
plan for service proposals, or details into day-to-day fire operations.  This report is intended to project the
most likely budget and financial outcomes of the options available to the City of Pinole and provide
stakeholders with information to make an informed decision.  As such, readers of this report are
encouraged to review the table of contents to select areas of interest.  The report is organized into broad
sections to comply with California Government Code Section 56134.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 3



Plans and Document Review
This report was prepared using estimates, calculations, and management plans that were made available
during June and July 2022.  Specifically, we completed a detailed review of the CCCFPD proposed
station budgets, proposed Pinole Fire Plan for Services, proposed staffing standards, staffing growth
plans, position cost schedules, and operating statistics.

In addition to the plans for service and management reports, we reviewed the City of Pinole’s line-item
budgetary and financial documents for fiscal years 2018-2022.  We also reviewed the most recent
CalPERS Annual Valuation Report for Pinole City safety.  (i.e. Safety & PEPRA Fire Safety) The FY21
report was not yet published at the time of this report.  Therefore, all CalPERS related estimates are dated
as of June 30, 2020.

Comparative entity data was sourced through publicly available data on comparable entities which
included annual adopted budgets, annual reports, and Census data.  For the comparison entities, major
assumptions include Fire runs (incidents), staffing levels, and budgetary estimates.

Certain assumptions were made to project future cost of operations under different scenarios.  To assist in
this forecast, we enlisted the help of the report review team to help create growth plans into our forecast.
The core report review team consisted of the following individuals:

● City of Pinole
○ Chief Chris Wynkoop
○ Ms. Markisha Guillory

● Contra Costa County Fire Protection District
○ Chief Lewis Broschard

● Contra Costa County
○ Mr. Adam Nguyen
○ Mr. Paul Reyes

With the help of this group, we were able to prepare a seven-year capital improvement plan for the City of
Pinole Fire Department that incorporates apparatus replacement, facility improvements, and necessary
equipment needs.  While an estimate, this plan will allow us to better compare the scenarios as they more
accurately reflect the complete cost of operating the Fire Department long term.  Note, the CCCFPD
budget scenario assumes an annual programmatic apparatus replacement of $250,000 per year.  The City
of Pinole Capital Improvement Plan (“CIP”) assumes a non-programmatic “pay-as-you-go” apparatus
replacement project which results in large swings in the annual capital budget. Comparing the CCCFPD
to the average annual capital outlay amount creates a better comparison. The average across all categories
is $417,286 per year including building improvements. (i.e. FY 24 - FY 30)

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 4



Analysis of Existing Service Provider Cost
The City of Pinole Fire Department Budget is sourced by multiple governmental funds.  The funds
reviewed are General Fund, 2006 Measure S Fund, 2014 Measure S Fund, Equipment Reserve, and the
Growth Impact Fund.  We reviewed combined actual and budgeted results for fiscal years 2018, 2019,
2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023.  Below is a categorical summary which shows combining current and
historic results for the Fire Department.

Source:  City of Pinole financial reports and budget documents provided July 14, 2022. (unaudited)

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 5



Comparison of Existing Service Provided to Similar Entities

Entity Selection
Part of the LAFCO process is to conduct comparative cost analysis.  For this report, we selected
comparison entities that were similar in population and geographic size. (i.e., land area) Additionally, we
looked at entities that provide a similar range and level of service.  We selected fire runs, number of
stations, and staffing level as indicators for range and level of service.  Lastly, we selected comparable
entities of differing government structure and fire service. As each entity is different, the data for each
was normalized to produce as close to an “apples-to-apples” comparison as possible.  Therefore, the data
was normalized on per capita, per full-time firefighter, and per run incident metrics to help in the
comparability.  It should be noted that comparing public safety departments on an apples-to-apples basis
is extremely challenging as run data can be grossly under or over inflated due to different entities
counting runs differently. (e.g. EMS, apparatus dispatched, etc.) For the purposes of this report, we are
taking the publicly available data at face value and make no opinion on the type of runs reported.

Entity Comparison

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 6



Comparison of Existing Service Provided to Similar Entities (Cont.)

Budget Comparison

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 7



Scenarios Overview
For the comparison of current service level (“Scenario One”) and CCCFPD cooperative agreement
(“Scenario Two”) we made several significant assumptions.  First we calculated the most likely cost
projections under the two primary options being considered; 1.) Continuation of “in-house” Pinole Fire
Department service to operate one station, and 2.) Contractual Service for Fire Service with CCCFPD to
operate two stations.  Within each scenario we also calculated the worst case and best case scenarios to
illustrate the sensitivity based on different assumptions.  (e.g. inflation, Measure X allocations, economic
conditions)

Scenario 1 - Continuation of Current Service Level
In this scenario we assumed no transition to CCCFPD and no change in existing level of service.  (i.e.
stations or staffing) This scenario forecasts operating and capital expenditures for the budget periods FY
2022/23 – 2029/30.

● Budget estimates based on FY 2022-23 Fire Department combined budget of $5,514,428.
(General, Measure S 2006, and Measure S 2014 funds.)

● Assumes no growth in existing staffing or funded staffing levels.  (17 current FTEs)
● Assumes six percent (6%) annual increase in salary and wages.  (e.g., 3% cost of living increase

and 3% market equity increase)
● Assumes employee benefits remain constant as a percentage of gross salaries and wages.
● Assumes a stair-stepped inflation of eight percent to five percent (8% - 5%) annual increase in

materials, supplies, and services due to rising prices.
● Assumes an initial $146,250 capital outlay expenditures.  (e.g., equipment replacement, vehicle

replacement, and station improvements)
● Assumes a seven-year capital improvement plan of $2,925,000, average of $417,286 per year

including facility and computer equipment.  The average vehicle and apparatus replacement need
is estimated at $292,875 per year.  To help with apples-to-apples comparison we have assumed a
level sinking fund replacement to smooth out large budget differences in future years.

● Assumes five percent (5%) annual increase in capital expenditures due to rising prices.
● Includes communication and weed abatement.

Expected Costs of Current Service Level (“Most Likely”)
If the City of Pinole chooses to not enter into a cooperative fire agreement with CCCFPD, 100% of
current employee salary and employee benefit costs will remain in the City’s budget. The current level of
service does not include any of the recommendations outlined in the capital improvement plan.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 8



Current Service Level Sensitivity Analysis
For scenario one we projected future expected costs using the most likely, worst case, and best case
assumptions.   Across the different potential outcomes, we assumed different sets of future inflation and
economic assumptions.

We calculated the future expected budget outcome and annual budget variance between the CCCFPD
scenario two and City provided service scenario one cost forecasts.  These are intended to provide the
City of Pinole a reasonable range of likely future cost of service as well as the favorable (unfavorable)
results of each.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 9



Scenario 2 – Cooperative Fire Service Agreement with CCCFPD
In this scenario we assumed a complete staffing transition to CCCFPD and that the City would effectively
outsource 100% of its going forward costs for fire protection staffing to CCCFPD. This scenario forecasts
operating and capital expenditure for the budget periods 2022-23 through 2029-30.

● Budget estimates based on FY 2022-23 Fire Department combined budget of $5,514,428.
(General, Measure S 2006, and Measure S 2014 funds.)

● Assumes Pinole Fire would transfer all positions, equipment, and apparatus to CCCFPD at no
cost.

● Assumes existing (1) active and (1) inactive Fire Stations would remain as a fixed capital asset of
the City of Pinole.  Facility repairs and replacement to be the responsibility of City of Pinole

● Assumes (1) inactive station would be activated and staffed by CCCFPD to restore the level of
service achieved in the past.

● Assumes Pinole Fire would continue to be responsible for following existing budgetary items
moving forward: Fire allocated CalPERS Unfunded Accrued Liability (“UAL”), abatement
services, station utilities, station repairs and maintenance, legal charges, and property liability.
Total remaining budgetary cost estimated at $753,489 or 13.66% of current budget.

● Assumes CCCFPD staffing of (3) Captains, (3) Engineers, and (3) Firefighters per station.
Pass-through and/or of other CCCFPD related expenditures. (e.g. employee benefits, operating
expenses, apparatus replacement)

o Assumes direct station staffing related costs of $3,000,786 per station.
o Operating cost of $114,436, and equipment replacement of $125,000 per station.
o Assumes $172,498 in allocated communication center dispatch cost.  Assumes the

communication center allocated cost grows at 4% per year.
o Assumes a shared services administrative cost of 10% billed to the City of Pinole. The

administrative cost will be charged on all budgeted costs minus the communication center
charges.  The basis for the 10% administrative cost is the annual adopted budget, of
which the City of Pinole will be made known of increases or decreases year to year.  A
list of indirect costs are included in the additional information section of this report.

● Assumes initial gross annual contract amount of $7,300,987 or $441,749 per month beginning
January 1, 2023 net Measure X. Cost to be billed out monthly based on the annual budget less the
two million in Measure X allocation.  Future budgets are subject to change and appropriation by
the fiscal body.

● Assumes $2M in Measure X allocated with an annual escalator of 2.30%.  While the allocation is
not expressly stated in the contract beyond the initial 5-year contract term, we carried forward the
assumption throughout the 7-year projection.

● One-time budgetary impact to the City of Pinole File Department in the amount of $52,969.63 to
cover the payout of accrued vacation.

● Assumes fiscal impact under full budget year scenario.  Contract likely to become effective
mid-fiscal year (January 1, 2023) and therefore the initial cost will be based on the remaining six
fiscal months of budget year 2023.

● Assumes that from the date CCCFPD hires such staff, CCCFPD will be responsible for all
salaries, employee benefits, including contributions for retiree-related benefits, and future
accruals of unfunded liability for retiree-related benefits.

● Assumes the City of Pinole will be responsible for 100% of retiree-related and other
post-employment benefits, including accrued CalPERS unfunded liability for retiree-related
benefits, for such staff for the period during which they were employed by the City of Pinole.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 10



● Assumes personnel costs at the top step for each class of employee.
● Assumes a stair-stepped inflation of eight percent to three percent (8% - 3%) annual increase in

materials, supplies, services, and personnel services.

Expected Costs of Cooperative Fire Agreement (“Most Likely”)
If the City of Pinole enters into a cooperative fire agreement with CCCFPD, 100% of current employee
salary and employee benefit costs will be converted into a contractual service expenditure. The initial
contract value is based on the budgeted cost of the positions and it is expected to increase over the
contract period as cost-of-living adjustments are approved. To recover indirect administrative costs,
CCCFPD is expected to charge an administrative cost of 10%. This administrative cost is included within
the initial proposed two-station budget of $7,300,987. Adjusted for the Measure X allocation, the initial
budget to be billed to the City of Pinole is anticipated to be $5,300,987, or $441,749 per month. In
addition to the personnel costs, the City of Pinole will continue certain services and supplies costs
associated with the department.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 11



Cooperative Fire Agreement Sensitivity Analysis
For scenario two we continued with projecting costs using the most likely, worst case, and best case
assumptions.   In addition to inflation and economic assumptions, we added a worst case scenario where
the Measure X income tax allocation increases at a slower rate.  (i.e. 2% vs. 2.3%)  This change
materially affected the future net budget impact to the City of Pinole and is one of the single largest future
cost variables.  Under the best case scenario, we assumed Measure X would continue for every year
services are contracted and would increase annually at a reasonable growth rate.

We calculated the future expected budget outcome and annual budget variance between the CCCFPD
scenario two and City provided scenario one cost forecasts.  These are intended to provide the City of
Pinole a reasonable range of likely future cost of service as well as the favorable (unfavorable) results of
each.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 12



Additional Information & Analysis

Cost Comparison of Scenarios

Based on the most likely assumptions and the annual sinking fund for capital outlays, the CCCFPD
(“scenario two”) option provides the lowest net budget impact to the City of Pinole in FY 2023-24 (“Yr 
1”) .  Over time, the CCCFPD contract is expected to cost less than the current operations by $108,800 
per year on average.  This amount assumes the Measure X allocation grows at 2.3% for all years a 
contract for service is in place.  Note the City’s current staffing of fifteen full time equivalents (15 
firefighters) supplies one station currently, whereas CCCFPD staffs two stations.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 13



Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Administrative Cost
Below is a list of indirect costs that together represent the rationale behind the 10% proposed
administrative cost.

● Administration - Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, Fire Marshal

● Public Information Officer

● General and automobile liability

● Information Technology Support and Infrastructure

● Payroll, Accounting, Fire District Human Resources

● Fire Investigation Services

● Training Administration, Vector Solutions

● EMS Training and Quality Improvement

● County General (legal, County Administration, Auditor) Charges

Contra Costa County Fire Protection District Revenue Sufficiency
For this report, we assume year one (“Yr 1”) for scenario two is FY 2023-24.  Based on the assumptions,
the anticipated monthly CCCFPD cost of service incurred and billed to Pinole Fire Department during the
first three years would be as follows:

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 14



City of Pinole Financial Feasibility & Sustainability
The City of Pinole maintains five separate funds which have supported the Fire Department over the past
few fiscal years. Two of those funds relate to the City of Pinole’s Measure S funds.  (i.e. 2006 & 2014)
For the 2023 fiscal year budget, the total Measure S funds are estimated at $4,902,000.  Historically, the
Fire Department has received approximately 25%, or $1,039,873, of the total Measure S funding.  The
City of Pinole’s Measure S funds do not currently have a predetermined sunset or expiration date. As of
the FY 2023 budget, there were $4.9M of Measure S funds appropriated, which represented 13% budget
growth year over year.

Source: City of Pinole Budget (FY 2021-22, FY 2022-23, & ACFR 06/30/2020 & 06/30/2021)

Looking beyond the Measure S funds, the Fire Department has averaged $187,748 in department specific
revenues that are expected to remain as a local funding source.

Additionally each year the City Finance Department prepares a detailed budget and annual report that has
certain financial policies to drive decisions.  One such policy is a general reserve policy of 50%.  That
reserve level is currently met and the last audited financial statement reflects a General Fund Unassigned
balance of $12,488,526.  This amount is up 15% year over year and creates an unrestricted funding source
to help stabilize operations in a period of budget contraction.

Based on the anticipated lower cost of scenario two, Measure S revenues, Measure X allocation, and the
annual appropriation process, it appears that the City of Pinole has the financial means to enter into an
agreement if their fiscal body finds that appropriate.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 15



City of Pinole Financial Feasibility & Sustainability

The City of Pinole Fire Department’s actual expenditures have increased an average of 10% per
year between FY 2018 and FY 2022.  Based on the current assumptions, the annual cost
escalation under scenario one is 7.09%.  Comparatively, scenario two is expected to grow by
7.32% per year based on the current assumptions. Below is a comparison of actuals versus
projected future cost under both scenarios. To be conservative with forward estimates, the
forecast for both scenarios include a plus or minus 10% margin of safety.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 16



CalPERS Fire Department Unfunded Accrued Liability
Using the most recent June 30, 2020 valuation report the cumulative unfunded accrued liability (UAL) is
$22,253,952 across the PERS-PEPRA Safety Fire and PERS-Safety plan.  In order to allocate the amount
retained by the City of Pinole, the percentage of full-time Fire Department employees vs total safety
related positions could be used.  At the time of this report, the pro rata portion of total CalPERS unfunded
liability and amortization payments was allocated to the Fire Department was 23%.  Therefore, for the
2022-23 budget cycle the remaining UAL budget impact that would remain with the City of Pinole is
estimated to be $406,927.

PERS-PEPRA Safety Fire:

PERS-Safety:

UAL Cost Projection:

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 17



Budget Impacts - Remaining Items
Below is the current budget for the Pinole Fire Department itemized by expenditure account.  Were the
City to  enter a contract for service with CCCFPD, certain expenditure amounts would remain the
responsibility of the City of Pinole and be incurred above and beyond the contractual services agreement
cost.  The current 2022-23 budget includes $1,105,953 for 41004 - Employee Benefits PERS Retirement.
This amount includes the CalPERS Unfunded Accrued Liability (“UAL”) related to the Fire Department.
Under scenario two, a portion of that budget expense would become the responsibility of Contra Costa
County.  However, the UAL portion would remain the financial responsibility of the City of Pinole.
Therefore, we have estimated the allocation and incorporated the remaining UAL component within the
retained budgetary expenditures.

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 18



Budget Impacts - Transitioning Items
Below is the current budget itemized by the expenditure account.  The expenditure accounts are
anticipated to be included within the cost of contractual services agreement cost.

END OF REPORT

STONE MUNICIPAL GROUP 19



AGREEMENT 

between the 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

and the 

CITY OF PINOLE 

for Fire Protection Services 

THIS FIRE PROTECTION AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is dated January l ,  2023 (the 
"Effective Date") and is between the CONTRA COST A COUNTY FIRE PROTECTfON D1STR1CT, a 
fire protection district fonned under the Fire Protection District Law of 1987 (Health and Safety Code 

Sections 13801 et seq.) and governed by the Board of Supervisors of the County of Contra Costa as its 
Board of Directors ("District"), and the CITY OF PJNOLE ("City"), a municipal corporation, referred to 

herein collectively as the ''Parties." 

RECITALS 

A. The City desires to expand and supplement the current fire protection services provided within
the City. Currently only one of the City's two fire stations (Fire Station 73) is operational. Fire
Station 74 has been closed since 2011.

B. The District is willing and able to provide a level of fire protection services within the City that
would exceed current semce levels. The Parties intend that the District will be paid for all direct
and indirect costs incurred in the perfoimance of services under this Agreement.

C. The Parties intend to leverage those Measure X funds that are available for increasing the level of
fire protection services in the City to facilitate thjs partnership for services between the District
and the City. The Parties acknowledge that pursuant to Resolution No. 2022/332, the Contra
Costa County Board of Supervisors has allocated from Measure X funds $2,000,000 annually,
adjusted annually as provided in the resolution, through Fiscal Year 2027/28 for this purpose.

D. Because the City is not within t1Je Djstrict service boundary, the Parties propose to enter into this
fire protection agreement pursuant to Government Code section 56134. The Parties acknowledge
that the services provided for in this Agreement may not commence unless and until the Contra
Costa County Local Agency Formation Commission authorizes the District to provide the
services contemplated herein.

E. Simultaneous with the execution of this Agreement, the City and the District are entering into two
leases, one for Fire Station 73 and one for Fire Station 74 (each a "Lease" and together, the
"Leases'') that set forth the tem1s under which the District will occupy the two stations during the
term of this Agreement. The Leases and any amendments thereto are incorporated into this
Agreement by reference.

AGREEMENT 

ln consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the Parties agree as follows: 

Section 1. Recitals. 

The foregoing recitals are true and correct. 

Attachment 1



Section 2. Definitions. 

As used in this Agreement: 

a. "Board of Directors" means the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors acting as the Board of
Directors of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District and governing body of the District.

b. "Board of Supervisors" means the Contra Costa County Boatd of Supervisors acting as the
governing body of tJ1e County of Contra Costa.

c. "District" means the Contra Costa Cow1ty Fire Protection District or any successor organization
or successor governmental entity.

d. "City" means the City of Pinole.

e. "City Council" means the City Council of the City of Pinole.

f ''City Manager" means the City Manager of the City of Pmole. 

g. "County" means the County of Contra Costa.

h. "Fire Chier' means the fire chief of the District.

i. "Fiscal Yeat" means the annual period commencing on July I and ending June 30.

j. Fire specific terminology used in this agreement (e.g. Shift, Company, Quint, Engine, etc.) shall be
used in a manner consistent with the deftnitions published by the National Fire Protection Agency
(NFPA) on its website at https://www.nfpa.org/Codes-aod-Standards/Resources/Glossary-of
Terms, as revised from time to time.

Section 3. Scope of Services. 

Within the boundaries of the City, the District will provide and be fully responsible for the 
following services. 

a. incident Response.

1. General Service Criteria.

A. Response Area.

The District will provide the services identified below to the areas within the incorporated lirnits 
of the City, as shown on Exhibit l .  

B. Station Location/Staffinl!.

There are two fire stations located in the City. The stations will be staffed at a minimum as

described below 

2 



Response Configuration 

Fire Station 73 
880 Tennent A venue I Engine Company 3 Personnel 
Pinole, CA 94564 
Fire Station 74 
3700 PinoJe Valley Road J Engine Company 3 Personnel 
Pinole, CA 94564 

Within the City boundaries, the District will maintain a minim um staffing level of ix (6) personnel, 
consisting of two three-person companies per shift. Each company will consist of one Captain, one 
Engineer, and one Firefighter. Each company will be staffed at a minimum with one paramedic and two 
EMT-I trained personnel. In tbe absence of ranked positions personnel working "out-of-class' (acting) 
will be used. A Type I Fire Engine shall be Jocated at each of the two fire stations within the City's 
boundaries throughout the-year. ln addition,. from June through October, a Type VI W1ldland Unit shall be 
located at each of the two fire stations within the City' boundaries, except that a Type Ill Wildland Unit 
may be located at one of the fire stations in lieu of a Type YI Wildland Unit. The Fire Chief may substitute 
the required apparatus for other apparatus on a limited, temporary basis when necessary for maintenance 
or other operational needs. 

If engine companies stationed in the City leave the City for automatic aid within the District's 
Battalion 7 area (Pinole, El Sobra nte, San Pablo, Hercules, and Rodeo) the District will arrange for 
appropriate back-up coverage to ensure that the City has adequate response capability. When companies 
stationed in the City leave the City for any planned (e.g. administrative or training) needs, the District wiU 
arrange for appropriate back-up coverage to ensure that the City has adequate response capability, with a 
minimum of one (1) Advanced Life Support ("ALS") company. 

The response configuration above will only be changed upon mutual agreement between the Fire 
Chief and City Manager. 

C. Response Levels.

The District will respond to incidents consistent with the District standard alarm assignments with 
the same level of response it provides to other areas served by the District and in a manner consistent with 
approved Contra Costa Operational Area policies. 

D. Response Time.

On a single fire unit Priority 1 or Priority 2 emergency medical response, the District will endeavor 
to arrive at the scene within eight minutes and 30 seconds or less from the time that the company is first 
dispatched for 90% of all incidents. ln multiple unit fire incidents, the District will endeavor to have the 
first due company arrive at the scene of an emergency incident within eight minutes and 30 seconds or less 
from the time that the company is first dispatched for 90% of all such incidents. The District will endeavor 
to have the remaining District first alarm units ardve at the scene of the incident within 18 minutes or less 
from the time that the first due company is dispatched for 90% of all such incidents. 

Jn the event that the District is unable to meet the above response times, the Fire Chief and the City 
Manager wiJI confer regarding the District's ability to meet the above response times. The Fire Chief and 

3 



the City Manager will discuss strategies to ensure such response times are met in the future. 

Data on response times will be provided to the City Manager within 30 days of the end of the 
calendar quarter in which the responses occur. Data on response times will be reviewed on a quarterly basis 
as part of the scheduled meetings between the Parties. 

E. Chief Officer Coverage.

The District will provide a Battalion Chief response for all first alarm fire and multiple apparatus 
focidents. For incidents of three alarms or greater, the District will also provide an Assistant Fire Chief (or 
greater rank) response and sufficient management staff to ensure appropriate management of the 
emergency. 

F. Mutual Aid.

The District will continue to meet the District's pre-existing obligations with respect to mutual aid 
in accordance with but not limited to the Contra Costa County Fire Mutual Aid Plan, and all appropriate 
State of California interagency service agreements. The parties anticipate that the resulting mutual aid 
provided within the City will be equivalent to, or greater than, mutual aid provided to the City immediately 
prior to the Commencement Date. The District will work to develop expanded mutual aid, automatic aid, 
and mutual response areas with other fire departments adjacent to the City. The Parties acknowledge that 
the District has no obligation to independently meet the City's mutual aid obligations, if any, while 
performing services under this Agreement. The City shall notify its mutual aid partners that the City wlll 
not directly provide mutual aid during the term of this Agreement. 

2. Fire Suppression.

Fire Suppression services will be provided in accordance with Section 3(a)(I) above, as applicable. 

3. Emergenc" Medical Response.

Emergency Medical Response Service will be provided in accordance with Section 3(a)(I) above. 
as applicable and except as otherwise provided in this Section 3(a)(3). 

The District will fulfill and does hereby assume the City's obligations under the City's First 
Responder Agreements with the Contra Costa County Emergency Medical Services ("EMS") Agency, with 
the exception of response times which the District will make every reasonable effort to fulfill, which are 
hereby assigned to the District. The District's duty to fulfill the City's obligations under the First Responder 
Agreements with the EMS Agency will not affect any rights the City may have to receive revenues from 
the EMS Agency due to the City under the above agreements, as they may be amended from time to time, 
which revenues may be used by the City to pay the District for services performed under this Agreement. 
However, if the Contra Costa County EMS Agency pays any such revenues directly to the District due to 
the District's fulfillment of the City's obligations, those revenues paid directly to the District will be 
credited to the City as if payment had been made by the City to the District for the performance of services 
under this Agreement. 

4. Hazardous Materials Response.

Response to Hazardous Material incidents will be in accordance with the provisions of Section 
3(a)(l) above, as applicable and except as otherwise provided in this Section 3(a)(4). 

4 



The District will provide a Type II (as defined by FIRESCOPE) Hazardous Materials Team level 
of service to the City. 

The District will provide trained personnel to perform hazardous materials operations when required 
in the City. These positions are staffed and equipped each day. Response time to the City will be the time 
necessary for notification and travel of the closest available District resource that meets the needs of the 
emergency incident. 

5. Rescue Services.

The District will provide the City with rescue services in accordance with the provisions of Section 
3(a)(I) above, as applicable and except as otherwise provided in this Section 3(a)(5). 

TI1e District will provide Type II (as defined by FrRESCOPE) rescue services to the City. This 
service is available as needed. 

The District will provide trained Urban Search and Rescue Team (USAR) personnel to perform 
confined space and trench rescue operation when required in the City. These positions are staffed and 
equipped each day. Response time to the City will be the time necessary for notification and traveJ of the 
closest avai I able District resource that meets the needs of the emergency incident. 

6. Response to Mass Casualt) lacidents.

The District wi11 respond to mass casualty incidents in the City wHh the same level of response it 
provides to other areas served by the District. 

7. Other Calls for Service.

The District will respond to aJJ other calls for services, including, but not limited to fire alarms, 

hazardous conditions, tlooding conditions, smoke investigations, and public service calls, in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 3(a)(I) above, as applicable. 

8, Homeland Securit\. 

The District will represent the City, and proactively participate on its behalf, in the planning, 
coordination, and development of programs to address homeland security threats, The District will maintain 
a state of awareness and readiness to respond to incidents related to homeland security within the City. 

9. Major Disaster Response.

lo the event of a major disaster, the District will supplement the fire personnel assigned to the City 
by providing additional resources for direct response to an incident or move-up coverage from District 
stations outside of the City provided that supplemental resources are available. 

Upon activation of the City's Emergency Operations Center ("EOC"), the District will provide 
sufficient staff to operate assigned functions in the EOC. Release of personnel and resources may occur 
after evaluation of local conditions and upon mutual agreement by the City Manager and the Fire Chief. 

The District will work cooperatively with the City to participate in the development and 

5 



implementation of the Emergency Operations Plan (' 1EOP ') by ensuring that it is reviewed, revised and 
updated as necessary, and exercised regularly. The District will recommend to the City plan updates to the 
EOP pertaining to fire, rescue, and emergency medical services issues. 

l'he District will continue to participate in Jocal or regional organizations necessary to ensure the 
City is represented in disaster preparedness and response. 

10. Evacuation Coordination.

The District will coordinate with the Pinole Police Department for all evacuations in a manner 
consistent with standardized and unified incident command principles and procedures. 

b. Dispatch Service.

The District manages the Contra Costa Regional Fire Communication Center which supplies fire 
and amblllance dispatch services to various areas in the County, including to the City, on a cost 
reimbursement basis. The City will continue to pay its proportionate share of annual dispatch-related fees 
and charges ("Communication Center Allocation"), which is billed annually and will be included as part of 
the annual fiscal year budget proposal pursuant to Section 5(a)(1). The City's obligation to pay its 
proportionate share ofannual dispatch-related fees and charges is not co-tenninus with this Agreement and 
survives termination of this Agreement. 

c. Communit, Education.

l, Fire Safet) .Protrrarns. 

To help preserve life and property, the District will coordinate the planning, development, and 
implementation of fire prevention and safety education training programs, which will be tailored to educate 
City residents and other members of the Pinole community, such as schools, businesses, community 
associations, and childcare providers. Fire prevention and safety training programs to be provided by the 
District will include the following programs, with such changes and adjustments as mutuaJly agreed to by 
the Fire Chief and the City Manager. 

Carbon Monoxide Alarm installations 
CERT Fire training 
CPR courses, BP checks 
Eldercare and safety 
Elementary School Fire Safety Programs 
Exit Drills in the Home (EDITH) 
Fire extinguisher use 
fjre safety 
Firewise Communities 
Injury and fall prevention 
Juvenile fire-starter program 
Smoke aJann installations 
Wildland fire and evacuation preparedness 

2. CPR Trainin!!.

The District will provide opportunities for CPR training to members of the Pinole community at no 

6 



charge to the participant. This training will be provided within the boundaries of the City. 

3. Community Emergencv Response Team (CERT) Trainfol!.

The District will work with City departments to offer fire-based Community Emergency 
Response Team training to members of the Pinole community. The District and the City will work together 
to ensure the training complements the City's current disaster preparedness programs. 

4. Miscellaneous.

The District will respond to specific requests from the Pinole community including but not limited 
to fire station tours and ride-alongs. 

d. Fire Prevention.

I. General.

The District, through its Fire Prevention Bureau, will provide fire prevention services consistent 
with the level of prevention services provided to other areas served by the District. 

2. Fire Prevention Staffin!!.

The District will provide Fire Prevention Bureau staff to conduct annual state-mandated oc.cupancy 
inspections and Fire Code enforcement, The City and District wi)) coordinate the District's Fire Code 
enforcement activities with the City's code enforcement activities, subject to any procedures mutually 
agreed upon by the City and District. Additional staff may be provided as necessary as determined by the 
District to review plans for new construction and inspect new construction. 

3. Pre-d�lopment/Preliminarv Plannint?.

The Fire Prevention Bureau wiJI provide pre-development planning services. Pre-development 
planning will include but not be limited to the following activities: 

A. Adherence to the pre-development/preliminary planning project review process
established by the City's Community Development Department and as may be
modified at the City's discretion.

B. Preparation of written comments based upon development/construction submittals
made to the City.

C. Attendance (in person or virtually) at scheduled meetings with applicants as
reasonably requested by the City.

D. Participation (in person or virtually) in requested modifications to the City's pre
development/preliminary planning process as reasonably re.quested by the City.

E. Attendance (in person or vjrtually) at development review meetings as reasonably
requested by the City.

7 



4. Plan Submittal Review.

The District will review and provide comments on proposed construction plans and fire protection 
system plans to ensure compliance with the City's adopted codes and applicable standards. Applications 
and plans shall be submitted by the applicant directly to the Fire District's Fire Prevention Bureau at 4005 
Port Chicago Highway, Suite 250, Concord. Written comments, in a format consistent with District 
policies and procedures, will be attached to approved plans to inform applicants of District requirements. 
District review of submitted plans will be completed within the timelines established by the City and the 
District, provided the review can be perfonned with the staffing levels provided by this Agreement. 

The City and District will establish mutually agreed upon procedures for accepting and reviewing 
plan subminals. In establishing such procedures, the Parties will determine timelines for review and strive 
to make the process as easy as possible for applicants, including by providing an option for applicants to 
submit applications and plans at City Hall (in which case tbe City and Dist1ict will determfoe how to transfer 
such application and plans to the District for review). The Parties agree that, initially, the City will require 
applicants to submit one full set of plans in bard-copy for the District's review. The Parties agree to 
cooperate on fully accepting the electronic submission of plans as well as the use of electronic review and 
commenting platforms, but acknowledge that a transition period will be necessary before this will be 
feasible. The City and District share the common goaJ of full integration of Distiict and City plan review 
and pennitting processes. 

The City's current practice is to meet with applicant when plan check process extends beyond 
three reviews. As reasonably requested by the City, the District will attend (virtually or in person) 
meetings with applicants to discuss plan check comments when the plan check process extends beyond 
three revisions. 

5. Fire Inspections.

The District will provide inspection and permit issuance services in accordance with the City's 
adopted Fire Code. All inspections will be conducted by qualified personnel. The City and District will 
agree upon policies and procedures for the conduct and tracking of inspections and pennits, with the goal 
of eventually transitioning to the use of an electronic permitting and tracking system, consistent with the 
parties' goals of making the process as streamlined as possible for applicants. 

A. General lnspections. In accordance with the City's adopted Fire Code, the District
personnel will perfonn tire inspections relating to each of the following:

i. The hazard of fire and explosion arising from the storage, handling, or use
of structures, materials, or devices.

ii. Conditions hazardous to life, property, or public welfare in the occupancy
of structures or premises.

iii. Fire hazards in the structure or on the premises from occupancy or
operation.

iv. Matters related to the construction, extension, repair, alteration, or 
removal of fire suppression or alarm systems.

B. Fire Protection System Inspections. As part of the City's permitting process,

8 



District personnel will inspect fire protection system installations approved for 
permit by the District to verify compliance with the approved plans and applicable 
codes and standards. 

C. Mandated lnspections. District personnel will conduct inspections of those
occupancies mandated by the California Office of the State Fire Marshal.

D. Construction Permit Inspections. District personnel will perform fire inspections
for any required construction permit issued in accordance with the City's adopted
Fire Code.

E. Operational Permit Inspections. District personnel will perform fire inspections for
any required operation.al permit prior to initial issuance in accordance with the
City's adopted Fire Code. Operational permit inspections will be completed based
on the current District inspection schedule for non-State mandated occupancies.

F. Business License Fire Inspection Program. Following a request by the City, the
District will conduct business inspections for fire code compliance.

6. Pre-fire Plan Inspections for Tareet Hazard Occupancies.

The District will perform pre-fire plan inspections for relevant target hazard occupancies. Results 
of the inspections will be shared with other City departments as requested. 

7. Fire Code Administration.

A. The District will administer and enforce City's adopted Fire Code, and applicable

ordinances, and app,licable state and federal codes and regulations.

B. The District will monitor changes to fire codes and provide the City with
recommendations regarding proposed changes. The District's Fire Marshal wilJ
work with City Staff to complete the code adoption process.

8. Weed Abatement and Wildfire Management.

A. Weed Abatement Enforcement. The City will continue to provide weed abatement
through its Code Enforcement Division. The District will assist in administering
fire prevention related aspects of the City's weed abatement program including
inspection of those parcels potentially needing abatement, but the District is not
responsible for conducting abatement of hazard parcels. The District will provide
the City with. information and supporting documentation, as requested and
necessary, relatjng to any parcels that require additional enforcement and
abatement. All work and abatement orders will be initiated and completed by the
City for weed abatement issues.

B. Wildfire Mitigation Project. The City and the District will coordinate regarding
wildfire mitigation projects that are not directly related to weed abatement issues,
but the District is not responsible for conducting abatement of hazard parcels.
Additionally. when applicable, the City and the District will coordinate in the
preparation and submittal of grant funding applications relating to wildfire

9 



mitigation and in developing processes to prioritize and initiate wildfire mitigation 
projects. 

9. Fire Investig.ation Service.

District fire investigators will be assigned to detennine the cause of every major tire (2nd or 3rd 
Alarm), or where an injury or fire fatality occurs as a result of a fire incident within the City, and will 
conduct an investigation of every incident in which there is knowledge or suspicion that the crime of arson 
may have been committed. The D;strict will attempt to determine the cause of all fires within the City as 
required by the Fire Code. District fire investigators will work with the Pinole Police Department and any 
other appropriate law enforcement agencies in the investigation process, as needed. 

e. Administration.

l . Contract Administration.

The District designates the Fire Chief: or the Fire Chiers designated representative, to represent the 
District in all matters pertaining to the administration of this Agreement. 

The City designates the City Manager, or the City Manager's designated representative, to represent 
the City in all matters pertaining to the administration of this Agreement. 

The Parties desire to work cooperatively to ensure that the City receives cost effective services. 
Accordingly, the Parties desire to set forth a process for reaching agreement on mutually acceptable 
alterations to service delivery standards and material changes to the budget. 

The District will formally notify the City prior to a service delivery change. The notification will 
provide adequate time for the City to provide comment, express concerns, and to allow for agreement on 
the aforementioned changes and modifications. Except for temporary changes lasting fewer than ten (10) 
days, the District will obtain written approval from the City prior to making a service delivery change. Any 
changes to the staffing levels per company or fire stations ,identified in Section 3(a)(l)(B) are modifications 
to the Agreement subject to Section 90). 

2. Fire Chief Designation.

The Fire Chief is hereby designated by the City as the City of Pinole Fire Chief and wj!J have and 
possess such authority as the City Municipal Code and general Jaws. provide for the City's Fire Chief. 

3. Liaison to Cit\.

A. The District designates the Fire Chief or designee (at no time below the rank of
Assistant Fire Chief) as the dfrect liaison to the City Manager. Liaison
responsibilities will include but are not limited to:

1. Attendance by the Fire Chief or designee at City Council meetings when
requested by the City Manager upon reasonable advance notice; and

ii. Meetings wit11 the City Manager as requested by either the Fire Chief or
City Manager to discuss budget, operational, or other issues wnich may
arise.

10 



B. The District will promptly notify the City Manager when any of the following
significant incidents occur within the City.

i. Incidents involving deaths or serious injuries to citizens or first
responders.

ii. Mass casualty incidents involving more than six patients.

iii. Second-alarm, and better, structure fires.

iv. Structure fires resulting in displacement of multiple resjdents.

v. Third-alarm wildland fires, or any wildland fires utilizing air support
resources.

vi. Hazardous materials incidents requiring entry.

vii. Incidents with significant impacts on residents based on size, scope, or
duration.

viii. Any incident that has attracted, or is expected to attract, significant media
attention.

4. Communih Events.

As reasonably requested by the City Manager, the District will participate in the planning and 
implementation of community activities, such as local fireworks celebration, tree lighting ceremonies, 
Chamber of Commerce functions, and similar events, to address fire safety issues. 

5. Reports and Records.

A. The District will maintain sufficient records to enable the City to meet its reporting
obligations and needs as they relate to the provision of services as provided for in
this Agreement, including but not limited to the District's obligation to provide
quarterly reports on response times. The records maintained by the District will
also include: (i) the total number of calls for service responded to by each of Fire
Station 73 and 74; (ii) the number of calls for service responded to by each ofFire
Station 73 and 74 for incidents occurring outside oftbe City; and (iii) the nwnber
of calls for service responded to by the District from locations other than Fire
Stations 73 or 74 for incidents occurring within the City.

B. The District will maintain financial records related to the performance of services
under this contract.

C. The District will provide tbe City Manager with financial reports reasonably
requested by the City Manager.

D. Upon request by the City Manager, the District will make available its records
related to services performed under this Agreement for audit and inspection by the

I I 



City Manager, or the City Manager's designated representative. 

E. Upon request, the District shall provide the City with copies of any records related
to this Agreement that are subject to disclosure pursuant to the California Public
Records Act.

F. The District will conduct or have conducted a yearly independent audjt of the
District's overall financial perfonnance. The District will provide the audit reports
to the City Manager within 30 days of publication. The District will provide any
financial information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
for the City's financial reporting that is in the District's possession or control.

6. Fire Complaints and Requests for Service.

A. The District will inform the City Manager of any and all complaints received by 
the District regarding the services provided to the City by the District.

8. The District will strive to provide a high level of customer service to the City in
accordance with the District and the City's customer service philosophies.

7. Fire System Planning,.

A. The Fire Chief will assist the City in planning the extension of fire services and
facilities as the City grows.

8. If, as a result of annexation of territory, the City requires additional contract
services to provide fire and emergency services to areas not currently served by
the City through its contract witJ1 the District, the Fire Chief and the City Manager
may negotiate a mutually acceptable amendment to this Agreement to provide such
services. Any amendment to this Agreement will become effective upon its
approval by the governing bodies of the District and the City.

C. This paragraph does not apply to those services provided under mutual aid,
automatic, and/or other interagency response agreements.

A. The District will assist the City in the development of an appropriate fee schedule
for fire services rendered in the City by the District. The District will provide the
documentation necessary to support the imposition of fees by the City.

B. All fees attributable to the services provided by the District under this Agreement
shall accrue to and are the property of the District. Nothing herein shall limit the
City's ability to charge fees attributable to services provided by the City.

C. Any fees collected by the City for services performed by the District will be
accounted for by the City and remitted to the District.

12 



Section 4. 

9. Miscellaneous Revenue Collection.

A. The District will endeavor to implement a program consistent with District policy
for seeking reimbursement for the cost of the District's response to accidents or
other events. Any cost reimbursements received by the District for incidents
occurring within the City will be credited to the City as if payment had been made
by the City to the District for the performance of services uoder this Agreement.

B. The District will use reasonable efforts to obtain grants for one-time and ongoing
capital and operational expenditures.

Facilities. Apparatus. and Equipment. 

a. Buildint..!.S and Real Propem.

I .  Use of Pinole Fire Station Nos. 73 and 74 .. 

The City will provide the District use of the City-owned fire stations described as fire Station 73, 
880 Tennent A venue. Pinole, CA 94564, and Fire Station 74, 3700 Pinole Valley Road, Pinole, CA 94564, 
for performance of services under this Agreement. The City will provide the District use of these facilities 
at no cost to the District. Responsibility for maintenance of the buildings and grounds are as set forth in the 
Leases. 

To the extent ther-e is a conflict between this Agreement and the Leases concerning the use and 
maintenance ofFire Stations Nos. 73 and 74, the terms of the Leases shall control. In all other respects, the 
terms of this Agreement shall control 

2. Office Space.

Fire Station 73 includes office space for use by District fire inspectors. ln accordance with the 
Lease for Fire Station 73, the City will provide the District use of these facilities at no cost to the District. 

3. Return Upon Termination.

Upon termination of this Agreement, the District will vacate Fire Station Nos, 73 and 74, and will

remove any and all materials, equipment, and improvements that are not to remain on the premises as set 
forth in the Leases. 

b. Apparatus/Equipment.

I. Transfer of Apparatus and EguipmenL

The City will transfer to the District ownership of the apparatus and equipment identified in Exhibit 
2 (City Fire Apparatus/Equipment lnventory) in consideration of tbe District's performance of services 
under the terms of this Agreement. The District will be responsible for maintaining registration and 
1icensing of all transferred apparatus and equipment. 

2. Maintenance.

The District will be responsible for maintenance and repair of all apparatus and equipment. The 

13 



City will pay the District a fee, fixed annually and specified in the budget approved pursuant to Section 5 
(Cost of Services), for the costs of maintenance and repair of apparatus and equipment utilized in the 
perfom,ance of services under this Agreement. 

3. ReserveApparatus.

The District will provide a reserve apparatus that wilJ be placed in service as soon as possible jf a 
frontline apparatus is to be out of service for an extended period of time. 

4. Apparatus and Equipment Replacement

The timing of apparatus and equipment replacement shalf be determined by the District, 
consistent with the District's standard equipment and apparatus replacement practices and schedules. The 
District will submit a proposed apparatus replacement schedule to the City indicating the anticipated dates 
for replacement of major pieces of apparatus. The District will provide the City with advanced notice 
regarding the need to replace apparatus and equipment. 

The City will pay the District a fee, fixed annually and specified in the budget approved pursuant 
to Section 5 (Cost of Services), for the costs to replace apparatus and equipment utilized in the performance 
of services under this Agreement. The DistrlctwilJ use reasonable, good faith efforts to submit applications 
on behalf of the City for grants to defray the replacement cost for apparatus and major equipment utilized 
in the perfonnance of services under this Agreement. 

5. Return Upon Termination.

Upon termination of this Agreement, the District will return to the City the apparatus and equipment 
identified in Exhibit 2 (City Fire Apparatus/Equipment Inventory) that was transferred to the District 

pursuant to Section 4(b)(1) if the apparatus and equipment are fit for service. The Parties acknowledge 
their mutual intent that 1he District retum to the City, if necessary, the same equipment and appara1us that 
was transferred to the District pursuant to Section 4(b)( 1 ), and that some or all of the equipment or apparatus 
may no longer be fit for service at the time of return. If some or all of the equipment or apparatl)s are no 

longer fit or service or are otherwise not able to be returned to the City, the District will endeavor to lease 
to the City such apparatus and equipment necessary for the City to conduct fire protection activities within 
the City, for a reasonable period of time and upon terms agreeable to both parties, until the City has procured 
replacement apparatus and equipment. The Parties will identify the specific apparatus and equipment to be 
returned or leased to the City in the transition plan to be developed pursuant to Section 9(b). 

6. New Equipment.

The District may purchase new equipment as necessary in order to maintain adequate service levels 
and to ensure safe working conditions. The City will pay the Dist1ict a fee, fixed annually and specified in 
the budget adopted pursuant to Section 5 (Cost of Services), for the costs to purchase new equipment related 
to the perfonnance of services under this Agreement 

Ill 

Ill 

14 



Section 5. Cost of Services. 

a. Fire Budget.

1. Operating Budg.et.

For purposes of budgeting and bi!Jing for both the direct and indirect cost of services to be provided 
under this Agreement, the Fire Chief will annually prepare and submit a proposed budget for the succeeding 
fiscal year, as well as an updated 5-year cost projection, to the City Manager by January I S1h

. Prior to 
preparation of the proposed budget, the Fire Chief and City Manager, or their designees, shall meet to 
discuss factors potentially affecting the budget necessary to cover costs for the upcoming fiscal year. 

Budgeted costs include but are not limited to those costs listed in Exhibit 3. Excluding labor-related 
costs (for example, employee salaries and benefits), if a proposed budget exceeds the approved budget from 
the immediately preceding iiscal year by more than 5%, the Fire Chief and City Manager will meet and 
confer in an attempt to identify potential cost savings and/or increases in revenue. The Fire Chief and City 
Manager will use their best efforts to, by March I of the same year, agree on a recommended budget that 
will be recommended for approval by their respective governing bodies. 

If the City Manager and Fire Chief are unable to reach agreement concerning a recommended 
budget or the recommended budget is reduced to provide specified cost savings or the City does not approve 
the b1.1dget jointly recommended by the Fire Chief and the City Manager, the Parties acknowledge that 
services provided under this Agreement may be reduced accordingly. 

For the term of this Agreement. the District has provided a 5-year cost projection as shown in 
Exhibit 4 (5-Year Cost Projection Provided by the District). The City acknowledges that Exhibit 4 contains 
projected costs, and that while the District will make good faith efforts to provide annual budgets in 
accordance with 1hese projections, the amounts set forth in the annual budgets will differ from the 5-year 
cost projection. 

The annual fire budget for Fiscal Year 2022/23, the first fiscal year during which services are 
provided under this Agreement, is attached as Exl1ibit 5. The Parties approve the anacbed Fiscal Year 
2022/23 budget upon approval of this Agreement. Payments by the City pursuant to the Fiscal Year 2022/23 
budget; and any Offsetting Revenues (as defined below) for Fiscal Year 2022/23, will be appropriately pro
rated based on the Commencement Date. 

2. Offsetting.Revenues.

A. The budget will reflect known revenues, other than those due and payable by City,
that will be paid directly to the District and credited to the City as if payment had
been made by the City to 1he District for the performance of services under this
Agreement (each an "Offsetting Revenue" and together, "Offsetting Revenues").
Offsetting Revenues may include but are not limited to grant funds obtained by the
District on behalf of the City, revenues paid by the EMS Agency directly to the
District due to the District's fulfillment of the City's obligations under the First
Responder Agreements, and Measure X funds allocated by the Board of
Supervisors.

8. The Parties acknowledge that by Resolution No. 2022/332, attached as Exhibit 7,
the Board of Supervisors has allocated from MeasureX funds $2,000,000 annually

15 



through Fiscal Year 202"' _ v to increase the level of fire protection services in the 
City. As provided in Resolution No. 2022/332, the Measure X allocation will be 
adjusted annually beginning in FiscaJ Year 2023/24 by the percentage change in 
the Consumer Price Index-All Urban Consumers for the San Francisco-Oakland
Hayward Area for the twelve-month period ending with the February index of the 
calendar year in which the adjustment is made, but not to exceed 4 percent per 
year. The Parties also acknowledge that the continued allocation of funds by the 
Board of Supervisors is critical to the maintenance of service levels provided for 
in this Agreement. The Parties will utilize each annual allocation of $2,000,000, 
as adjusted, as an Offsetting Revenue under this Agreement. 

3. Capital Requirements.

The Fire Chief will recommend any capital needs for Fire Station 73 or 74, as we!J as modifications 
to services that the City provides to directly support the provision of the District's contractual services, 
These recommendations will be submitted along with the annual fire budget and will be reflected in the 
recommended budget, as necessary. 

4. Management of Budget.

A. If during the fiscal year, the Fire Chief believes in good faith that due to
unanticipated circumstances the approved fire budget is insufficient in any respect
to ensure the provision of service at the service levels required by this Agreement.
the Fire Chief will immediately notify the City Manager in writing specifying the
budgetary deficiency, along with a request for a budget modification that identifies
all reasons for the proposed modification. "Unanticipated circumstances" means
circumstances that the Fire Chief was not aware of prior to the District's approval
of the fire budget; jt does not include cost overruns that could reasonably have
been anticipated or planned for.

B. The District will obtain written approval from the City, which will require
authorization from the City Council, prior to making a modification to the budget
approved by the City. If the budget modification is not approved by City, then the
Parties acknowledge that there may be a decrease in service levels commensurate
with the deficiency identified in the budget modification request.

C. Notwithstanding Sections S(a)(4)(A) and (B) above, where new labor agreements
are approved by the District Board of Directors that result in an increase to labor
related costs under this Agreement, the budget shall be deemed modified to
account for such cost increases upon 5 days' written notice from the District to the
City of such new labor agreements and associated budget modification, and
without further approval by the City.

D. The Fire Chief shall notify the City Manager of matters pertaining to labor relations
between the District and its recognized employee organiz.ations, when the matters
and the resolution of them will affect the service levels to the City or the City's
costs pursuant to this Agreement.

16 



b. Pa> meat for Services.

I. City Pavment.

A, The City will pay to the District the approved budget amount in consideratfon for the District 
providing any and all services to the City under this Agreement. Budget modifications are subject to Section 
5(a)(4). 

2. Method of Billine and Pa):ment.

A. The City will pay the District monthly in advance within 30 calendar days of
receipt of the monthly invoice. The monthly invoice amount will be equal to the
difference of the annual fire budget and the sum of Offsetting Revenues and the
Communication Center Allocation, divided by 12, pl.us any Budget Modification
Prorations. A "Budget Modification Proration" is calculated by dividing a budget
modification made pursuant to Section 5(a)(4) by the number of months remaining
in a fiscal year at the time the budget modification is made. Budget modifications
that occur mid-fiscal year will result in post-modification monthly invoice amounts
that differ from pre-modification monthly invoice amounts.

8. ln the event than an invoice is not paid (partially or in full) by the due date, a late
fee of I% simple interest of the unpaid balance will be assessed for each month or 
portion thereof that the invoice remains unpaid. The late fee will be assessed on
the l st day of each month following the due date.

c. Costs Associated with Development within the Cit.,,.

The Parties acknowledge that development within the City may necessitate new or additional
apparatus and equipment to enable the District to provide the ftre protection services under this Agreement. 
The Parties also acknowledge that the City and developers, but not the District, should bear the costs of 
new or additional apparatus and equipment required due to development within the City. In the event that 
the Fire Chief determines that development within the City is likely to require new or additional apparatus 
or equipment, including, for example, a ladder truck, the Fire Chief shall notify the City Manager. The 
Parties will meet and confer as provided for in Sections 3(e)O) and 5(a)(3) to discuss planned and 
prospective development within the City, the associated impacts to the services provided under this

Agreement, and the options for funding of any changes to services or the need for new or additional 
equipment or apparatus. The City currently collects Fire Development Impact Fees on new development in 
the City, and will make such fees available to address capital improvement and apparatus needs as 
development within the City occurs. Regardless of the availability of Fire Development Impact Fees, the 
City will remain responsible for paying the above-described costs associated with development within the 
City. 

Section 6. Personnel. 

a. The Parties anticipate that as a resuJt of this Agreement and the District's provision of fire
protection services to the City, some or all of the persons identified in Exhibit 6 (City of Pinole List of Fire 
Department Employees) may elect to leave City employment to become District employees. 

b. Except through payments made pursuant to Section 5 (Cost of Services), the City is not responsible
for paying salaries, wages, or other compensation to District personnel perfonning services under this 

17 



Agreement for the City, nor is the City l i able for any Distri ct retirement obl igation or other post
employment benefit to any Di stri ct employee ari s ing out of their employment with the District. The City is 
not liable for compensati on or indemnity to any District employee for injury or sickness arising out of their 
employment with the District, except as part of ithe City 's payment of indi rect expenditures and Rjsk 
Management costs to the District and as otherwise provided in this Agreement. This Section does not negate 
any of the City ' s  obl igations pursuant to Section 5 (Cost of Services) above. 

c. The rnstrict is not l iabl e for compensation or indemnity to any District employee for injury or
sickness arising out of their employment with the C ity .  The District is not liable for any City reti rement 
obl igation or otl1er post-employment benefit to any District employee aris ing out of thei r  employment with 
the City. 

Section 7. Indemnification. 

a lndemnification b the C i l\- . 

The City shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District, its governing body, officers, 
employees, representat i ve, and agents from any and al l demands, losses, claims, costs, suits, l iabi l ities. and 
expenses for any damage, death, or injury to persons or property from any cause whatsoever ari sing directly 
or indirectly from or connected with any act or om ission of or purported act or om ission of the City, jts 
governing body, officers, employees, representative, or agents in connection with or arising out of the 
perfonnance by the City, its governing body, officers, employees, representative or agents of this 
Agreement, and with regard to any al leged i l legal ity or unconstitutionality of a City ordinance. The City 
shall reimburse the District for any expenditures, incl uding reasonable attorney' s  fees and costs, the Di strict 
may make by reason of such matters and, if requested by the District, shall defend any such suit at the sole 
cost and expense of the City. The City ' s  obl i gations under this subsection shal l exist regardless of 
concurrent negligence or wi l lful misconduct on the part of the District or any other person ; provided, 
however, that the City shal l not be required to i ndemnify the Distri ct for the proportion of l iabi l i ty a court 
determines is attributable to the negl igence or willful misconduct of the District, i ts governing body, 
officers, employees representative, or agents. 

The District agrees to give the City prompt written notice of any claims or other matter to which 
the Di strict bel ieves this indemnification provision is applicable. The City will, at its sol e cost and expense, 
prov ide counsel reasonably acceptable to the Distri ct, to contest or defend any such c l aim .  either pany 
nor their successors or assigns, shall adm it any liabi l ity to any matt.er for wh ich indemnification is sought, 
or settle, compromise, pay, or discharge the sarne without the prior written consent of the other party, which 
shall not be unreasonably withheld or deJayed, and the District shal l reasonably cooperate with the City in 
the contest and defense thereof. 

b. Indemnificat ion b" the District.

The District shal l defend, indemn i fy, and hold hannless the City, its governing body, officers, 
employees, representative, and agents from any and all demands, losses, claims, costs, suits, l iabi l iti es, and 
expenses for any damage, death or injury to persons or property from any cause whatsoever arising di rectly 
or indirectly from or connected witl1 any act or omission of or purported act or omission of the District, its 
governing body, officers, employees, representative, or agents in connection with or arising out of the 
perfonnance by the District, its governing body, officers employees, representative, or agents of this 
Agreement. The District shal l reimburse the City for any expenditures, incl uding reasonable attorney' s  
fees and costs, the C ity may make by  reason of such matters and, ff requested by the City, shal l defend any 
such suit at the sol e  cost and expense of the Distri ct. the District' s  obl igations under this subsection shaU 

1 8



exist regardless of concurrent negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the City or any other person; 
provided, however, that the District shall not be required to indemnify the City for the proportion ofliability 
a court determines is attributable to tlie negligence or willful misconduct of the City, its governing body, 
officers, employees, representative, or agents. 

The City agrees to give the District prompt written notice of any claims or other matter as to which 
the City believes this indemnification provision is applicable. The District wil1, at its sole cost and ex'Pense, 
provide counsel reasonably acceptable to the City, to contest or defend any such claim. Neither party, nor 
their successors or assigns, shall admit any liabiJity to any matter for which indemnification is sought, or 
settle, compromise, pay, or discharge the same without the prior written consent of tbe other party, which 
shaJJ not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and the City shall reasonably cooperate with the District in 
the contest and defense thereof. 

c. Indemnification Oblieations Survive Termination.

The obligations created by this Section 7 shall survive the expiration or termination of this
Agreement as to activities occurring or being carried out during the tenn of this Agreement in the 
perfonnance of this Agreement. 

Section 8. Insurance. 

a. General and Auto Liabilitv.

The District will maintain general and auto liability insurance, includjng bodily injury and property
damage, with a single combined liability limit ofnot less than $10 million insuring all Uability of the District 
and its authorized representatives arising out of and in connection with the provision of service by the 
District under this Agreement, including the use and/or occupancy of City-owned real property and 
premises. 

The City will be named as an additional insured and the policy must contain cross liabiJity 
endorsements. An endorsement must be provided which states that the District's insurance coverage shall 
be primary. The District may self-insure to these limits of coverage. The District will furnish the City with 
original certificates and amendatory endorsements effecting coverage required by this clause. The District 
will provide complete certified copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements effecting 
the coverage required by these specifications, to the City upon request. 

b. Propertv Insurance.

The District will not maintain any insurance for City-owned real property and buildings, including
but not limited to City-owned fire stations, or the contents of the City-owned buildings, except as otherwise 
specified in this Agreement or in the Leases. The District will maintain a standard All Rfak policy to ensure 
its own personal property, 

c. Workers' Compensation Jnsurance.

The District will maintain Workers' Compensation Insurance as required by the State of California
in Employers Liability Insurance. Employers Liability Insurance shall have limits ofno less than $1 million 
per accident for bodily injury or disease. The District may self-insure to the limits of coverage. The District 
will provide the City with a waiver of subrogation against the City, its officers, officials, employees, and 
volunteers for all claims on or after the Commencement Date arising during tbe temi of this Agreement. 

19 



d. Workers' Compensation Claims for Emplo}ees in Exhibit 6.

1. The City is fully responsible for all Workers' Compensation claims with date of injury
prior 10 the Commencement Date, with respect to the persons identified in Exhibit 6 (City
of Pinole List of Fire Department Employees). The City will administer the claims and is
solely liable for all administration and settlement costs. The City is also responsible for
claims that are incurred prior to the Commencement Date AND that are:

A. Reopened;
B. incurred but not reported;
C. Submitted for new and further disability; or
D. Jncurred subsequently and consequently to the original claim

2. The District is responsible for Workers Compensation claims of District employees that
are not the responsibility of the City pursuant to paragraph 1 above or another entity. The
District will administer the claims and is solely liable for all administration and settlement
costs.

3. The District will administer cumulative trauma claims that span the City and the District;
however, the District will, immediately upon receipt of a cumulative trauma claim, send a
copy of said claim to the City. The Parties will meet and confer prior to the District taking
any action on the claim, unless the District is required to take immediate action or 
circumstances do not allow adequate time to meet and confer, in which case the District
will notify the City as soon as possible. The cost of administration and settlement shall be
pro-rated between the District and the City based on the length of services for each
employer. Should the claim involve prior employers, the City will be responsible for the
service time. The City and the District agree to cooperate with each other in the
administration of the claims that involve botb Parties, including any decisions or
detenninations regarding industrial disability retirement. This includes, but is not limited
to, the sharing of notes, reports, and other docutnents. The City will have the right 10 review
and contest any determination of a recurrence of a prior injury. ln the event that an
agreement cannot be reached, the City and the District will accept the Worker's
Compensation Appeals Board decision as the final decision and without further appeal
rights on this limited issue.

e. Industrial Disabilit\ Retirement.

The City will be solely responsible for making the determination of industrial disability retirement 
for CalPERS retirement application for the employees listed in Exhibit 6. 

Section 9. Miscellaneous. 

a. Tenn and Extension by Mutual Agreement: Commencement of Services.

This Agreement will commence at 12:01 a.m. on the Effective Date, and will continue until 1 I :59 
p.m. on June 30, 2028, unless extended as mutually agreed upon in writing by both Parties in accordance
with the provisions herein. The District will commence services provided for under this Agreement on a
date ("Commencement Date") mutually agreed upon and authorized in writing by the Parties, which
authorization may be given by the Fire Chief for the District and the City Manager for the City. In order to
provide notice to  the affected employee organization, the Parties will endeavor to mutually agree upon

20 



and authorize a Commencement Date at least 30 days prior to the Commencement Date. Prior to the 
Commencement Date, the District and City will jointly participate in a mutually agreed upon 
communications effort to educate the public about the transition offue services. 

The term of this Agreement and the term of the Leases may be extended for one 5-year tem\ by 
mutual written agreement of the Parties executed by the Fire Chief and by the City Manager for City. Unless 
otherwise agreed by the Parties, the extension agreement must be fully executed at least 12 months prior to 
the then-effective termination date. 

The City and the District agree to jointly prepare a review and analysis of services provided to the 
City by March 31, 2027. The District will prepare an updated 5-year cost projection, for the purpose of 
inclusion in an extension agreement, if any such extension agreement is agreed to and executed by the 
Parties. 

b. Termination.

Notwithstanding Section 9(a) above, this Agreement may be unilaterally terminated by either party
by giving 12 months' written notice of termination to the other party. The contract termination date 
specified in the notice oftermination may be e>.iended by mutual agreement. The Parties acknowledge that 
the termination of this Agreement would require extensive operational adjustments for both Parties. The 
Parties further acknowledge tl1at any fire service interruption would result in risks to public welfare. Within 
60 days of a notice of termination by either party, the Parties will coordinate to develop a transition plan. 
The transition plan will include specific implementation deadlines, including any modification to the 
contract termination date, and will address matters including but not limited to service levels during the 
transition period and the return or lease of apparatus and equipment by the District to the City. 

The Parties will meet and confer in good faith regarding any dispute between the Parties over the 

implementation of any provisions in this Section 9(b). Any dispute that is not resolved by meeting and 
conferring will be submitted to non-bindin,g mediation conducted by a JAMS mediator. The Parties agree 
to meet and confer as soon as practkally possible regarding the selection of the mediator and, if possible, 
agree to mediate the dispute within 45 calendar days. However, nothing in this provision shall be construed 
so as to delay any of the time periods above, including the development of a transition plan and 
implementation thereof. 

c. Notices.

All notices required or permitted hereunder will be deemed sufficiently given if delivered by hand
or mailed, by United States mail, postage prepaid, certified or registered mail, addressed to the Parties at 
the addresses set forth below or to such other address as may from time to time be designated in writing. 

To DISTRICT: 
Contra Costa County Fire Protection rnstrict 
Attn: Fire Chief 
4005 Port Chicago Highway, Suite 250, 
Concord, CA 94520 

With a copy to: 
Contra Costa County 
Public Works Department 
Attn: Principal Real Property Agent 

21 



40MuirRoad 
Martinez. CA 94553 

To CITY: 
City of Pinole 
Attn: City Manager 
21 3 I Pear Street 
Pinole, CA 94564 

d. Further Obli1mtions.

The Parties recognize that this Agreement cannot represent a complete expression of all issues that
may arise during the performance of the Agreement. Accordingly, the District and City agree to meet and 
confer io good faith over any issue not e.l{pressly described herein. 

e. No Assip.nment.

Neither party may assign, delegate, sell, mortgage, hypothecate, or otherwise transfer their

respective interests or obligations in this Agreement without the express prior written consent of the non
transferring party. 

f. Exhibits.

All exhibits referred to herein are attached hereto and are, by this reference, incorporated herein.
Exhibits to this Agreement include: 

Exhibit 1: Service Area Map 
Exhibit 2: City Fire Apparatus/Equipment Inventory 
Exhibit 3: List of Budgeted Costs 
Exhibit 4: 5-Year Cost Projection Provided by the District
Exhibit 5: Fiscal Year 2022/23 Fire Budget
Exhibit 6: City of Pinole List of Fire Department Employees
Exhibit 7: Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 2022/332

g. Severabilitv.

If any provision of this Agreement (including without limitation any phrase, provision, covenant,
or condition) is found to be invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of 
this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. 

h. Governing Law. Jurisdiction. and Venue.

The interpretation, validity, and enforcement of this Agreement is governed by and interpreted in
accordance with the laws of the State of Califorrua Any suit, claim, or legal proceeding of any kind related 
to this Agreement is to be filed and heard in a court of competent jurisdiction in the County of Contra Costa. 

i. Alternative Dispute Resolution.

Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, all claims, disputes, and controversies arising
out of or in relation to the performance, interpretation, application, or enforcement of this Agreement, 
including, but not limited to, breach thereof, shall be referred to no11-binding mediation before, and as a 

22 



condition precedent to, the initiation of any legal proceeding. The Parties wiJI jointly select a quaJified 
professional with expertise in the subject matter of the dispute. In order to commence the mediation process, 
a party must notify the other party in writing of its intent to commence mediation. Each party will propose 
one or more mediators within 14 days of the date notice is sent. The proposed mediators must be available 
to conduct the mediation within the following 60 days. The Parties will tnake a good faith effort to agree to 
a mediator within 30 days of the date the notice is sent. Tfthe Parties cannot agree to a mediator, then each 
party shall select one mediator, and the two mediators selected by the Parties shall meet to jointly select the 
mediator to conduct the mediation. The cost of mediation shall be djvided equally between the Parties. 

j. Amendment of Ag.reemeot.

This Agreement may be amended or modified onJy by the mutual agreement of the Parties. No
amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless it is in writing and signed by 
authorized representatives of both Parties, 

k.. Authorit\. 

Each party, or the representative(s) signing this Agreement on behalf of a party, represents and 
warrants that it has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perfonn the obligations set 
forth herein. 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWfNG PAGE] 

23 



CONTRA COSTA COUNTY FIRE 
PROTECTION DISTRICT 

Attest: 
Clerk of the Board 

Approved by County Administrator: 

Approved as to form: 
MARY ANN McNETT MASON, 
County Counsel 

CITY OF PINOLE 

Approved as to form: 

Eric Casher, City Attorney 

24 



Exhibit 1 

Service Area Map 



.r,s, 
,,,,,.

�" 
"-,. D� SHAW" 

'91c-,,. 
�O,t.,L) 

• 0

"Ir>-

,;:,fl-

• 

�\\.l�OP 
' 

f 
3,200 

Feet 

Contra Costa County 

Fire Protection District 

CCCFPD 

..,� 

��LD 

SA,V PABLO 

■ Fire Station

EXHIBIT 1 

CCC Fire Protection District 

© 

• 

Rb 

So"ree: CCCFPO 202.Zi 

PINOLE CITY LIMITS 



Exhibit 2 

City Fire Apparatus/Equipment Inventory 



qty Description 

1 Type I Fire Engine 

1 Type l Fire Engine 

1 Type VI Fire Engine 

1 Type Ill Fire Engine 

1 Chief Officer Car 

1 Chief Officer Car 

1 Chief Officer Car 

1 Utility Pickup 

1 UTV 

atv Description 

1 Monitor/Defibrillator 

1 Monitor/Defibrillator 

1 Monitor/Defibrillator 

17 Motorola Portable Radio 

7 Motorola Mobile Radio 

1 Motorola Mobile Radio 

2 Motorola Mobile Radio 

2 Motorola Base Radio 

1 Motorola Base Radio 

1 Extrication Equipment Spr 

1 Extrication Equipment Cut 

1 Extrication EQuipment Ram 

1 Extrication Equipment Spr 

1 Extrication Equipment Cut 

1 Extrication EQuipment Ram 

EXHIBIT 2 

City of Pinole Appatatus and Capital Equipment Inventory 

APPARATUS 

Manufacturer Model VIN 

Seagrave Caoftol 1F9EN28TOLCST2024 

Spartan Metro Star 4S7CT2O96EC078960 

Ford F-550 1FDAF57F51ED01440 

lnternational/Rosenbauer 7400 1 HTWEAZR58J674916 

Ford Interceptor 1 FM5K8ATXFGA70298 

Ford Expedition 1 FMJU1 GT0KEA29207 

Ford Expedition 1 FMFU 1657 8LA84072

Ford F-250 1FTSW21P86EB84873 

Polaris Ranger Crew 1000 4XAT6E991L8877944 

EQUIPMENT (Replacement Cost exceeding $5,000 per item) 

Manufacturer Model City Asset Number (if any) 

Phvsio Control LP15 NIA 

Physic Control LP15 NIA 

Physio Control LP15 NIA 

Motorola APX 7000XE N/A 

Motorola APX 7500 NIA 

Motorola APX 7500 NIA 

Motorola APX 7500 NIA 

Motorola APX 7500 N/A 

Motorola APX 7500 NIA 

Hurst e-draulic N/A 

Hurst e-draulic N/A 

Hurst e-draulic N/A 

Amkus Ion NIA 

Amkus Ion NIA 

Amkus Ion NIA 

Year of Manufacture 

2020 

2014 

2001 

2008 

2015 

2019 

2008 

2006 

2020 

Year of· Purchase 

2019 

2012 

2012 

2011 

2011 

2015 

2020 

2011 

2020 

2015 

2015 

2015 

2020 

2020 

2020 



Exhibit 3 
List of Budgeted Costs 

Permanent Salaries - 18 positions 
Holiday Pay 
Scheduled FLSA Overtime 
Uniform Allowance 
Retirement 
Health Jnsurance 
Workers' Compensation losurance 
FICA 
Fuel 
Apparatus Replacement 
Firefighting and EMS Supplies and Equipment 
Apparatus Maintenance and Repair 
Overtime and Backfill Compensation 
Training and Classes 
Misc. Household Expenses 
Personal Protective Equipment 
Battalion Chief Allocation 
Shift Training Captain Allocation 
Administration Allocation 
Communication Center Allocation 



Exhibit 4 

5-Year Cost Projection Provided by the District



EXHIBIT 4 

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 

Budget Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 

Personnel Costs $2,540,000 $2,616,200 $2,694,686 $2,775,527 $2,858,792 $2,944,556 

Employee Benefits $3A61,572 $3,738,496 $4,037,576 $4,360,584 $4,709,430 $5,086,185 

Materials and Supplies $173,872 $187,782 $202,804 $219,029 $236,551 $255,475 

Equipment Replacement $305,000 $320,250 $336,263 $353,076 $370,729 $389,266 

Communication Center Allocatic $172,498 $179,398 $186,574 $194,037 $201,798 $209,870 

Administration Allocation $648,044 $686,927 $728,142 $771,831 $818,141 $867,229 

Total Operating Costs $7,300,986 $7,729,054 $8,186,046 $8,674,082 $9,195,442 $9,752,581 

Measure X Allocation• -$2,000,000 -$2,080,000 -$2,163,200 -$2,249,728 -$2,339, 717 -$2,433,306 

Net Costs of CCCFPD Contract $5,300,986 $5,649,054 $6,022,846 $6,424,354 $6,855,725 $7,319,275 

*Includes maximum 4% escalator for Measure X contributions



Exhibit 5 

Fiscal Year 2022/23 Fire Budget 



EXHIBIT 5 

Fiscal Year 2022/23 Fire Budget (Prorated 1/1/23-6/30/23) 

Amount Description 

$635,000 Permanent Salaries - 9 positions 

$51,054 Holiday Pay 

$16,574 Scheduled FLSA overtime 

$2,943 Uniform Allowance 

$439,365 Retirement 

$109,544 Health Insurance 

$28,575 Worker's Compensation Insurance 

$9,208 FICA 

$11,000 Fire S1ation Utilities 

$15,525 Fuel 

$62,500 Apparatus Replacement 

$13,750 Firefighting & EMS Supplies and Equipment 

$12,500 Apparatus Maintenance and Repair 

$114,300 Overtime & Backfill Compensation 

$5,000 Training & Classes 

$2,500 Misc. Household Expenses 

$5,000 Personal Protective Equipment 

$77,000 Battalion Chief Allocation 

$19,775 Shift Training Captain Allocation 

$163, 111· Administration Allocation 

$1,794,222 Total Single Fire Station Operating Costs 

$3,588,444 Two Fire Stations - staffing and total costs 

$172,498 Communication Center Allocation* 

( 1 000 000) Prorated Measure X Contribution 

$2,760,942 To�I Contract Costs 

*Communication Center Allocation is not prorated - this is an annual set cost



Exhibit 6 

City of Pinole List of Fire Department Empfoyees 



Name 

Dale Blume 

Seaborn Chiles 

Andrew Corwin 

Michael Crooks 

Steven Dorsey 

Cory Higgins 

Eric Holt 

Daniel Houts 

Javier Lopez 

Matthew Ludwig 

Kyle Metzler 

Gregory Sekera 

Charles Trester 

Clint Ballard 

James Brooks 

EXHIBIT 6 

Pinole FD Classification Hire Date 

Fire Engineer 10/23/2017 

Firefighter /Paramedic 02/07/2022 

Firefighter/Paramedic 05/17/2021 

Fire Captain 10/05/1998 

Fire Captain (Admin) 04/10/2001 

Fire Engineer 10/18/2019 

Fire Engineer 10/23/2017 

Firefighter/Paramedic 05/17/2021 

Fire Captain 01/13/2014 

Fire Captain 07/01/2013 

Firefighter/Paramedic 05/17/2021 

Fire Captain (Admin) 06/01/2004 

Firefighter /Paramedic 02/07/2022 

Firefighter/Paramedic 06/01/2022 

Fire Battalion Chief 01/02/1999 



Exhibit 7 

Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 2022/332 



EXHIBIT 7 

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

aad for Special Districts, Agencies and Authorities Govemed by the Board 

Adopted tlils Rt1olvrioa oa 09/20/2021 by ti,• foUowiai: vole: 

AYE: 

NO: 

John Gioia 
r;-i Candace Andersen 
�- _J Karen Mitcboff 

Federal D. Glover 

vJ 
ABSENT: fi ) Diane Burgfs

ABSTAIN:� 

RECUSE:� 

Resolution No. 201.2/332 

111 the Matter of: Allocating Measure X Punds for Ongoing Fire Protection Services 

11 

WHEREAS on November 3, 2020, voters in Contra Costa County approved Measure X, a Countywide, 20-year. half-cent sales 
ta>.. with the intent "to keep Contra Costa's regional hospital open and staffed; fund community health centers. emergency 
response: support crucial safety-net services; invest in early childhood services; protect vuhierable populations. and for other 
essential county services.''; 

WHEREAS on November 16, 2021. the Board of Supervisors adopted a Measure X expenditure alJocatioo plan that included 
annual funding ofS9.0 million through June 30. 2024, for the provision of fire protection services in the service area of the 
former Easl Contra Costa Fire Protection District and in the cities of Antioch and Pinole; 

WHEREAS the Cootrd Cost.a County Fire Protection District (District) and the City of Pinole intend to leverage Measure X 
funds for an increased level of fire protection services in the City of Pinol� 

WHEREAS the Board of Supervisors acknowledge the ongoing funding needs of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection 
District beyond the initial allocation through June 30, 2024, to support the provision of fire protection sen.i1ces by the District in 
the service area of the fonner East Contra Costa Fire Protection District and in the cities of Antioch and Pinole; and 

WHEREAS the Board of Supervisors acknowledge that increased funding allocations are necessary to maintain service levels 
and to offset annual increases in the operating costs of funded programs. 

NOW THEREFORE, the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors resolves as follows: 

1. The Board of Supervisors makes the following annual allocations of Measure X funds to tJ1e District through June 30, 2028:

a. $2,0 million to support the provision of fire protection services, subject to the execution ofa fire protection service
agreement between the District and the City of Pinole.
b. S3.5 mnlion to support the provision offire protection services in the service area of the former East Contra Costa Fire
Protection District and the reopening of Fire Station 54 in the City of Brentwood,
c. $3.5 million lo support the provision of fire protection services in the District through the reopening of Fire Station 81 in
tbe City of Antioch.

2. Beginning with Fiscal Year 2023/24, each of the above funding allocations will be adjusted annually by the percentage change
in the Consumer Price Index-All Urban Consumers for the San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward Area for the twelve-month period
ending with the February Index of the calendar year in which the adjustment is made, but not to exceed 4 percent per year.

t bonihy e1:l'lify t.hit tbii is I true and contct copy of an •c:floo 1akcn and mtued on cbe aWnUles of the Board ofSupcrvi.sor.Jan tbc date sbOYm.. 

Contact: PaaJ Reyes 925.655.2049 
A Tl'ESTE . September 20, 2022 
Monica Nin_), 'ounl)' Admmisntor and Ctcrlc cf1hc Board ofSupe:rvison-

4 Mc;��--,
..,.,,�ine 

cc: 



Attachment 3

















































Attachment 5









D.2

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CONTRA COSTA COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

Adopted this Resolution on 10/11/2022 by the following vote: 

John Gioia 
Candace Andersen 

AYE: [� ___ J Diane Burgis 

NO: � 

ABSENT:� 

ABSTAIN: IT] 
RECUSE: !__ �- 1 

Karen Mitchoff 
Federal D. Glover 

Resolution No. 2022/13 

In the Matter of Application by the Board of Directors of the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District to the Contra 
Costa Local Agency Formation Commission Requesting Approval to Provide Fire Protection Services Within the City of 
Pinole. 

WHEREAS, the City of Pinole ("City") desires to expand and supplement the current fire protection services provided within the City;

WHEREAS, only one of the City's two fire stations is currently operational;

WHEREAS, the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District ("District") is able to provide a level of fire protection services
within the City that would exceed current service levels, while reopening and staffing the fire station that is currently 
non-operational; 

WHEREAS, the District and City have negotiated terms of a proposed fire protection services agreement ("Agreement"),
attached to this Resolution and incorporated by reference as Exhibit A; 

WHEREAS, the parties have also negotiated two leases for the two fire stations located within the City that set forth the terms
under which the District would occupy the two stations during the term of the Agreement; 

WHEREAS, the District would be paid by the City for budgeted direct and indirect costs incurred in the performance of services
under this Agreement; 

WHEREAS, the County of Contra Costa by Resolution No. 2022/332, has allocated from Measure X funds the amount of
$2,000,000 annually, adjusted annually by the percentage change in the Consumer Price Index- All Urban Consumers for the 
San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward Area for the twelve-month period ending with the February index of the calendar year in which 
the adjustment is made, but not to exceed four percent per year, through fiscal year 2027 /28 to facilitate this partnership for 
services between the District and the City; 

WHEREAS, because the City is not within the District's service boundary, services under the Agreement may not commence
until the Agreement is submitted to and approved by the Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission ("LAFCO") 
pursuant to Government Code section 56134, which provides that a "public agency may provide new or extended services 
pursuant to a fire protection contract only if it first requests and receives written approval from the [local agency formation] 
commission in the affected county pursuant to the requirements of this section" (Gov. Code, § 56134, subd. (b)); 

WHEREAS, the District has prepared an application for a fire protection service contract, as required by LAFCO, and a service
plan ("Service Plan"), in accordance with Government Code section 56134, subdivision (e), that details the cost of the new or 
extended fire protection services, the plan for financing these services and the services to be provided under the Agreement, 
among other provisions, which are attached to this Resolution and incorporated by reference as Exhibits B and C, respectively; 

WHEREAS, the City, in coordination with the District, has had an independent fiscal analysis prepared in accordance with
Government Code section 56134, subdivision {f), which shows that the financial terms of the contract are feasible and 
sustainable. This analysis is attached to this Resolution and incorporated by reference as Exhibit D, and; 

WHEREAS,in accordance with Government Code section 56134, subdivision (d)(l)(A), the District has prepared a written
agreement with the City of Pinole, Local 1230 and UCOA, whereby each entity consents to the Agreement, which is attached to 

Attachment 6





 

 

November 9, 2022 

Agenda Item 8 

 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 
 

Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) 

40 Muir Road, 1st Floor 

Martinez, CA  94553 
 

2nd Round Municipal Services Review and Sphere of Influence Updates 
Contra Costa Mosquito & Vector Control District and  

Contra Costa Resource Conservation District   
 

Dear Members of the Commission: 
 

OVERVIEW AND PROCESS: 
 In November 2021, Contra Costa LAFCO initiated its 2nd Round Municipal Services Review (MSR) and Sphere 
of Influence (SOI) updates covering countywide mosquito & vector control and resource conservation services.  
 

MSRs provide an assessment of the scope and adequacy of municipal services provided in Contra Costa County 

(CCC) and a basis for making LAFCO determinations relating to growth & population; 

location/characteristics of disadvantaged communities; capacity of public facilities, services and 

infrastructure; financial ability of agencies to provide services; opportunities for shared facilities; and 

accountability, governance structure and operational efficiencies.  

The MSR culminates in updating the SOIs for the subject agencies. The MSR is an important tool for LAFCO 

in fulfilling its legislative mandate to coordinate the efficient and logical development of local government 

agencies and services and in establishing future service boundary changes.  

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. (EPS) prepared the mosquito & vector control and resource conservation 

services MSR.  
 

On August 10, 2022, the Commission received an overview of the Public Review Contra Costa Mosquito & 
Vector Control District (CCMVCD) and Contra Costa Resource Conservation District (CCRCD) MSR. The 
2nd round “CCMVCD and CCRCD” MSR focuses on the following:  
 

 Updating agency profile data including growth and population, financial position and capacity (i.e., expenses, 

revenues, debt, reserves, fees, net position, other fiscal indicators), and staffing/management 

 Capacity of public services, capital needs, and service to disadvantaged communities 

 Shared services/facilities and collaboration 

 Accountability, structure and efficiencies 
 Governance structure options 



Executive Officer’s Report 

 (CCMVCD) and (CCRCD) Municipal Services Review (MSR)/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 2 

 

 

Following the August 10th LAFCO public hearing, the consultants updated the MSR to reflect Commissioner, 
local agencies, and public comments (see Attachment 1 - Comment Log). The Final Draft CCMVCD and 
CCRCD MSR was posted on the LAFCO website on October 6th.  

 

On November 9th, the Commission will hold a public hearing at which time the consultants will provide 

comments regarding updates to the MSR and be available to respond to questions. The Commission will 

receive public comment, consider accepting the Final MSR, make the required MSR and SOI determinations, 

and update the SOIs for the districts. 

 

DISCUSSION: This MSR covers CCMVCD and CCRCD. A brief description of the districts is provided below. 

 

 CCMVCD was formed in 1926 as an independent special district to provide mosquito abatement services in 

response to mosquito overpopulation and encephalitis and malaria outbreaks. Since formation, the District 

added other vector control programs to its services, including yellowjackets, honey bees, ticks, rats, mice, and 

skunks. In addition, CCMVCD provides identification of ticks, and education about honey bees, along with 

various educational and outreach programs. The District’s service area is countywide and coterminous with the 

CCC boundary. The principal act that governs the District is the Mosquito Abatement and Vector Control 

District Law (Health and Safety Code §2000 et seq.). The principal act empowers such districts to conduct 

surveillance programs and other studies of vectors and vector-borne diseases, take appropriate actions to prevent 

the occurrence of vectors and vector-borne diseases, and take necessary actions to abate or control vectors and 

vector-borne diseases. 
 

CCMVCD is governed by a 22-member Board of Directors appointed by the CCC Board of Supervisors and 

City Councils of each incorporated city within the District’s boundary. There are currently 18 members of the 

Board, with vacancies in the Clayton, El Cerrito, and San Pablo positions. 
 

 CCRCD was formed in 1941 as an independent special district, and the District’s service area is countywide 

and coterminous with CCC’s boundary. The principal act that governs CCRCD is Division 9 of the California 

Public Resources Code, beginning at §9001. The principal act empowers resource conservation districts to 

control runoff, prevent and control soil erosion, protect water quality, develop, and distribute water, improve 

land capabilities, and facilitate coordinated resource management efforts for watershed restoration and 

enhancement.  
 

CCRCD is governed by a voluntary, five-member Board of Directors appointed by the CCC Board of 

Supervisors. CCRCD also has five Associate Board members. CCRCD has a total of 10 staff members (full 

and part-time). 

 
This 2nd round MSR includes an analysis of the MSR and SOI determinations which are summarized below and 

included in the attached LAFCO resolutions (Attachment 1 and Attachment 2). 

 
MSR  Determinations - In accordance with the MSR, LAFCO must prepare written determinations relating to the 

following factors: 
 

1. Growth and population projections for the affected area 

2. The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities (DUCs) within or 

contiguous to the SOI (LAFCO looks at “disadvantaged communities” which includes both incorporated and 

unincorporated areas)  

3. Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure needs or 

deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire 

protection in any DUCs within or contiguous to the SOI 



Executive Officer’s Report 

 (CCMVCD) and (CCRCD) Municipal Services Review (MSR)/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 3 

 

 

4. Financial ability of agencies to provide services 

5. Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities 

6. Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and operational efficiencies 

7. Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by commission policy 

 

The MSR report includes an analysis of each of these factors as noted in the LAFCO resolutions (attached). 

The table below provides a summary of MSR determinations for both districts.  
 

Determination CCMVCD CCRCD 

Growth and 

Population 

Both districts are countywide. Current population is approximately 1,156,555 (California Dept. 

of Finance 2022). Annual growth rate is 0.71%, which will add approximately 156,000 

residents by 2040 - a total increase of about 13%. 

Location of 

Disadvantaged 

communities 

(DACs) 

There is one city – City of San Pablo, and one Census Designated Place (CDP) – Bethel Island  

that meet the disadvantaged definition as a whole. The remaining DACs reflect census tracts 

and block groups that do not align with city or CDP boundaries. Both districts are countywide 

and include the same DACs.  

Present & 

Planned 

Capacity and 

Adequacy of 

Public Services, 

Infrastructure 

Needs & 

Deficiencies  

Existing CCMVCD-owned facilities allow 

for adequate service levels, but staff 

indicates the office space is suboptimal. The 

District is exploring plans to renovate the 

office to better serve CCC residents and 

property owners.  

The services provided by CCMVCD are 

more comprehensive since the last MSR in 

terms of scope, number of programs, and 

professional management practices. 

Urbanized areas have greater demand for 

source control services targeted at manmade 

structures, such as swimming pools; while 

control services in rural areas are targeted at 

natural and agricultural vector sources, such 

as offering technical expertise to 

landowners regarding improved drainage or 

surveying marshland. Services continue to 

evolve to address emerging vectors of 

concern. 

Existing CCRCD-owned and leased facilities are 

sufficient. The District leases shared workspace 

at Industrious Concord and at the National 

Resource Conservation Services’ office. CCRCD 

services have expanded and are more 

comprehensive since the 2010 MSR 

in terms of scope, number of programs, and 

professional management practices.  

About 55% of CCC’s land area is farmland. 

Prime farmland in CCC decreased by 32% (2000 

to 2018), and the number of Williamson Act 

contracts declined over the last 20 years. 

Farming activities are an indicator of the demand 

for resource conservation services.  

CCRSD substantially expanded its watershed 

and working lands programs since the prior 

MSR, with six new watershed programs and 

eight new working lands programs since 2010. 

New working lands programs include a carbon 

farm planning project focused on carbon 

sequestration, creation of the EcoStewards 

Conservation Program, and urban agriculture 

technical assistance. 

Financial 

Ability of the 

Agencies to 

Provide Services 

CCMVCD reports adequate revenue to 

provide services. Revenue sources include 

property tax (75%) and benefit assessments 

(23%). Both revenues sources are reliable. 

The District reports its budget is adequate to 

provide services, and it has had a positive 

net income for the past seven fiscal years.  

CCRCD reports adequate revenue to provide 

services. Revenue sources include grants & 

contracts (78%) and property tax (19%).  
CCRCD is successful at applying for and 

securing grant revenue and relies heavily on 

revenue from grants/contracts. The MSR notes 

that grants are competitive and can fluctuate; and 

that CCRCD should monitor expenditures.     



Executive Officer’s Report 

 (CCMVCD) and (CCRCD) Municipal Services Review (MSR)/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 4 

 

 

Status of and 

Opportunities 

for Shared 

Facilities 

CCMVCD does not share facilities; 

however, it benefits from cooperative 

relationships with other agencies, including 

California Dept. of Public Health, UC 

Davis, and many other regional agencies. 

CCRCD does not share facilities; however, it 

benefits from cooperative relationships with 

other agencies. 

Community 

Service Needs 

(governmental 

structure, 

operational 

efficiencies) 

CCMVCD is accountable to its service 

population and provides transparent 

governance and operations information. The 

District’s website provides access to the 

agendas and minutes for the Board 

meetings, as well as annual budgets and 

audits.  

CCRCD is well-managed, conducts annual 

employee and agency performance evaluations, 

maintains up-to-date financial information and 

budgets, and conducts strategic planning for 

future service needs.  

CCRCD is accountable to its service population 

and provides transparent governance and service 

information. CCRCD’s website provides access 

to the Board agendas/minutes, financial and 

other information. 

Other Matters 

Related to 

Effective or 

Efficient Service 

Delivery  

COVID-19 affected demand for the 

CCMVCD’s services and its ability to offer 

educational programs and activities. 

CCMVCD is working to reestablish all 

programs.  

COVID-19 affected CCRCD’s ability to offer 

educational programs and activities, and the 

District is working to reestablish all programs.  

 
Sphere of Influence (SOI) Determinations - In accordance with the MSR, LAFCO must prepare written 

determinations relating to the following relevant factors: 
 

1. Present and planned land uses in the area, including agricultural and open-space lands 

2. Present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area 

3. Present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency provides or is authorized to 

provide 

4. Existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area if the Commission determines that they 

are relevant to the agency  

5. Nature, location, and extent of any functions or classes of services provided by the existing district 

 

The MSR report includes an analysis of each of these factors as reflected in attached LAFCO resolutions. The table 

below provides a summary of SOI determinations for CCMVCD and CCRCD. 

 

SOI 

Determination 

CCMVCD CCRCD 

Present and 

planned land use 

CCMVCD’s boundary encompasses a wide 

variety of land uses as its bounds include 

the entirety of CCC. CCMVCD provides 

mosquito abatement and vector control 

services including yellowjackets, honey 

bees, ticks, rats, mice, and skunks along 

with various educational and outreach 

programs. 

CCRCD’s boundary encompasses a wide 

variety of land uses as its bounds include the 

entirety of CCC. Agricultural land made up 

55% of the District’s land area (2018). 

CCRCD provides services to conserve 

natural resources including agricultural 

areas, by retaining the existing SOI, the 

District will continue to promote the 

conservation of agricultural and open space 

lands throughout CCC. 

Present and 

probable need for 

There is a present and probable need for 

mosquito & vector control services in CCC 

There is a present and probable need for 

resource conservation services which are 



Executive Officer’s Report 

 (CCMVCD) and (CCRCD) Municipal Services Review (MSR)/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 5 

 

 

public facilities & 

services 

due to public health concerns of existing 

and future vector-borne diseases. No 

changes in public facilities or services 

provided by CCMVCD will result from 

retaining the existing coterminous SOI. 

pertinent to rural and urban areas. As CCC 

urbanizes, CCRCD services will gradually 

shift to focus more on urban needs. The 

recent trend to be more environmentally 

conscious, along with increased public 

awareness of ecological needs, will likely 

increase demand for CCRCD services. 

Capacity of public 

facilities and 

adequacy of public 

services 

CCMVCD provides adequate mosquito & 

vector control services and continues to 

improve and expand its programming. The 

District’s facilities are adequate but in need 

of renovations. Retaining the current SOI 

will not impact the present capacity of 

public facilities and adequacy of public 

services that CCMVCD provides.  

CCRCD provides adequate resource 

conservation services and continues to 

improve and expand its programming. The 

present facilities have adequate capacity for 

CCRCD to provide services well into the 

future. Retaining the current SOI will not 

impact the present capacity of public 

facilities and adequacy of public services that 

CCRCD provides. 

Social or economic 

communities of 

interest  

CCMVCD serves all of CCC, which 

includes DACs. Retaining the current SOI 

will not affect the existence of social or 

economic communities of interest.  

CCRCD serves all of CCC, which includes 

DACs. Retaining the current SOI will not 

affect the existence of social or economic 

communities of interest. 

Nature, location, 

functions and 

classes of service  

CCMVCD serves all of CCC. Retaining 

the coterminous SOI will have no direct 

impact on other local agencies. 

CCRCD serves all of CCC. Retaining the 

coterminous SOI will have no direct impact 

on other local agencies. 

Recommendation  Retain existing coterminous SOI Retain existing coterminous SOI 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS 
 

The MSR is a study, intended to serve as an informational tool to help LAFCO, local agencies and the public better 

understand the public service structure in CCC. The MSR study and determinations are statutorily exempt from the 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under §15262 of the CEQA Guidelines as a feasibility or planning 

study. The LAFCO SOI updates are categorically exempt from CEQA under §15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines 

because it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the activity may have a significant effect on the 

environment. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. Receive the staff and consultants’ comments and open the public hearing to receive public comments;  
2. After receiving public comments close the hearing; 

3. Provide comments as desired; 

4. Determine that the MSR project is statutorily exempt from CEQA pursuant to §15262 of the CEQA 

Guidelines;  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Executive Officer’s Report 

 (CCMVCD) and (CCRCD) Municipal Services Review (MSR)/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 6 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS -CONTINUED 
 

5. Receive the staff and consultants’ comments and open the public hearing to receive public comments;  
6. After receiving public comments close the hearing; 

7. Provide comments as desired; 

8. Determine that the MSR project is statutorily exempt from CEQA pursuant to §15262 of the CEQA 

Guidelines;  

9. Determine that the SOI updates are categorically exempt from CEQA pursuant to §15061(b)(3) of the 

CEQA Guidelines; 
10. Accept the final 2nd round CCRCD and CCMVCD Final MSR and SO) Updates; and 

11. Adopt the MSR/SOI determinations for CCRCD and CCMVCD by resolutions attached hereto.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

LOU ANN TEXEIRA 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

c: Distribution 
 

 

Exhibits 

A. Boundary/SOI Map – CCMVCD 

B. Boundary/SOI Map – CCRCD 

 

Attachments 

1. MSR and SOI Resolution – CCMVCD 

2. MSR and SOI Resolution – CCRCD 

3. Comment Log 
 



Webb
Tract

Byron
Tract

Jersey
Island

Holland
Tract

Palm
Tract

Orwood
Tract

Bradford
Island

Coney
Island

Winter
Island

ANTIOCH OAKLEY

PITTSBURG

BRENTWOOD

Knightsen

Byron

Bethel
Island

Bay
Point

Discovery
Bay

Clyde

Camino
Tassajara

Norris
Canyon

Diablo

Blackhawk

Alamo

SAN
RAMON

DANVILLE

Canyon

TaraHills

Briones

Port
Costa

Mt
View

Alhambra
Valley

Castle
Hill

N
Rich

Kensington

Crockett

Saranap

Vine
Hill

Pacheco

Reliez
 Valley

 ElSobrante

Rodeo

SAN
PABLO

EL
CERRITO

PLEASANT
HILL

HERCULES
PINOLE

MORAGA

MARTINEZ

ORINDA

RICHMOND

LAFAYETTE Mt
Diablo

NorthGateSanMiguel

CLAYTON
WALNUT
CREEK

CONCORD

ContraCostaCentre
ShellRidge

BayView

Mont.Man.

E Rich
Heights

Rolling-wood

AcalanesRidge

San 
Pablo

Bay

San
Francisco

Bay

Suisun
Bay

Big
Break

Clifton
Court

Forebay
Los

Vaqueros
Reservoir

San
Pablo
Reservoir Briones

Reservoir

San Joaquin RiverCarquinez

S t ra it

Old River

Sacramento  River

Franks
Tract

580

680

880

780

280 205

980
80

680

580

24

13

160

242

4

160

80

680

4

4
4

80

580

Alameda
County

Solano
County

San
Francisco

County

Marin
County

San
Joaquin
County

Sacramento
County

Alameda
County

Browns
Island

Mosquito & Vector Control District and Coterminous SOI

0 10 205

MilesMap created 10/18/2022

by Contra Costa County Department of

Conservation and Development, GIS Group

30 Muir Road, Martinez, CA 94553

37:59:41.791N  122:07:03.756W

This map or dataset was created by the Contra Costa County Department of Conservation
and Development with data from the Contra Costa County GIS Program.  Some 

base data, primarily City Limits, is derived from the CA State Board of Equalization's
tax rate areas. While obligated to use this data the County assumes no responsibility for

its accuracy. This map contains copyrighted information and may not be altered.  It may be 
reproduced in its current state if the source is cited. Users of this map agree to read and 

accept the County of Contra Costa disclaimer of liability for geographic information.

Mosquito & Vector Control District

City Boundaries

Contra Costa County

County Urban Limit Line

By LAFCO action on 11/09/2022, 
Contra Costa Mosquito & Vector Control 
District boundary and coterminous SOI

were approved

Exhibit A



Attachment 1 

RESOLUTION OF THE CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION 

COMMISSION ADOPTING MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW AND  

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE DETERMINATIONS FOR THE  

CONTRA COSTA MOSQUITO AND VECTOR CONTROL DISTRICT  

WHEREAS, the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Governmental Reorganization Act of 2000 (California 

Government Code §56000 et seq.) provides that a Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) shall adopt 

Spheres of Influence (SOIs) for each local governmental agency within its jurisdiction [§56425(a)] and update SOIs 

every five years, as necessary [§56425(g)]; and 

WHEREAS, the SOI is the primary planning tool for LAFCO and defines the probable physical boundary 

and service area of a local agency as determined by LAFCO; and 

WHEREAS, §56430 requires that in order to update SOIs, the Commission shall prepare a Municipal 

Service Review (MSR) prior to or in conjunction with the SOI update; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission undertook its 2nd round “Contra Costa Resource Conservation District 

(CCRCD) and Contra Costa Mosquito & Vector Control District (CCMVCD)” MSR covering the two countywide 

districts in Contra Costa County; and  

WHEREAS, this MSR, as prepared by Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. (EPS), focuses on 1) updating 

profile data including growth and population, finances (expenses, revenues, debt, reserves, fees, net income, and 

other fiscal indicators) and staffing/management; 2) capacity and capital needs; 3) service to disadvantaged 

communities; 4) shared services/facilities and collaboration; and 5) accountability, structure, and efficiencies; and  

WHEREAS, on August 10, 2022, the Commission held a public hearing to receive an overview of the 

Public Review Draft CCRCD and CCMVCD MSR, receive public comments, and provide input; and 

WHEREAS, on November 9, 2022, the Commission held a public hearing to receive the Final Draft MSR 

and recommended MSR and SOI determinations and SOI updates for CCCRCD and CCMVCD; and  

WHEREAS, at the public hearing, the Commission heard and received all oral and written comments, 

evidence, and protests which were made, presented, and filed, and all persons present were given an opportunity to 

hear and be heard with respect to the MSR and SOI updates; and 

WHEREAS, the MSR contains the determinations required by §§56425 and 56430 relative to the SOI 

update and MSR, respectively, for the CCMVCD incorporated in this resolution; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed action consists of adopting the MSR and SOI determinations and updating the 

SOI for each district, including CCMVCD, as presented in the 2nd round “CCRCD and CCMVCD MSR”; and 

WHEREAS, adoption of the MSR is statutorily exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA), as MSRs are feasibility and planning studies for possible future actions that have not been 

approved, adopted, or funded, pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15262; and 

WHEREAS, as set forth in State CEQA Guidelines section 15061(b)(3), approval of the SOI update is 

exempt from CEQA because it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the SOI update will have a 

significant effect on the environment. 



Contra Costa LAFCO Resolution 

CCMVCD MSR (MSR/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

Page 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Contra Costa LAFCO hereby adopts the following MSR 

determinations for CCMVCD pursuant to §56430; retains the existing coterminous SOI for CCMVCD as shown in 

Exhibit A (attached); and adopts the following SOI determinations pursuant to §56425.  

MSR DETERMINATIONS 

1. Growth and Population Projections  

a) The residential population served by CCMVCD is approximately 1,156,555 as of 2022 based on California 

Department of Finance estimates.  

b) The District’s residential population is projected to increase at an average of 0.71%, with expected growth of 

approximately 13%, or 156,000 people, between 2022 and 2040, for a total population in 2040 of 

approximately 1,312,536 people.  

2. The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the 

sphere of influence  

a) There are several disadvantaged communities in Contra Costa County, all of which appear to have reasonable 

access to mosquito and vector-control services.  

b) In disadvantaged communities, CCMVCD makes an extra effort to reach community members where they 

are, whether at school, on social media, at work, or at community events.  

c) During the past 5 years, CCMVCD’s Public Affairs Department provided 103 forms of outreach to 

disadvantaged communities. These forms of outreach included brochures, social media posts, presentations, and 

in-person opportunities for residents to ask questions and receive immediate answers.  

3. Present and Planned Capacity of Public Facilities and Adequacy of Public Services, Including Infrastructure 

Needs and Deficiencies  

a) Existing CCMVCD-owned facilities allow the District to provide adequate service levels, but staff indicates 

the office space is suboptimal. The District is exploring plans to renovate the office to better serve County 

residents and property owners.  

b) The services provided by CCMVCD are more comprehensive since the prior MSR was prepared and continue 

to evolve to address emerging vectors of concern in an evidence-based and environmentally sensitive manner.  

4. Financial Ability of Agencies to Provide Services  

a) The District reports that the current budget is sufficient for adequate service provision.  

b) In FY20/21, approximately 75% of the District’s revenues came from property taxes, with 23% from benefit 

assessments. These two revenue items comprise nearly 100% of annual CCMVCD revenues in all years 

examined in this report and have historically proven to be consistent and reliable revenue streams for the District 

to fund its operations.  

c) The District reported a positive net income for the past seven fiscal years which serves as an indication of the 

District’s financial ability to provide services.  

 

5. Status of, and Opportunities for, Shared Facilities  

 a) While CCMVCD does not share any facilities, the District benefits from cooperative relationships with other 

agencies, such as the California Department of Public Health and UC Davis, as well as many other regional 

agencies, to provide efficient services.  

 

6. Accountability for Community Service Needs, Including Governmental Structure and Operational Efficiencies  

a) CCMVCD is accountable to its service population and provides transparent governance and operations 

information. The District’s website provides access to the agendas and minutes for the Board meetings, as well 

as annual budgets and audits.  



Contra Costa LAFCO Resolution 

CCMVCD MSR (MSR/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

Page 3 

       b) The District responded to LAFCO’s requests for information in a timely manner.  

 

7. Any Other Matter Related to Efficient Service Delivery, As Required by Commission Policy  

a) COVID-19 affected demand for CCMVCD’s services and affected the District’s ability to offer educational 

programs and activities, but the District is working to reestablish all programs.  

 

SOI DETERMINATIONS  

 

1. Present and planned land uses in the area, including agricultural and open-space lands.  

CCMVCD’s boundary encompass a wide variety of land uses as its bounds include the entirety of Contra Costa 

County. Agricultural land comprises 55% of the District’s land area (2018). Urban, built-up, and other land uses 

comprise 33% and 11% of land area respectively. Incorporated areas comprise 37% of the County’s total land area. 

The SOI recommendation is to retain the existing coterminous SOI; 

 

2. Present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area.  

There is a present and probable need for mosquito and vector control services in the area due to public health 

concerns of existing and future vector-borne diseases. No changes in public facilities or services provided by 

CCMVCD will result from retaining the existing coterminous SOI.  

  

3. Present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency provides or is authorized to 

provide.  

CCMVCD provides adequate mosquito and vector control services and continues to improve and expand its 

programming. The District’s facilities are adequate but in need of renovations so that the District may continue to 

provide services well into the future. Retaining the current SOI will not impact the present capacity of public 

facilities and adequacy of public services that CCMVCD provides or is authorized to provide.  
 

4. Existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area if the commission determines that they 

are relevant to the agency.  

CCMVCD serves the entirety of Contra Costa County, which includes various disadvantaged areas. Retaining the 

current SOI will not affect the existence of any social or economic communities of interest.  

 

5. Nature, location, and extent of any functions or classes of services provided by existing districts. (For Special 

Districts only.)  

CCMVCD serves all of Contra Costa County. Retaining the coterminous SOI will have no direct impact on other 

local agencies. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 9th day of November 2022. 

 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSTENTIONS:  

ABSENT:  

 

      

Rob Schroder, Chair, Contra Costa LAFCO 

 

I hereby certify that this is a correct copy of a resolution passed and adopted by the Commission on the date stated above. 

 

           

 Lou Ann Texeira, Executive Officer 



Webb
Tract

Byron
Tract

Jersey
Island

Holland
Tract

Palm
Tract

Orwood
Tract

Bradford
Island

Coney
Island

Winter
Island

ANTIOCH OAKLEY

PITTSBURG

BRENTWOOD

Knightsen

Byron

Bethel
Island

Bay
Point

Discovery
Bay

Clyde

Camino
Tassajara

Norris
Canyon

Diablo

Blackhawk

Alamo

SAN
RAMON

DANVILLE

Canyon

TaraHills

Briones

Port
Costa

Mt
View

Alhambra
Valley

Castle
Hill

N
Rich

Kensington

Crockett

Saranap

Vine
Hill

Pacheco

Reliez
 Valley

 ElSobrante

Rodeo

SAN
PABLO

EL
CERRITO

PLEASANT
HILL

HERCULES
PINOLE

MORAGA

MARTINEZ

ORINDA

RICHMOND

LAFAYETTE Mt
Diablo

NorthGateSanMiguel

CLAYTON
WALNUT
CREEK

CONCORD

ContraCostaCentre
ShellRidge

BayView

Mont.Man.

E Rich
Heights

Rolling-wood

AcalanesRidge

San 
Pablo

Bay

San
Francisco

Bay

Suisun
Bay

Big
Break

Clifton
Court

Forebay
Los

Vaqueros
Reservoir

San
Pablo
Reservoir Briones

Reservoir

San Joaquin RiverCarquinez

S t ra it

Old River

Sacramento  River

Franks
Tract

580

680

880

780

280 205

980
80

680

580

24

13

160

242

4

160

80

680

4

4
4

80

580

Alameda
County

Solano
County

San
Francisco

County

Marin
County

San
Joaquin
County

Sacramento
County

Alameda
County

Browns
Island

Resource Conservation District and Coterminous SOI

0 10 205

MilesMap created 04/21/2022

by Contra Costa County Department of

Conservation and Development, GIS Group

30 Muir Road, Martinez, CA 94553

37:59:41.791N  122:07:03.756W

This map or dataset was created by the Contra Costa County Department of Conservation
and Development with data from the Contra Costa County GIS Program.  Some 

base data, primarily City Limits, is derived from the CA State Board of Equalization's
tax rate areas. While obligated to use this data the County assumes no responsibility for

its accuracy. This map contains copyrighted information and may not be altered.  It may be 
reproduced in its current state if the source is cited. Users of this map agree to read and 

accept the County of Contra Costa disclaimer of liability for geographic information.

Resource Conservation District

City Boundaries

Contra Costa County

County Urban Limit Line

By LAFCO action on 11/09/2022, 
Contra Costa Resource 

Conservation District 
boundary and coterminous SOI

were approved

Exhibit B



Attachment 2 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION 

COMMISSION ADOPTING MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW AND  

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE DETERMINATIONS FOR THE  

CONTRA COSTA RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT  

 
 

 WHEREAS, the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Governmental Reorganization Act of 2000 (California 

Government Code §56000 et seq.) provides that a Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) shall adopt 

Spheres of Influence (SOIs) for each local governmental agency within its jurisdiction [§56425(a)] and update SOIs 

every five years, as necessary [§56425(g)]; and 
 

WHEREAS, the SOI is the primary planning tool for LAFCO and defines the probable physical boundary 

and service area of a local agency as determined by LAFCO; and 
 

WHEREAS, §56430 requires that in order to update SOIs, the Commission shall prepare a Municipal 

Service Review (MSR) prior to or in conjunction with the SOI update; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Commission undertook its 2nd round “Contra Costa Resource Conservation District 

(CCRCD) and Contra Costa Mosquito & Vector Control District (CCMVCD)” MSR covering the two countywide 

districts in Contra Costa County; and  
 

WHEREAS, this MSR, as prepared by Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. (EPS), focuses on 1) updating 

profile data including growth and population, finances (expenses, revenues, debt, reserves, fees, net income, and 

other fiscal indicators) and staffing/management; 2) capacity and capital needs; 3) service to disadvantaged 

communities; 4) shared services/facilities and collaboration; and 5) accountability, structure, and efficiencies; 

and  
 

WHEREAS, on August 10, 2022, the Commission held a public hearing to receive an overview of the 

Public Review Draft CCRCD and CCMVCD MSR, receive public comments, and provide input; and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 9, 2022, the Commission held a public hearing to receive the Final Draft MSR 

and recommended MSR and SOI determinations and SOI updates for CCCRCD and CCMVCD; and  
 

WHEREAS, at the public hearing, the Commission heard and received all oral and written comments, 

evidence, and protests which were made, presented, and filed, and all persons present were given an opportunity to 

hear and be heard with respect to the MSR and SOI updates; and 
 

WHEREAS, the MSR contains the determinations required by §§56425 and 56430 relative to the SOI 

update and MSR, respectively, for the CCRCD incorporated in this resolution; and 
   
 WHEREAS, the proposed action consists of adopting the MSR and SOI determinations and updating the 

SOI for each district, including CCRCD, as presented in the 2nd round “CCRCD and CCMVCD MSR”; and 
 

 WHEREAS, adoption of the MSR is statutorily exempt from the provisions of the California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA), as MSRs are feasibility and planning studies for possible future actions that have not been 

approved, adopted, or funded, pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15262; and 

 

WHEREAS, as set forth in State CEQA Guidelines section 15061(b)(3), approval of the SOI update is 

exempt from CEQA because it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the SOI update will have a 

significant effect on the environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Contra Costa LAFCO hereby adopts the following MSR 

determinations for CCRCD pursuant to §56430; retains the existing coterminous SOI for CCRCD as shown in 

Exhibit A (attached); and adopts the following SOI determinations pursuant to §56425.  

 



Contra Costa LAFCO Resolution 

CCRCD MSR (MSR/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

Page 2 

 

 

 

MSR DETERMINATIONS 
 

1. Growth and Population Projections  

a) The residential population served by CCRCD is approximately 1,156,555 as of 2022 based on California 

Department of Finance estimates.  

b) The District’s residential population is projected to increase at an average of 0.71% annually, with 

expected growth of approximately 13%, or 156,000 people, between 2022 and 2040, for a total population 

in 2040 of approximately 1,312,536 people.  

 
2. The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous 

to the SOI  

a) There are various disadvantaged communities in Contra Costa County, all of which appear to have 

reasonable access to resource conservation services, including education programming.  

b) CCRCD has made a concerted effort since the 2010 MSR to expand and improve its program offerings to 

these communities through the undertaking of a water needs assessment, resulting in the implementation of a 

resource guide and a tap water testing protocol. The District is also holding community workshops to 

prioritize implementation of projects that address priority issues.  
 

3. Present and Planned Capacity of Public Facilities and Adequacy of Public Services, Including 

Infrastructure Needs and Deficiencies  

a) Existing CCRCD-owned and leased facilities are sufficient for the District to provide adequate service 

levels. The District leases shared workspace at Industrious Concord and shares space at its partner National 

Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) office, where records and files are maintained, as well as a weather 

station in Brentwood. The shared workspace provides adequate space for the needs and purposes of 

CCRCD, and the District has no intention to move in the near future.  

b) CCRCD services have expanded and are more comprehensive since the 2010 MSR, in terms of scope and 

number of programs as well as professional management practices.  

c) Farming activities are an indicator of the demand for resource conservation services. As the amount of 

farming activity increases so does the demand for resource conservation services, to ensure that regenerative 

farming practices are being used. Approximately 55% of Contra Costa County land area is farmland.  

d) An important aim of a resource conservation district is to provide producers additional resources to ensure 

economic viability of their land. The total acreage of prime farmland in Contra Costa County has decreased 

by 32% from 2000 to 2018.  

e) In addition, the California Land Conservation Act (Williamson Act) protects agricultural land by lowering 

property tax liability for landowners who contract with counties and cities to restrict their land to agricultural 

and open space uses. Within Contra Costa County, the total area with Williamson Act contracts has been 

declining over the last two decades. As of 2018, Williamson Act Land comprised 42,055 acres or about 16% 

of the County’s total agricultural area.  

f) CCRCD substantially expanded its watershed and working lands programs since the prior MSR, with six 

new watershed programs and eight new working lands programs since 2010.  

g) New watershed programs include launching the Countywide Monarch Conservation Program, forming 

the Carquinez Recover the Waterfront Committee to create a community park and greenspace along the 

Carquinez Strait, and developing the Marsh Creek Watershed Council, among other project assistance and 

coordination efforts.  



Contra Costa LAFCO Resolution 

CCRCD MSR (MSR/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

Page 3 

 

 

h) New working lands programs include a carbon farm planning project focused on carbon sequestration, 

creation of the EcoStewards Conservation Program, and urban agriculture technical assistance.  
 

 

 

 

4. Financial Ability of Agencies to Provide Services  

    a) CCRCD’s current level of financing appear sufficient for adequate service provision.  

b) Since the prior MSR, the District has expanded its staffing levels strategically based on funding 

availability and has added additional programs.  

c) CCRCD is successful at applying for and securing grant revenue, and the District relies heavily on revenue 

from grants and contracts. During the past six fiscal years, grants and contracts represent an average of 66% 

of the District’s total revenues. Because grants are often competitive, this funding source is prone to 

fluctuation. The District should monitor expenditures so that it is not overcommitted to providing services it 

cannot sustain should grant revenue discontinue.  
 

5. Status of, and Opportunities for, Shared Facilities  

a) No opportunities for facility sharing were identified.  

b) While CCRCD does not share any facilities, the District benefits from cooperative relationships with other 

agencies to provide efficient services.  
 

6. Accountability for Community Service Needs, Including Governmental Structure and Operational 

Efficiencies  

a) CCRCD is a well-managed agency that conducts annual employee and agency performance evaluations, 

maintains up-to-date financial information and budgets, and conducts strategic planning for future service 

needs.  

b) The District is accountable to its service population and provides transparent governance and operations 

information. The District’s website provides access to the agendas and minutes for the Board meetings, as well 

as annual budgets and audits.  

c) The District responded to LAFCO’s requests for information in a timely manner.  
 

7. Any Other Matter Related to Efficient Service Delivery, As Required by Commission Policy  

a) COVID-19 affected the District’s ability to offer educational programs and activities, but the District is 

working to reestablish all programs.  

 

SOI DETERMINATIONS 
 

1. Present and planned land uses in the area, including agricultural and open-space lands.  

CCRCD’s boundary encompasses a wide variety of land uses and includes the entirety of Contra Costa County. 

Agricultural land comprises 55% of the District’s land area (2018). Urban, built-up, and other land uses 

comprise 33% and 11% of land area respectively. Incorporated areas comprise 37% of the County’s total land 

area. The SOI recommendation to retain the existing coterminous SOI is not anticipated to directly impact 

agricultural and open space lands; however, as CCRCD provides services to conserve natural resources 

including agricultural areas, by retaining the existing SOI, the District will continue to promote conservation of 

agricultural and open space lands throughout the County.  

 

 



Contra Costa LAFCO Resolution 

CCRCD MSR (MSR/SOI) Updates (2nd Round) 

Page 4 

 

 

2. Present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area.  

There is a present and probable need for resource conservation services which are pertinent to rural as well as 

urban areas. As the County urbanizes, it is anticipated that the type of services CCRCD provides will gradually 

shift to focus more on urban needs. In addition, the recent trend to be more environmentally conscious 

combined with increased public awareness of ecological needs in the area will most likely result in increased 

demand for CCRCD services in the future.  
 

 

 

3. Present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency provides or is 

authorized to provide.  

CCRCD provides adequate resource conservation services and continues to improve and expand its 

programming. The present facilities have adequate capacity for the District to provide services well into the 

future. Retaining the current SOI will not impact the present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public 

services that CCRCD provides or is authorized to provide.  

 

4. Existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area if the commission determines that 

they are relevant to the agency.  

CCRCD serves the entirety of Contra Costa County, which includes various disadvantaged areas. Retaining the 

current SOI will not affect the existence of any social or economic communities of interest.  

 

5. Nature, location, and extent of any functions or classes of services provided by existing districts. (For 

Special Districts only.)  
CCRCD serves all of Contra Costa County. Retaining the coterminous SOI will have no direct impact on other local 

agencies. 
 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 9th day of November 2022. 
 

AYES:  

NOES:    

ABSTENTIONS:  

ABSENT:  

 

      

Rob Schroder, Chair, Contra Costa LAFCO 

 
I hereby certify that this is a correct copy of a resolution passed and adopted by the Commission on the date stated above. 

 

 

           

 Lou Ann Texeira, Executive Officer 



Z:\Shared\Projects\Oakland\211000s\211088_CoCoLAFCO_MosquitoVectorMSR\Report\ResponseTracker.docx 

Tracking of Responses to the Resource Conservation District and Mosquito & Vector Control District Municipal Service Review and 
Sphere of Influence Update Public Review Draft Report. Note that page numbers have shifted from the Public Review Draft to the 
Final Report.  

Name Agency/Role Comment Resolution 

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“P. 5 – “CCMVCD completed a study of the possibility of 
consolidating with Alameda County Mosquito Abatement 
District…” When was this study completed?” 

• Language added to Page 9 of
Final MSR to answer this
question

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“P. 19 - A key measure of farming sustainability in a region is 
the degree to which prime farmland is being converted to other 
uses. Prime farmland is land that is most suitable for general 
intensive agricultural uses because of its ability to sustain long-
term production of agricultural crops. An important aim of a 
resource conservation district is to promote and provide 
technical assistance for producers in using regenerative farming 
practices. The total acreage of prime farmland in Contra Costa 
County has decreased by 32 percent from 2000 to 2018, as 
shown in Figure 2.  Where does this definition come from?” 

• Language added to Page 23
of Final MSR indicating the
definition comes from the
California Dept. of
Conservation

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“P. 19 - Figure 2 Contra Costa County Prime Farmland, 2000-
2018   How does Figure 2 relate to Figure 1?” 

• Language added to Page 23
of Final MSR to indicate the
respective data sources for
Figures 1 and 2 differ and
therefore drawing direct
relationships between the
two may not be valid.

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“P. 19 - The 12,000-acre decline in the County’s prime farmland 
between 2000 and 2018 was primarily due to conversion of the 
land to other farmland categories such as farmland of Local 
importance. What is this? Citation?” 

• Footnote citation added to
Page 23 of Final MSR

Attachment 3



Z:\Shared\Projects\Oakland\211000s\211088_CoCoLAFCO_MosquitoVectorMSR\Report\ResponseTracker.docx 

 

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“Bottom of P. 26 and top of P. 27 – Did you consult with ACRCD 
to confirm the accuracy of this assessment?” 
 
(Bottom of Page 30 and top of Page 31 in Final MSR) 

• ACRCD was not directly 
contacted by the consultant 
team prior to writing this 
section. The LAFCO Director 
contacted staff at ACRCD 
regarding this subject and 
indicates that Alameda 
LAFCO staff is not aware of 
any potential consolidation 
discussions. 

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“P. 31 - The principal act that governs the District is the 
Mosquito Abatement and Vector Control District Law, originally 
called Mosquito Abatement Act of California of 1915, that was 
revised in 2003 (through SB 1588). The principal act empowers 
such districts to conduct surveillance programs and other 
studies of vectors and vector-borne diseases, take appropriate 
actions to prevent the occurrence of vectors and vector-borne 
diseases, and take necessary actions to abate or control vectors 
and vector-borne diseases. Citation? Add page number.” 

• Footnote citation added to 
page 35 of Final MSR 

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“P. 39 - Common vector-borne diseases, other than those 
carried by mosquitoes, include Lyme disease, rabies, hantavirus 
pulmonary syndrome, and plague.  (add commas)” 

• Commas added as requested 
to Page 43 of Final MSR  

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“P. 48 - The District is divided into 15 zones and each zone is 
assigned to a vector control technician. Would a map be 
useful?” 

• A map was acquired from 
MVCD staff and inserted as 
Figure 11 on page 55 of Final 
MSR  

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“P. 48 - The department managers report to the General 
Manager, who reports to the Board at regular Board meetings. 
How frequent?” 

• MVCD staff was contacted 
and language was added to 
page 54 of Final MSR that 
answers this question 

LAFCO 
Commissioner 

LAFCO 
Commission 

“Figure 11 – CCMVCD Revenues and Expenditures FY 2011 – 
2021 – The calls for service seem to be trending down (Figure 
10) while the fund balance is steadily increasing – should this be 
addressed in this MSR?” 

• Language added to page 58 
of Final MSR clarifying the 
reason for the increasing 
fund balance 

https://epsys.egnyte.com/dl/obTkYxaM9O


 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda)  

 

Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission  

40 Muir Road, First Floor 

Martinez, CA 94553 

 

2023 LAFCO Meeting Schedule 
 

Dear Commissioners: 

 

The Commissioner’s Handbook states that regular meetings of the Commission are held on 

the second Wednesday of each month commencing at 1:30 p.m. Regular meetings are held at 

the Board of Supervisors Chambers, 1025 Escobar Street, Martinez, unless otherwise noticed.   

 

The proposed 2022 meeting schedule is as follows. Following approval, the meeting schedule 

will be posted on the LAFCO website. 

 

January 11 April 12 July 12 October 11 

February 8 May 10 August 9 November 8 

March 8 June 14 September 13 December 13 
  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

It is recommended the Commission approve the 2023 LAFCO meeting schedule as proposed.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

LOU ANN TEXEIRA 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
 

November 9, 2022 

Agenda Item 9 



 

 

November 9, 2022 

 

Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission  

40 Muir Road, 1st Floor 

Martinez, CA 94553 

 

First Quarter Budget Report - Fiscal Year 2022-23 

 

Dear Members of the Commission: 

 

This is the first quarter budget report for FY 2022-23, which compares adopted and actual expenses 

and revenues for the period July 1, 2022 through September 30, 2022. 

 

The LAFCO operating budget includes several components: salaries/benefits, services/supplies, a 

contingency/reserve fund, Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Trust, and retirement pre-

funding account. The budget is based on the “bottom line,” which allows for variation within line-

item accounts if the overall balance remains positive. Funds may not be drawn from the 

contingency/reserve without Commission approval. 

 

The LAFCO budget is funded primarily by the County, cities, and independent special districts, 

with each group paying one-third of the LAFCO expenses. The County pays one-third and the city 

and district shares are prorated based on general revenues reported to the State Controller’s Office. 

LAFCO also receives revenue through application fees and interest earnings.   

 

DISCUSSION 
 

On June 8, 2022, LAFCO adopted its final FY 2022-23 budget with total appropriations of 

$911,613 which includes an $90,000 contingency/reserve fund. The FY 2022-23 budget does not 

include prefunding of LAFCO the Other Post Employment (OPEB) or prefunding of the Contra 

Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association (CCCERA) liability due to overfunding in both 

accounts.  

 

With 25% of the fiscal year elapsed, the Commission’s first quarter total expenditures are $162,259 

or approximately 18% of total appropriations. The Commission budgeted $401,067 in 

salaries/employee benefits (S&EB) for FY 2022-23; at the end of the first quarter, actual S&EB 

expenses total $97,245 or 24% of the budgeted amount. The Commission budgeted $420,546 in 

services/supplies; and at the end of the first quarter, actual expenses total $65,015 or 15%.  

 

November 9, 2022 

Agenda Item 10 



First Quarter Budget Report – FY 2022-23 
November 9, 2022 

Page 2 

 

The primary sources of revenue are local agency contributions, application fees, and available fund 

balance. Total revenues received during the first quarter are $884,483 (including fund balance) or 

approximately 97% of projected revenues. In calculating to the agency contributions, the Auditor’s 

Office and LAFCO staff agreed to waive apportionment payments which are less than $5.00 and 

have waived payments for RD 2090 and 2017. Further, these agencies reported no revenue to the 

State Controller’s Office. We are pleased to report that all local agencies have remitted their annual 

payments to LAFCO.  
 

As for application fees, first quarter FY 2022-23 application activity is slower than FY 2021-22 

activity. During the first quarter of FY 2022-23, LAFCO received one new application, whereas, 

during the first quarter of FY 2021-22 LAFCO received four new applications.   
 

Other revenue includes investment earnings through the OPEB trust account, which remains in 

that account, and fund balance. LAFCO budgets a portion of its fund balance annually to offset 

agency contributions. The FY 2022-23 budget includes $200,000 in budgeted fund balance. See 

table below for a summary of FY 2022-23 first quarter expenditures and revenues. 

 

Account FY 2022-23 

Final Budget 

First Quarter 

Actuals 

Salaries & Benefits $   401,067 $   97,245 

Services & Supplies      420,546      65,015 

Contingency/Reserve        90,000                0 

OPEB Trust        ---      --- 

CCCERA Pre-Fund        ---      --- 

Total Appropriations  $  911,613 $ 162,260 

   

Agency Contributions $   686,613 $  676,650 

Application/Other Revenue        25,000 $      7,833  

Interest Earnings -              - 

Fund Balance      200,000    200,000              

Total Revenues $   911,613 $ 884,483 

 

No budget adjustments are recommended at this time. LAFCO staff will continue to closely 

monitor the budget, and keep the Commission apprised. 

 

RECOMMENDATION   
 

It is recommended that the Commission receive the FY 2022-23 first quarter budget report.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

LOU ANN TEXEIRA 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 



 

 
November 9, 2022 
 

Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission  
40 Muir Road, First Floor 
Martinez, CA 94553 
 

2022 Legislative Wrap-up 
 

Dear Members of the Commission: 

 

The last day for the Governor to sign/veto bills was September 30, 2022. Bills signed by the 

Governor will take effect on January 1, 2023. The 2022 legislative session adjourns on November 

30, 2022 and the 2023 regular legislative session convenes on December 5, 2023. 

  

This year, CALAFCO tracked a total of 29 bills, and of the tracked bills, CALAFCO supported 

eight bills in addition to the CALAFCO sponsored omnibus bill and SB 938. CALAFCO also 

opposed two bills and took a “Watch” position on 16 bills. 

 

Of the CALAFCO supported bills, AB 897 (Mullin – Regional Climate Networks), AB 1640 

(Ward – Regional Climate Networks), and AB 1773 (Patterson – Williamson Act Subvention 

Payments) died.  SB 1449 (Caballero – Annexation Grants) was vetoed by the Governor. Of the 

two CALAFCO opposed bills, AB 2081 (Garcia – extend sunset dates on water to tribal lands 

provisions) passed and was signed into law, while SB 739 (Cortese – Ministerial approvals of 

annexations of golf courses for high rise housing development) died. 
 

For details regarding these bills and the CALAFCO positions see attached list of CALAFCO tracked 

bills and total bill count. 
 

Informational only 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
LOU ANN TEXEIRA 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

Attachment – CALAFCO Tracked Bills  

November 9, 2022 

Agenda Item 11 

 



Attachment







































 

November 9, 2022 

Agenda Item 12 November 9, 2022 (Agenda)  
 

Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission  

40 Muir Road, First Floor 

Martinez, CA 94553 
 

LAFCO Staffing Plan and Personnel System Update 
 

Dear Members of the Commission: 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

LAFCO is an independent entity created by the State Legislature. Pursuant to the Government Code (§56000 et 

seq.), LAFCO hires (or contracts) for its own staff and provides employee benefits, including health, dental, 

retirement and other benefits for its employees. Contra Costa LAFCO purchases most of its employee benefits 

from Contra Costa County and its retirement benefits from the Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement 

Association (CCCERA). 

 

In 2007, LAFCO adopted its own personnel system including an employee benefit plan, job descriptions, and 

employee salary ranges. Since then, the employee benefit plan has been updated several times in accordance 

with County benefit changes, most of which were administrative. 

 

Contra Costa LAFCO currently employs two employees – a half-time Executive Assistant/ LAFCO Clerk 

(“Clerk”) and a full-time Executive Officer (“EO”). In April 2019, LAFCO added a full-time Analyst I/II 

position which has remained unfilled due primarily to the pandemic. LAFCO also contracts with various County 

departments and with private sector consultants.  

 

Recently, the LAFCO Executive Assistant/LAFCO Clerk provided notice of her retirement (January 2023).  In 

reviewing the duties and responsibilities of this position, and the need for additional staff, we have developed a 

new job classification: “Clerk/Analyst”. This will be a full-time position. A number of other LAFCOs also use 

this job classification.  

 
DISCUSSION 
 

In 2019, LAFCO amended its classification to include an Analyst I/II position. The Commission determined it 

was timely and beneficial to grow Contra Costa LAFCO for several reasons, including the following: 
 

• compliance with new statutory duties and requirements (i.e., JPAs, website expansion, dissolution of 

inactive districts, disadvantaged communities tracking, etc.) 

• keep pace with increased application activity 

• maintain the MSR/sphere of influence (SOI) update schedule 

• resume policy/procedure work 



 
Executive Officer’s Report 

Updates to LAFCO Staffing, Budget, and Personnel 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 2  
 

• continue involvement with CALAFCO and other state activities 

• enhance outreach and education efforts 

• embark on new projects/activities  

 

Due to several major events, including relocation of the LAFCO office in 2019, retirement of Kate Sibley in 

2019, hiring a new half-time LAFCO Executive Assistant (Sherrie Weis), and the ongoing pandemic, LAFCO 

deferred hiring a full-time Analyst.  

 

Recently, Sherrie Weis announced her retirement in early 2023. Consequently, LAFCO will need to recruit for 

this position. LAFCO staff assessed the LAFCO staffing needs and concluded that two full-time positions are 

needed to support Contra Costa LAFCO at this time - including one full-time Executive Officer and one full 

time Clerk/Analyst.  

  

As proposed, the newly created full-time Clerk/Analyst position will focus primarily on supporting the 

Commission and providing administrative support as described in the draft job description (Attachment 1). In 

addition, there are several “Analyst” level duties included the job description including research and report 

writing. The Clerk-Analyst position will provide more flexibility in LAFCO staffing.    

 

In conjunction with adding the Clerk/Analyst classification, there is a resolution with a proposed amendment to 

the “LAFCO Salary Plan” adding the Clerk/Analyst position (Attachment 2). The salary is based on similar 

LAFCO Clerk/Analyst positions throughout the State. 

 

Following the Commission’s approval of the proposed staffing plan and updated Salary Plan adding the 

Clerk/Analyst position, LAFCO staff will initiate recruitment for this position. Job announcements will be posted 

on the CALAFCO, Contra Costa LAFCO, Contra Costa County, and community college websites.  In addition, 

we will post the job announcement on online employment websites (e.g., Indeed).   

 

FINANCING 
 

Costs associated with the creation of the full-time Clerk/Analyst position and a staffing overlap to provide 

training of the new employee will necessitate an increase in the FY 2022-23 LAFCO budget. The estimated 

increase is approximately $28,000 and will depend on the new employee’s salary and benefits.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS   
 

It is recommended that the Commission approve LAFCO Resolution 2022-08 authorizing creation of the 

Clerk/Analyst job description and amending the LAFCO Salary Plan to include a salary range for the new 

Clerk/Analyst position.  

 

Sincerely, 
 

LOU ANN TEXEIRA 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

 

Attachments 

1. Draft Position Description – Clerk/Analyst Position  

2. Draft Resolution Amending Salary Plan   



Attachment 1 
 

CONTRA COSTA LAFCO 
CLERK ANALYST  

 
DEFINITION: 
Under general direction of the LAFCO Executive Officer, provides a full range of administrative and 
analyst duties for Contra Costa LAFCO involving a variety of complex and technical matters. The 
position requires the ability to plan, organize, analyze, and manage office activities; prepare bills and 
statements, track contract and project payments and expenditures; maintain records; prepare LAFCO 
meeting agenda packets; clerk LAFCO meetings and prepare meeting minutes; edit and write reports, 
public hearing notices, and other documents; review LAFCO applications; conduct research; and 
performs other duties as required. The position is expected to work well with elected officials, and 
exercise considerable initiative and judgement in performing duties. This is an “at will” position 
appointed by and serves at the pleasure of the LAFCO Executive Officer (EO). This position is exempt 
from FLSA overtime. 

ABOUT THE POSITION: 
The Clerk Analyst reports to the LAFCO EO and primarily serves as Commission Clerk. The Clerk 
Analyst will also perform office management and LAFCO analyst duties. The Commission Clerk 
component involves coordinating and clerking LAFCO meetings, handling meeting logistics, preparing 
agenda packets and meeting minutes; and preparing/posting/publishing/distributing public hearings 
notices. Other Commission Clerk duties include files/records management, requisitioning services and 
supplies; prepare and proof correspondence; track LAFCO correspondence, filings, legal deadlines and 
expiration dates; maintain email lists; answer/screen calls and visitors        

This position performs a full range of clerical, administrative, and analytical duties as assigned, working 
independently, and exercising sound judgement, initiative, analysis, and confidentiality. Office 
management duties include processing bills/invoices/payments; overseeing records and office equipment/ 
supplies management; and coordination with web manager. The position requires a high degree of 
judgment, tact, and discretion.  

The position has regular contact with LAFCO Commissioners, local government officials, and all levels 
of county, city, and special district staff, representatives of business and community organizations, and the 
general public.  

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 
Any combination of education and experience that would provide the necessary knowledge and skills 
noted in the job description. 
 
Education: Graduation from a four-year college with a degree in public administration, public policy, 
political science, business, or other field related to the position. Years of experience may be substituted 
for college. 

Experience: Minimum of five years of full-time (or the equivalent of full-time) public agency experience 
performing administrative, clerical, clerking public meetings, office management, budgetary/fiscal, 
records/contracts/lease management, analytical analysis, and report writing.  

 
 
 
 



Contra Costa LAFCO - Clerk Analyst  
Position Description 

Page 2 
TYPICAL ADMINISTRATIVE AND ANALYTICAL TASKS: 
 
Commission Support 

• Assembles, prepares, and distributes LAFCO meeting agenda packets 
• Prepares, publishes, posts and distributes a variety of notices, along with materials related to agenda 

items, to the public, media, and other interested parties based on State law 
• Assists with teleconference meetings 
• Assists with recording the LAFCO meetings and prepares official resulting documents, including 

meeting minutes and resolutions 
• Assists in providing responses to public records requests 
• Receives, tracks and records economic interest statements, compliance with required training, and 

related tasks 
• Maintains schedule of LAFCO meeting dates  

Administrative Support 

• Oversees daily administration of fiscal tasks including accounts payable, accounts receivable, and 
purchasing. Assist in preparing annual LAFCO budget and work program, annual audits, and related 
financial matters. 

• Manages office equipment, including purchasing; coordinates with vendors and service providers 
(e.g., County staff, website maintenance and hosting provider, office/equipment maintenance) 

• Oversees LAFCO website content, updates, and changes 
• Records management, creating mailing lists and labels, and distribution of LAFCO reports and notices 
• Administers contracts, leases, and service agreements 
• Assists in research (e.g., public information requests, compiling data for LAFCO studies, etc.) 
• Interacts with other LAFCOs, local, regional and state agencies; participates in LAFCO related 

organizations and training 
• Assists with intake, review, and processing LAFCO applications 
• Develops and implements office methods, procedures and forms; assists in creating operating and 

policy manuals 
• Develops and conducts various surveys  
• Updates bi-annual Local Agency Directory 
• Independently creates memoranda and letters requiring application of specialized knowledge  
• Initiates and maintains files including those of a confidential nature  
• Tracks correspondence, filings, and materials with deadlines and expiration dates 
• Organizes work, sets priorities, and meets critical deadlines  
• Assists with reviewing and writing reports, memoranda, and other written materials for completeness, 

accuracy, format, proper English usage, and compliance with policies and procedures  
• Manages purchasing activities and approves purchase orders and other basic financial transactions 
• Tracks LAFCO finances and budgets; works with LAFCO auditor on annual audit 
• Creates mailing lists and labels using a variety of information sources and software programs 
• Assists with audiovisual equipment set up and minor troubleshooting as needed 
• Works with LAFCO web manager to ensure website is up to date 
• Maintains files and performs other related administrative and secretarial duties 

 
 



Contra Costa LAFCO - Clerk Analyst  
Position Description 

Page 3 
 
KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS AND ABILITIES: 
 

Knowledge of:  
• Modern office procedures, practices and techniques  
• Proper punctuation, spelling and grammatical usage, and a broad vocabulary covering common 

administrative terminology  
• Office management principles, methods and procedures including records management 
• Various types of filing systems  
• Administrative practices and principles 
• Customer service principles 
• Computer applications, such as word processing, spreadsheet and presentations 
• Telephone procedures and etiquette 
• Writing and research skills 
• Follow- through and time management skills 
• Strong interpersonal and public relation skills 
• Excellent written and verbal communication skills 
• Relevant office equipment and computer skills 
•  Understand the role and importance of being a public employee 

  
 

Ability to:  
• Comprehend and take appropriate notes at LAFCO meetings and public hearings for which the 

content is varied and complex 
• Interpret, evaluate, select, organize and condense a variety of discussions in order to prepare the 

official minutes of LAFCO meetings and public hearings 
• Provide administrative and secretarial assistance to management 
• Compose letters, memoranda, reports, and other written materials independently  
• Use initiative and independent judgment within established guidelines 
• Understand and explain LAFCO policy and procedure  
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships 
• Deal professionally with LAFCO applicants, local agency staff, public officials, and the general public  
• Handle confidential matters discreetly and effectively  
• Gather and analyze data  
• Interpret and apply LAFCO-specific laws and ordinances, office policies and procedures 
• Plan, develop, and implement office procedures  
• Operate standard office equipment, including computers; troubleshoot simple problems 
• Use a keyboard with moderate speed and a high level of accuracy 
 
 



Attachment 2  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-08 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION  

UPDATING THE LAFCO SALARY SCHEDULE TO ADD “CLERK/ANALYST” POSITION   
 

 WHEREAS, the Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) is an 

independent regulatory agency created by the State Legislature; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code §56384, LAFCO appoints an Executive Officer and 

may appoint other staff as needed; and 

WHEREAS, LAFCO currently employs an Executive Officer to carry out the functions of the 

Commission, and an Executive Assistant/LAFCO Clerk to provide administrative support; and  

WHEREAS, in April 2019 LAFCO approved adding an Analyst position to provide analytical, 

project management and staff support, but this position is currently unfilled; and 

WHEREAS, in 2007, the Commission adopted a salary plan which included salary ranges for 

the LAFCO employee positions and is adjusted annually; and  

WHEREAS, it is timely to add a new job classification – Clerk/Analyst and add that position to 

the current LAFCO salary schedule; and  

WHEREAS, the salary ranges are reviewed and adjusted periodically to keep pace with market 

conditions. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED that: 

1. The Contra Costa LAFCO hereby updates the LAFCO salary schedule to add a salary range for 

the Clerk/Analyst position as shown in Exhibit A. These salary ranges are reviewed annually 

and may be adjusted to reflect comparable Bay Area and urban LAFCO salaries and current 

market conditions. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 9TH day of November 2022, by the following vote: 
 

AYES:   

NOES:   

ABSTENTIONS: 

ABSENT:   

 

ROB SCHRODER, CHAIR, CONTRA COSTA LAFCO 

I hereby certify that this is a correct copy of a resolution passed and adopted by this Commission on the 

date stated above. 

Dated: November 9, 2022      ____________       

Lou Ann Texeira, Executive Officer 



EXHIBIT A 

 

2022 CONTRA COSTA LAFCO 

EMPLOYEE SALARY RANGES 

 

 

 

JOB TITLE 

BEGINNING 

MONTHLY 

MAXIMUM 

MONTHLY 

 

 

*CLERK/EXECUTIVE    

ASSISTANT 

 

CLERK/ANALYST                                                                     

 

       $4,900 

        

       $5,150 

 

      $6,215 

      

       $6,950 

 

 

                                              

ANALYST I/II 

 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

 

I -   $ 5,877 

II - $ 6,202 

      $11,473 

 

I -   $ 7,795 

II - $ 8,219 

      $15,292 

 

 

 

 

 



November 9, 2022 

Agenda Item 13 

November 9, 2022 

Contra Costa Local Agency Formation Commission 

40 Muir Road, 1st Floor 
Martinez, CA 94553 

Current and Potential LAFCO Applications 

Dear Members of the Commission: 

SUMMARY 

This report identifies active applications on file with Contra Costa LAFCO as well as potential 

applications. This report is presented for information only. 

DISCUSSION 

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (“CKH”) delegates LAFCOs 

with regulatory and planning duties to coordinate the formation and development of local government 

agencies and their municipal services. This includes approving and disapproving boundary changes, 

boundary reorganizations, formations, mergers, consolidations, dissolutions, incorporations, sphere of 

influence (SOI) amendments, and extension of out of agency services. Applications involving jurisdictional 

changes filed by landowners or registered voters are placed on the Commission’s agenda as information 

items before action is considered by LAFCO at a subsequent meeting (Gov. Code §56857). 

There is currently one approved proposal awaiting completion, four current applications that are either 

incomplete and/or awaiting a hearing date, and several potential applications.    

Current Proposals – Approved and Awaiting Completion 

Chang Property Reorganization (LAFCO 18-06) 

This is an application filed by the landowner to annex 66.92+ acres to the City of San Ramon, Central 

Contra Costa Sanitary District (CCCSD) and East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD) and detach 

the same area from County Service Area (CSA) P-6. The subject area is located at the intersection of 

Crow Canyon and Bollinger Canyon Roads in unincorporated San Ramon. The Commission approved 

the boundary reorganization in August 2017 with conditions. One of the conditions has not yet been 

met. The applicant has requested and received several extensions of time with the current extension to 

July 9, 2022. At the June 8, 2022 LAFCO meeting, the Commission approved a time extension to 

December 31, 2022 to complete the easement. 



Executive Officer’s Report 
Current and Potential Applications 

November 9, 2022 (Agenda) 

Page 2 
 
Current Applications – Under Review  
 

 LAFCO Tassajara Parks Project – Boundary Reorganization (LAFCO 16-06) 
 

This is an application filed by the landowner to annex 30+ acres to Central Contra Costa Sanitary 

District (CCCSD) and East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD). The project includes 

development of 125 single-family homes. The subject area is located east of the City of San Ramon and 

the Town of Danville. The application is currently incomplete. The project is currently being litigated.  
    

 LAFCO Tassajara Parks Project – SOI Amendments (LAFCO 16-07) 
 

This is an application filed by the landowner to amend the SOIs for CCCSD and EBMUD by 30+ acres 

in anticipation of corresponding annexations. The application is currently incomplete. The project is 

currently being litigated. 
 

 Faria Southwest Hills – Boundary Reorganization (LAFCO 21-04)  
 

This is an application filed by the City of Pittsburg to annex 606+ acres to the City of Pittsburg, Contra 

Costa Water District and Delta Diablo, and detachment from CSA P-6. The project includes 

development of up to 1,500 residential units. The application is currently incomplete. On February 9, 

2022, Contra Costa County Superior Court ruled that the City of Pittsburg violated CEQA. The Court 

issued a writ of mandate compelling the City to set aside the project approvals and the certification of 

the Final EIR, and that any further consideration of the project must comply with CEQA and be 

consistent with the Court’s ruling. On August 15, 2022, the Pittsburg City Council voted to repeal and 

set aside all approvals for the Faria/Southwest Hills Annexation Project.  
 

 

Potential and Other Applications    
 

On April 14, 2021, LAFCO approved the extension of out of agency water service by the City of Martinez 

to the Bay’s Edge Subdivision 9065 located in unincorporated Martinez (Mt. View). LAFCO’s approval 

was conditioned on commitment from the City to submit to LAFCO an application to annex the subject 

parcels to the City of Martinez by August 31, 2022, in the event the entirety of Mt. View is not annexed to 

the City prior to that date. On August 10, 2022, the Commission approved extending the time to submit the 

annexation application to August 31, 2023.  
 

There are currently several potential applications that may be submitted to Contra Costa LAFCO in the 

future including annexations to Byron Bethany Irrigation District, City of Brentwood, City of Concord, 

City of Martinez, and West County Wastewater District. 

 

The Commission initiated dissolution of CSA R-9.  The matter was continued to February 2023 to allow 

additional time for community input. 
 

RECOMMENDATION – Informational item – no actions required.  
 

Sincerely, 
 

LOU ANN TEXEIRA 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

Attachment 

Current Applications Table 



CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
CURRENT APPLICATIONS – November 9, 2022 

                                                 Attachment  
 

File # APPLICATION NAME/LOCATION APPLICATION SUMMARY  STATUS 
    
16-06 Tassajara Parks Project: proposed 

annexations to CCCSD and EBMUD of 
30+ acres located east of the City of 
San Ramon and the Town of Danville 

Application submitted in May 2016 by the landowner to 
annex 30+ acres to Central Contra Costa Sanitary 
District (CCCSD) and East Bay Municipal Utility District 
(EBMUD) to support development of 125 residential lots 
and related improvements. On July 13, 2021, the 
County Board of Supervisors certified the project EIR, 
amendment the ULL, executed a land preservation 
agreement, and acted on various discretionary project 
approvals.    

Application is currently incomplete. Await 
certified EIR, updated application, and 
other information. The project is currently 
being litigated. 

    
16-07 Tassajara Parks Project: proposed SOI 

expansions to CCCSD and EBMUD of 
30+ acres located east of the City of 
San Ramon and the Town of Danville    

Application submitted in May 2016 by the landowner to 
amend the SOIs for CCCSD and EBMUD in anticipation 
of annexation. 

Application is currently incomplete. Await 
certified EIR, updated application, and 
other information. The project is currently 
being litigated. 

    
21-05 Faria Southwest Hills Reorganization: 

proposed annexations to City of 
Pittsburg, CCWD and DD of 606+ 
acres located southwest of the City of 
Pittsburg 

Application submitted in June 2021 by City of Pittsburg 
to annex 606+ acres to the City, Contra Costa Water 
District (CCWD) and Delta Diablo (DD) and detach from 
County Service Area (CSA) P-6 to support hillside 
estate development of up to 1,500 units.   

Application is currently incomplete. 
Notices of Incomplete Application issued 
on 7/21/21 and 1/28/22. Following 
litigation on the project, on 8/15/22, the 
Pittsburg City Council voted to repeal 
and set aside all approvals for the 
Faria/Southwest Hills Annexation 
Project.  

    
21-17 Dissolution of County Service Area 

(CSA) R-9 
LAFCO initiated dissolution of CSA R-9 Pending (February 2023) 

    
 



 
The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

AGENDA 

RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING

 REGULAR MEETING 
September 14, 2022, 9:00 a.m. 

The Board of Retirement will hold its meeting via teleconferencing as permitted by Government 
Code Section 54953(e).  The meeting is accessible telephonically at 669-900-6833, Webinar ID: 
824 0975 3046, Passcode: 284461, or via the web at: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82409753046?pwd=blQzVHI5NGxoV3g3S0xrOHJnek5VQT09 

Passcode: 284461 

Persons who wish to address the Board of Retirement during public comment may call in during 
the meeting by dialing the phone number and passcode above.  Access via Zoom is also available 
at the weblink above.  To indicate you wish to speak during public comment, please select *9 on 
your phone or “raise your hand” in the Zoom app. 

Public comments are limited to any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board 
of Retirement.  Comments will be received in real time via telephone or Zoom, subject to a three-
minute time limit per speaker.   

THE RETIREMENT BOARD MAY DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING:

1. Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Roll Call.

3. Accept comments from the public.

4. Approve minutes from the August 10, 2022 meeting.

5. Approve the following routine items:
a. Certifications of membership.
b. Service and disability allowances.
c. Death benefits.
d. Investment liquidity report.

November 9, 2022
Agenda Item 14



The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

6. Accept the following routine items:
a. Disability applications and authorize subpoenas as required.
b. Investment asset allocation report.

CLOSED SESSION 

7. The Board will go into closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 54957 to consider
recommendations from the medical advisor and/or staff regarding the following
disability retirement applications: 

Member Type Sought Recommendation 
a. Bartholomew Corrie Service Connected Service Connected 
b. Frank Oathout Service Connected Service Connected 

8. The Board will continue in closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 54956.9(d)(1)
to confer with legal counsel regarding pending litigation:

a. Marchese v. CCCERA, et al., Contra Costa County Superior Court, Case No.
N22-1435

OPEN SESSION 

9. Pension administration system project update:
a. Update from staff
b. Presentation from Segal
c. Presentation from Sagitec

10. Consider and take possible action to update CCCERA’s Conflict of Interest Code.

11. Consider and take possible action to authorize the Board to conduct teleconference
meetings under Government Code section 54953 (e) and to make related findings.

12. Consider and take possible action on SACRS voting proxy form.

13. Report from Audit Committee Chair on August 24, 2022 Audit Committee meeting.

14. Consider authorizing the attendance of Board:
a. CALAPRS Trustees Round Table, October 28, 2022, Virtual.
b. SACRS Fall Conference, November 8-11, 2022, Long Beach, CA.
c. 9th Annual N. California Institutional Forum, December 7, 2022, Napa, CA.

15. Miscellaneous
a. Staff Report
b. Outside Professionals’ Report
c. Trustees’ comments





�

� �����������	�
������������������������
�������		�����
�����������
���������������������

�
��������
�������	����
���������
��������������	�
���������������������������������	����
���

���� !����"�#$"�%� #�&'�"!�%��#$ ������()*+,��-((�./)�0����	�����12��3��2�4533��	���������������������	�
����������������	����
�����������
����
��
�������	�������6�)����
	�
��7����0�����
�8�489:�;�������	����
����������������������
����6���<<4=433=<1992�>���
��.?5�141��91����14�@������5�A<A9BA2����������������5������5CC��3<����D��	���CEC141�91���14F���G-H�D�D��*E*3-(I9��J+I��KLJK�LD34���@������5�A<A9BA��@����
���������������������������������������	�
������
�����������		�
��	6������
�����
������	����
���6�����
���������
��
�	����
�����������������,���������L��	��������������������������
M������������
������6��������������M�����
�����������		�
�2��������������N4��
�OPQR�STPUV�PR�WRXYZV�OPQR�TXU[\�YU�]TV�̂PP_�XSS̀���@��������		�
��������	��������
6����	�������������
��������E����	�����E����������
����������������������	�
����7�		�
���������������������
�������	������������
�����L��	2����E�������������=	�
������	����	����������M��������a(��(�.�(-(/����,�?�-,K�?.07*00�,/?��,b(�,7�.�/��/��a(�J�++�>./)5��B�� @���������,�����
�������� �����7�����9�� ,��������		�
������	����������������� ,�������	�
��������	�����,��������2��3���	����
����8�� 7�
������
���M���������������
��������������),0��<1�����������	�0����7�
�����
����<�� ������������������
�����������=�����������A�� @����
����
����	�,����
�@��
������



� � �

� � ��� ��������	�
������	��������	�����	������������

��������	���	������������������������������������������	��
��������������������������	�
�������������������������	�����	����
��������

��� ����	�
����������������	��������������������  	������������!��	"�"������#���$$$%�&��������������������'�������	��	���(#�� $�����	�����	�)�����������������������	�*��������+�����
������,������	�((,��#��,�-���.	+,�-.���((�� /���������������0��������	����������������� 	��������12����	�������	������2��

������



 
The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

AGENDA 

RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING

 REGULAR MEETING 
October 12, 2022, 9:00 a.m. 

The Board of Retirement will hold its meeting via teleconferencing as permitted by Government 
Code Section 54953(e).  The meeting is accessible telephonically at 669-900-6833, Webinar ID: 
812 1150 4070, Passcode: 198404, or via the web at: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81211504070?pwd=cW4zVlMzVUtUbnRkSlo4Z2VqU3NJUT09 

Passcode: 198404 

Persons who wish to address the Board of Retirement during public comment may call in during 
the meeting by dialing the phone number and passcode above.  Access via Zoom is also available 
at the weblink above.  To indicate you wish to speak during public comment, please select *9 on 
your phone or “raise your hand” in the Zoom app. 

Public comments are limited to any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board 
of Retirement.  Comments will be received in real time via telephone or Zoom, subject to a three-
minute time limit per speaker.   

THE RETIREMENT BOARD MAY DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING:

1. Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Roll Call.

3. Accept comments from the public.

4. Approve minutes from the September 14, 2022 meeting.

5. Approve the following routine items:
a. Certifications of membership.
b. Service and disability allowances.
c. Death benefits.
d. Investment liquidity report.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81211504070?pwd=cW4zVlMzVUtUbnRkSlo4Z2VqU3NJUT09


. 

The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

6. Accept the following routine items:
a. Disability applications and authorize subpoenas as required.
b. Investment asset allocation report.

CLOSED SESSION 

7. The Board will go into closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 54957 to consider
recommendations from the medical advisor and/or staff regarding the following
disability retirement applications: 

Member Type Sought Recommendation 
a. Javier Espinoza Service Connected Service Connected 
b. Julie Murphy Service Connected Service Connected 

8. The Board will continue in closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 54957 to
consider the Hearing Officer’s recommendation regarding the disability application for
Mark Emery.

OPEN SESSION 

9. Presentation of disability retirement process.

10. Presentation of semi-annual disability retirement report.

11. Presentation of travel reimbursement and education tracking process.

12. Consider and take possible action to authorize the Board to conduct teleconference
meetings under Government Code section 54953 (e) and to make related findings.

13. Miscellaneous
a. Staff Report
b. Outside Professionals’ Report
c. Trustees’ comments



5735249v3/05337.001 
 

180 Howard Street 
Suite 1100 

San Francisco, CA 94105-6147 
T 415.263.8200 

segalco.com 

Via Email 

October 7, 2022 

Gail Strohl 
Chief Executive Officer 
Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
1200 Concord Avenue, Suite 300 
Concord, CA 94520 

Re: Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association (CCCERA) 
Five-Year Projection of Employer Contribution Rate as of December 31, 2021 

Dear Gail: 

As requested, we have updated our five-year projection of estimated employer contribution rate 
changes for CCCERA. This projection is derived from the December 31, 2021 Actuarial 
Valuation results. Key assumptions and methods are detailed below. It is important to 
understand that these results are entirely dependent on those assumptions used in the 
December 31, 2021 valuation being met and remaining unchanged in future valuations. 
Actual results as determined in future actuarial valuations will differ from these results. 
In particular, actual investment returns, actual salary levels, and actual retiree cost-of-
living adjustments different than assumed can have a significant impact on future 
contribution rates. 

Results 

In the next several years, assuming the above highlighted conditions were to come true, 
CCCERA is likely to become fully funded, with 100% funded ratio and no Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability (UAAL). As we pointed out to the Board during our presentation of results in 
the December 31, 2021 valuation, at that time the employer UAAL contribution rates would be 
reduced to 0% of payroll before considering the 0.15% of payroll that would continue to be 
charged for the payment of administrative expense. However, the timing of when that is 
expected to take place varies among the different cost groups based on the current level of 
funding and the expected annual UAAL contributions for each cost group as of the most recent 
valuation. In order to more accurately capture those differences, we have continued to use a 
method that takes into consideration the various differences among the cost groups. 

Effective July 1, 2022, East Contra Costa Fire Protection District (“East Fire”) was annexed into 
Contra Costa Fire Protection District (“Con Fire”). This annexation was reflected in the 
December 31, 2021 valuation. As part of the annexation, East Fire made a prepayment of 
$3.3 million on June 30, 2022 towards their December 31, 2020 UAAL. As requested by East 
Fire, this prepayment has been used to reduce Con Fire's UAAL contribution rates effective 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 2 

5735249v3/05337.001 

July 1, 2022. In preparing this projection, we have included Con Fire’s contribution rates 
effective July 1, 2023 in Cost Groups #5 and #8 after reflecting this prepayment as provided in 
the December 31, 2021 valuation. 

The estimated contribution rate changes shown below apply to the recommended average 
employer contribution rate. Estimated contribution rate changes for each cost group are shown 
in the attached exhibit. 

Aside from the reduction in Con Fire’s employer rates in the December 31, 2021 valuation as 
discussed above, the other changes in the contribution rate starting in the December 31, 2022 
valuation are due to: 

1. Recognition of deferred investment gains and losses under the actuarial asset smoothing
methodology;

2. Gains due to investment income earned on the excess of the Market Value of Assets (MVA)
over the Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) (and losses when the opposite occurs);

3. Contribution gains and losses which occur from delaying the implementation of new rates
until 18 months after the actuarial valuation date;

4. The December 31, 2007 UAAL restart charge and Pension Obligation Bonds (POB) credit
amortization layers dropping off as they become fully amortized; and

5. The reduction in UAAL rate due to reaching full funding. For cost groups that are projected
to reach full funding, all outstanding UAAL layers of the cost group would be fully amortized
and there would be no UAAL payments in accordance with CCCERA’s Actuarial Funding
Policy. However, as noted above, 0.15% of payroll would continue to be included in the
UAAL rate for the payment of administrative expense

The following table provides the year-to-year rate changes and the cumulative rate change over 
the five-year projection period from the above components in aggregate.1 To obtain the 
estimated average employer contribution rate at each successive valuation date, these 
cumulative rate changes should be added to the rates developed in the December 31, 2021 
Actuarial Valuation. These rate changes represent the average rate, expressed as a percent of 
payroll, for the aggregate plan and they become effective 18 months following the actuarial 
valuation date shown in the table. 

1 We no longer show the rate changes by component as the rate changes due to full funding could overwrite the 
impact of the other rate change components. 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 3 

5735249v3/05337.001 

Valuation Date (12/31) 

Rate Change 2022 20232 2024 2025 2026 

Incremental Rate Change (9.04%) (6.14%) (2.42%) (1.70%) (0.46%) 

Cumulative Rate Change (9.04%) (15.18%) (17.60%) (19.29%) (19.75%) 

If we use the average employer contribution rate as of the December 31, 2021 Actuarial 
Valuation of 35.55% of payroll, based on the cumulative rate changes above the average 
employer contribution rate is projected to progress as follows: 

Valuation Date (12/31) 

Employer Contribution Rate3 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 

Average Normal Cost Rate4 15.65% 15.65% 15.65% 15.65% 15.65% 

Average UAAL Rate 10.86% 4.72% 2.30% 0.61% 0.15% 

Average Employer Contribution Rate 26.51% 20.37% 17.95% 16.26% 15.80% 

We have estimated the rate change due to investment related gains and losses over the five 
valuation dates for each individual cost group by allocating the investment related gains and 
losses based on each cost group’s proportional share of the Valuation Value of Assets as of 
December 31, 2021 valuation. The actual rate changes by group may differ from those shown in 
the exhibit if there are changes to their proportional share of the Valuation Value of Assets in 
future valuations. 

In addition, the projected rate changes for the December 31, 2022 Actuarial Valuation reflect the 
December 31, 2007 UAAL restart charge and POB credit amortization layers dropping off as 
they become fully amortized. That impact has been explicitly calculated and reflected for each 
cost group as it varies significantly by cost group depending on the UAAL and POB layers 
established for each cost group. In particular, the impact of POB credit layers dropping off varies 
significantly by employer depending on whether the employer issued POBs or made additional 
contributions towards their UAAL. Therefore, we also show results separated out for employers 
that are in a cost group that has an employer with a POB credit.  

For most employers without a POB credit, there is a significant reduction in the employer rate 
that is projected to occur in the December 31, 2022 Actuarial Valuation due to that UAAL restart 

2 There is an additional UAAL and higher UAAL contribution rate required to implement the new actuarial 
assumptions in the December 31, 2021 valuation. The additional UAAL is expected to cause a one year delay in 
most cost groups to become fully funded (from 2022 to 2023). This is the reason why comparing the rate changes 
in this letter versus those included in our earlier five-year projection letter dated March 16, 2022, we show a smaller 
UAAL rate reduction for 2022 but a larger UAAL rate reduction for 2023.  

3 The Normal Cost and UAAL rates shown include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.50% and 0.15% of 
payroll, respectively. 

4 As noted on next page, the Normal Cost projections do not reflect any changes in the employer contribution rates 
that could result due to future changes in the demographics of CCCERA’s active members or decreases in the 
employer contribution rates that might result from new hires going into the PEPRA tiers. 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 4 

5735249v3/05337.001 

layer becoming fully amortized. For other employers that have a POB credit, the reduction in the 
employer rate is not as significant since their current contribution rates have already been 
reduced to reflect that they paid off a portion of that UAAL layer through the issuance of the 
POB or additional UAAL payments. For some other employers, such as Con Fire and Moraga-
Orinda Fire Protection District, since they already paid off that UAAL restart amortization layer 
via POBs and additional UAAL payments, they will not see a reduction in their employer 
contribution rate at that time. 

The projected rate changes that are due to the 18-month rate delay for each cost group have 
also been determined based on the different incremental rate changes from the prior valuations. 

We have also projected the year when each cost group would become fully funded and most 
Cost Groups are expected to become fully funded in 20235. In accordance with CCCERA’s 
Actuarial Funding Policy, all outstanding UAAL layers of the cost group would be fully amortized 
and there would be no UAAL payments (other than the continuation of the payment of the 
0.15% administrative expense) when the cost group reaches full funding. The reduction in UAAL 
rate due to full funding has been reflected.  

These estimated rate changes for each cost group are shown in the attached exhibit. We have 
also included the projected UAAL rate for the projection period in the exhibit. 

Key Assumptions and Methods 

The projection is based upon the following assumptions and methods: 

• December 31, 2021 non-economic assumptions remain unchanged.

• December 31, 2021 retirement benefit formulas remain unchanged.

• December 31, 2021 1937 Act statutes remain unchanged.

• UAAL amortization method remains unchanged.

• December 31, 2021 economic assumptions remain unchanged, including the 6.75%
investment earnings assumption.

• We have assumed that returns of 6.75% are actually earned each year on a market value
basis starting in 2022.

• Active payroll grows at 3.00% per annum.

• Deferred investment gains and losses are recognized per the asset smoothing schedule
prepared by the Association as of December 31, 2021. They are funded as a level percentage
of the Association’s total active payroll base.

• All other actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2021 Actuarial Valuation are
realized.

5 See explanation provided in footnote 2 on the previous page as to why there is a one-year delay in most Cost 
Groups to become fully funded (from 2022 to 2023) relative to our earlier five-year projection letter dated March 16, 
2022.  



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 5 

5735249v3/05337.001 

• No changes are made to actuarial methodologies, such as adjusting for the contribution rate
delay in advance and the continuation of the current pooling arrangement among different
employers within a cost group.

• The projections do not reflect any changes in the employer contribution rates that could result
due to future changes in the demographics of CCCERA’s active members or decreases in the
employer contribution rates that might result from new hires going into the PEPRA tiers.

• The projections assumed a fixed administrative expense loads of 0.50% and 0.15% payroll
that applied to employer Normal Cost and UAAL rates, respectively.

• On July 30, 2020, the California Supreme Court issued a decision in the case of Alameda
County Deputy Sheriffs’ Association et al. v. Alameda County Employees’ Retirement
Association (ACERA) and Board of Retirement of ACERA. That decision has important
implications for CCCERA and its members, In particular, the decision requires pension
systems like CCCERA to exclude certain pay items from a legacy member’s compensation
earnable. It is our understand that the CCCERA Board of Retirement has taken action to
return member contributions that were previously made on certain terminal pay and on-call
pay items impacting approximately 6,400 members, as well as to reduce the benefit of 7
retirees that had estoppel included in their retirement calculation. We further understand that
the December 31, 2021 participant data as well as the assets as of that date, do not reflect
the return of member contributions that totaled approximately $4 million, however the
participant data does reflect the reduction of benefit for the 7 members.

• It is important to note that these projections are based on plan assets as of
December 31, 2021. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, market conditions have changed
significantly since the onset of the Public Health Emergency. The Plan’s funded status does
not reflect short-term fluctuations of the market, but rather is based on the market values on
the last day of the Plan Year. Moreover, these projections do not include any possible short-
term or long-term impacts on mortality of the covered population that may emerge after
December 31, 2021.

Finally, we emphasize that projections, by their nature, are not a guarantee of future results. 
The modeling projections are intended to serve as illustrations of future financial outcomes that 
are based on the information available to us at the time the modeling is undertaken and 
completed, and the agreed-upon assumptions and methodologies described herein. Emerging 
results may differ significantly if the actual experience proves to be different from these 
assumptions or if alternative methodologies are used. Actual experience may differ due to such 
variables as demographic experience, the economy, stock market performance and the 
regulatory environment. 

Segal valuation results are based on proprietary actuarial modeling software. The actuarial 
valuation models generate a comprehensive set of liability and cost calculations that are 
presented to meet regulatory, legislative and client requirements. Deterministic cost projections 
are based on a proprietary forecasting model. Our Actuarial Technology and Systems unit, 
comprised of both actuaries and programmers, is responsible for the initial development and 
maintenance of these models. The models have a modular structure that allows for a high 
degree of accuracy, flexibility and user control. The client team programs the assumptions and 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 6 

5735249v3/05337.001 

the plan provisions, validates the models, and reviews test lives and results, under the 
supervision of the responsible actuary 

Unless otherwise noted, all of the above calculations are based on the December 31, 2021 
Actuarial Valuation results including the participant data, actuarial assumptions, methods, and 
models on which that valuation was based. That valuation and these projections were 
completed under the supervision of Andy Yeung, ASA, MAAA, FCA, Enrolled Actuary. 

The undersigned are members of the American Academy of Actuaries and meet the 
Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion 
herein. 

Please let us know if you have any questions. 

Sincerely, 

Paul Angelo, FSA, MAAA, FCA, EA 
Senior Vice President & Actuary 

Andy Yeung, ASA, MAAA, FCA, EA 
Vice President & Actuary 

EK/bbf 
Enclosure 



7 

Exhibit 

Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
Estimated Employer Rate Change by Cost Group (CG) Based on December 31, 2021 Valuation 

CG#1 & 2 CG#1 & 2 CG#1 & 2 CG#1 & 2 CG#1 & 2
County and Courts Moraga-Orinda FD First Five LAFCO Other District

with POB with POB with Prepayment with Prepayment without POB
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -7.33% -7.07% -8.04% -16.20% -16.20%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -6.40% -6.40% -6.40% -0.98% -6.40%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -7.33% -7.07% -8.04% -16.20% -16.20%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -13.73% -13.47% -14.44% -17.18% -22.60%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -13.73% -13.47% -14.44% -17.18% -22.60%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 -13.73% -13.47% -14.44% -17.18% -22.60%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 -13.73% -13.47% -14.44% -17.18% -22.60%

Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2021** 13.88% 13.62% 14.59% 17.33% 22.75%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2022** 6.55% 6.55% 6.55% 1.13% 6.55%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2023** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2024** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2025** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2026** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%

Year to Reach Full Funding (Valuation as of 12/31) 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023

* Includes the impact of the December 31, 2007 UAAL charge and POB credit layers dropping off due to being fully amortized.
** The employer UAAL rates include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.15% of payroll.

These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions or any member subvention of employer contributions.



8 

Exhibit (continued) 

Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
Estimated Employer Rate Change by Cost Group (CG) Based on December 31, 2021 Valuation 

CG#3 CG#4 CG#5 CG#6
Enhanced CCC Enhanced Enhanced Non-Enhanced
Sanitary District Housing Authority CCCFPD*** District

Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* 0.00% -18.87% -0.35% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 0.00% -8.65% -1.74% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 0.00% 0.00% -1.44% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 0.00% 0.00% -1.53% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% 0.00% -15.07% 0.00%

Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* 0.00% -18.87% -0.35% 0.00%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 0.00% -27.52% -2.09% 0.00%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 0.00% -27.52% -3.52% 0.00%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 0.00% -27.52% -5.05% 0.00%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% -27.52% -20.12% 0.00%

Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2021** 0.15% 27.67% 20.27% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2022** 0.15% 8.80% 19.92% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2023** 0.15% 0.15% 18.18% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2024** 0.15% 0.15% 16.75% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2025** 0.15% 0.15% 15.22% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2026** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%

Year to Reach Full Funding (Valuation as of 12/31) 2021 2023 2026 2021

* Includes the impact of the December 31, 2007 UAAL charge and POB credit layers dropping off due to being fully amortized.
** The employer UAAL rates include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.15% of payroll.

These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions or any member subvention of employer contributions.
*** Reflects the UAAL prepayment in the amount of $3,344,437 made by East Fire on June 30, 2021 for the General and Safety groups



9 

Exhibit (continued) 

Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
Estimated Employer Rate Change by Cost Group (CG) Based on December 31, 2021 Valuation 

CG#7 & 9
Combined CG#8 CG#10 CG#11
Enhanced Enhanced Enhanced Enhanced 

County CCCFPD*** Moraga-Orinda FD San Ramon Valley FD
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -19.84% -2.39% 1.19% -38.64%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -5.54% -4.39% -4.18% -16.20%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -19.95% -3.69% -3.74% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 0.00% -30.62% -4.08% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% 0.00% -40.27% 0.00%

Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -19.84% -2.39% 1.19% -38.64%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -25.38% -6.79% -2.99% -54.83%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -45.33% -10.48% -6.73% -54.83%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 -45.33% -41.10% -10.81% -54.83%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 -45.33% -41.10% -51.07% -54.83%

Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2021** 45.48% 41.25% 51.22% 54.98%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2022** 25.64% 38.86% 52.41% 16.34%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2023** 20.10% 34.46% 48.23% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2024** 0.15% 30.77% 44.49% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2025** 0.15% 0.15% 40.41% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2026** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%

Year to Reach Full Funding (Valuation as of 12/31) 2024 2025 2026 2023

* Includes the impact of the December 31, 2007 UAAL charge and POB credit layers dropping off due to being fully amortized.
** The employer UAAL rates include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.15% of payroll.

These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions or any member subvention of employer contributions.
*** Reflects the UAAL prepayment in the amount of $3,344,437 made by East Fire on June 30, 2021 for the General and Safety groups



10 

Exhibit (continued) 

Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
Estimated Employer Rate Change by Cost Group (CG) Based on December 31, 2021 Valuation 

CG#12
Non-Enhanced Total 

Rodeo-Hercules FPD Plan
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -24.07% -9.04%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -5.18% -6.14%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -3.95% -2.42%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 -37.30% -1.70%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% -0.46%

Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -24.07% -9.04%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -29.25% -15.18%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -33.20% -17.60%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 -70.50% -19.29%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 -70.50% -19.75%

Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2021** 70.65% 19.90%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2022** 46.58% 10.86%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2023** 41.40% 4.72%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2024** 37.45% 2.30%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2025** 0.15% 0.61%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2026** 0.15% 0.15%

Year to Reach Full Funding (Valuation as of 12/31) 2025

* Includes the impact of the December 31, 2007 UAAL charge and POB credit layers dropping off due to being fully amortized.
** The employer UAAL rates include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.15% of payroll.

These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions or any member subvention of employer contributions.



5735249v3/05337.001 
 

180 Howard Street 
Suite 1100 

San Francisco, CA 94105-6147 
T 415.263.8200 

segalco.com 

Via Email 

October 7, 2022 

Gail Strohl 
Chief Executive Officer 
Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
1200 Concord Avenue, Suite 300 
Concord, CA 94520 

Re: Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association (CCCERA) 
Five-Year Projection of Employer Contribution Rate as of December 31, 2021 

Dear Gail: 

As requested, we have updated our five-year projection of estimated employer contribution rate 
changes for CCCERA. This projection is derived from the December 31, 2021 Actuarial 
Valuation results. Key assumptions and methods are detailed below. It is important to 
understand that these results are entirely dependent on those assumptions used in the 
December 31, 2021 valuation being met and remaining unchanged in future valuations. 
Actual results as determined in future actuarial valuations will differ from these results. 
In particular, actual investment returns, actual salary levels, and actual retiree cost-of-
living adjustments different than assumed can have a significant impact on future 
contribution rates. 

Results 

In the next several years, assuming the above highlighted conditions were to come true, 
CCCERA is likely to become fully funded, with 100% funded ratio and no Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability (UAAL). As we pointed out to the Board during our presentation of results in 
the December 31, 2021 valuation, at that time the employer UAAL contribution rates would be 
reduced to 0% of payroll before considering the 0.15% of payroll that would continue to be 
charged for the payment of administrative expense. However, the timing of when that is 
expected to take place varies among the different cost groups based on the current level of 
funding and the expected annual UAAL contributions for each cost group as of the most recent 
valuation. In order to more accurately capture those differences, we have continued to use a 
method that takes into consideration the various differences among the cost groups. 

Effective July 1, 2022, East Contra Costa Fire Protection District (“East Fire”) was annexed into 
Contra Costa Fire Protection District (“Con Fire”). This annexation was reflected in the 
December 31, 2021 valuation. As part of the annexation, East Fire made a prepayment of 
$3.3 million on June 30, 2022 towards their December 31, 2020 UAAL. As requested by East 
Fire, this prepayment has been used to reduce Con Fire's UAAL contribution rates effective 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 2 

5735249v3/05337.001 

July 1, 2022. In preparing this projection, we have included Con Fire’s contribution rates 
effective July 1, 2023 in Cost Groups #5 and #8 after reflecting this prepayment as provided in 
the December 31, 2021 valuation. 

The estimated contribution rate changes shown below apply to the recommended average 
employer contribution rate. Estimated contribution rate changes for each cost group are shown 
in the attached exhibit. 

Aside from the reduction in Con Fire’s employer rates in the December 31, 2021 valuation as 
discussed above, the other changes in the contribution rate starting in the December 31, 2022 
valuation are due to: 

1. Recognition of deferred investment gains and losses under the actuarial asset smoothing
methodology;

2. Gains due to investment income earned on the excess of the Market Value of Assets (MVA)
over the Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) (and losses when the opposite occurs);

3. Contribution gains and losses which occur from delaying the implementation of new rates
until 18 months after the actuarial valuation date;

4. The December 31, 2007 UAAL restart charge and Pension Obligation Bonds (POB) credit
amortization layers dropping off as they become fully amortized; and

5. The reduction in UAAL rate due to reaching full funding. For cost groups that are projected
to reach full funding, all outstanding UAAL layers of the cost group would be fully amortized
and there would be no UAAL payments in accordance with CCCERA’s Actuarial Funding
Policy. However, as noted above, 0.15% of payroll would continue to be included in the
UAAL rate for the payment of administrative expense

The following table provides the year-to-year rate changes and the cumulative rate change over 
the five-year projection period from the above components in aggregate.1 To obtain the 
estimated average employer contribution rate at each successive valuation date, these 
cumulative rate changes should be added to the rates developed in the December 31, 2021 
Actuarial Valuation. These rate changes represent the average rate, expressed as a percent of 
payroll, for the aggregate plan and they become effective 18 months following the actuarial 
valuation date shown in the table. 

1 We no longer show the rate changes by component as the rate changes due to full funding could overwrite the 
impact of the other rate change components. 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 3 

5735249v3/05337.001 

Valuation Date (12/31) 

Rate Change 2022 20232 2024 2025 2026 

Incremental Rate Change (9.04%) (6.14%) (2.42%) (1.70%) (0.46%) 

Cumulative Rate Change (9.04%) (15.18%) (17.60%) (19.29%) (19.75%) 

If we use the average employer contribution rate as of the December 31, 2021 Actuarial 
Valuation of 35.55% of payroll, based on the cumulative rate changes above the average 
employer contribution rate is projected to progress as follows: 

Valuation Date (12/31) 

Employer Contribution Rate3 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 

Average Normal Cost Rate4 15.65% 15.65% 15.65% 15.65% 15.65% 

Average UAAL Rate 10.86% 4.72% 2.30% 0.61% 0.15% 

Average Employer Contribution Rate 26.51% 20.37% 17.95% 16.26% 15.80% 

We have estimated the rate change due to investment related gains and losses over the five 
valuation dates for each individual cost group by allocating the investment related gains and 
losses based on each cost group’s proportional share of the Valuation Value of Assets as of 
December 31, 2021 valuation. The actual rate changes by group may differ from those shown in 
the exhibit if there are changes to their proportional share of the Valuation Value of Assets in 
future valuations. 

In addition, the projected rate changes for the December 31, 2022 Actuarial Valuation reflect the 
December 31, 2007 UAAL restart charge and POB credit amortization layers dropping off as 
they become fully amortized. That impact has been explicitly calculated and reflected for each 
cost group as it varies significantly by cost group depending on the UAAL and POB layers 
established for each cost group. In particular, the impact of POB credit layers dropping off varies 
significantly by employer depending on whether the employer issued POBs or made additional 
contributions towards their UAAL. Therefore, we also show results separated out for employers 
that are in a cost group that has an employer with a POB credit.  

For most employers without a POB credit, there is a significant reduction in the employer rate 
that is projected to occur in the December 31, 2022 Actuarial Valuation due to that UAAL restart 

2 There is an additional UAAL and higher UAAL contribution rate required to implement the new actuarial 
assumptions in the December 31, 2021 valuation. The additional UAAL is expected to cause a one year delay in 
most cost groups to become fully funded (from 2022 to 2023). This is the reason why comparing the rate changes 
in this letter versus those included in our earlier five-year projection letter dated March 16, 2022, we show a smaller 
UAAL rate reduction for 2022 but a larger UAAL rate reduction for 2023.  

3 The Normal Cost and UAAL rates shown include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.50% and 0.15% of 
payroll, respectively. 

4 As noted on next page, the Normal Cost projections do not reflect any changes in the employer contribution rates 
that could result due to future changes in the demographics of CCCERA’s active members or decreases in the 
employer contribution rates that might result from new hires going into the PEPRA tiers. 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 4 

5735249v3/05337.001 

layer becoming fully amortized. For other employers that have a POB credit, the reduction in the 
employer rate is not as significant since their current contribution rates have already been 
reduced to reflect that they paid off a portion of that UAAL layer through the issuance of the 
POB or additional UAAL payments. For some other employers, such as Con Fire and Moraga-
Orinda Fire Protection District, since they already paid off that UAAL restart amortization layer 
via POBs and additional UAAL payments, they will not see a reduction in their employer 
contribution rate at that time. 

The projected rate changes that are due to the 18-month rate delay for each cost group have 
also been determined based on the different incremental rate changes from the prior valuations. 

We have also projected the year when each cost group would become fully funded and most 
Cost Groups are expected to become fully funded in 20235. In accordance with CCCERA’s 
Actuarial Funding Policy, all outstanding UAAL layers of the cost group would be fully amortized 
and there would be no UAAL payments (other than the continuation of the payment of the 
0.15% administrative expense) when the cost group reaches full funding. The reduction in UAAL 
rate due to full funding has been reflected.  

These estimated rate changes for each cost group are shown in the attached exhibit. We have 
also included the projected UAAL rate for the projection period in the exhibit. 

Key Assumptions and Methods 

The projection is based upon the following assumptions and methods: 

• December 31, 2021 non-economic assumptions remain unchanged.

• December 31, 2021 retirement benefit formulas remain unchanged.

• December 31, 2021 1937 Act statutes remain unchanged.

• UAAL amortization method remains unchanged.

• December 31, 2021 economic assumptions remain unchanged, including the 6.75%
investment earnings assumption.

• We have assumed that returns of 6.75% are actually earned each year on a market value
basis starting in 2022.

• Active payroll grows at 3.00% per annum.

• Deferred investment gains and losses are recognized per the asset smoothing schedule
prepared by the Association as of December 31, 2021. They are funded as a level percentage
of the Association’s total active payroll base.

• All other actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2021 Actuarial Valuation are
realized.

5 See explanation provided in footnote 2 on the previous page as to why there is a one-year delay in most Cost 
Groups to become fully funded (from 2022 to 2023) relative to our earlier five-year projection letter dated March 16, 
2022.  



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 5 

5735249v3/05337.001 

• No changes are made to actuarial methodologies, such as adjusting for the contribution rate
delay in advance and the continuation of the current pooling arrangement among different
employers within a cost group.

• The projections do not reflect any changes in the employer contribution rates that could result
due to future changes in the demographics of CCCERA’s active members or decreases in the
employer contribution rates that might result from new hires going into the PEPRA tiers.

• The projections assumed a fixed administrative expense loads of 0.50% and 0.15% payroll
that applied to employer Normal Cost and UAAL rates, respectively.

• On July 30, 2020, the California Supreme Court issued a decision in the case of Alameda
County Deputy Sheriffs’ Association et al. v. Alameda County Employees’ Retirement
Association (ACERA) and Board of Retirement of ACERA. That decision has important
implications for CCCERA and its members, In particular, the decision requires pension
systems like CCCERA to exclude certain pay items from a legacy member’s compensation
earnable. It is our understand that the CCCERA Board of Retirement has taken action to
return member contributions that were previously made on certain terminal pay and on-call
pay items impacting approximately 6,400 members, as well as to reduce the benefit of 7
retirees that had estoppel included in their retirement calculation. We further understand that
the December 31, 2021 participant data as well as the assets as of that date, do not reflect
the return of member contributions that totaled approximately $4 million, however the
participant data does reflect the reduction of benefit for the 7 members.

• It is important to note that these projections are based on plan assets as of
December 31, 2021. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, market conditions have changed
significantly since the onset of the Public Health Emergency. The Plan’s funded status does
not reflect short-term fluctuations of the market, but rather is based on the market values on
the last day of the Plan Year. Moreover, these projections do not include any possible short-
term or long-term impacts on mortality of the covered population that may emerge after
December 31, 2021.

Finally, we emphasize that projections, by their nature, are not a guarantee of future results. 
The modeling projections are intended to serve as illustrations of future financial outcomes that 
are based on the information available to us at the time the modeling is undertaken and 
completed, and the agreed-upon assumptions and methodologies described herein. Emerging 
results may differ significantly if the actual experience proves to be different from these 
assumptions or if alternative methodologies are used. Actual experience may differ due to such 
variables as demographic experience, the economy, stock market performance and the 
regulatory environment. 

Segal valuation results are based on proprietary actuarial modeling software. The actuarial 
valuation models generate a comprehensive set of liability and cost calculations that are 
presented to meet regulatory, legislative and client requirements. Deterministic cost projections 
are based on a proprietary forecasting model. Our Actuarial Technology and Systems unit, 
comprised of both actuaries and programmers, is responsible for the initial development and 
maintenance of these models. The models have a modular structure that allows for a high 
degree of accuracy, flexibility and user control. The client team programs the assumptions and 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 6 

5735249v3/05337.001 

the plan provisions, validates the models, and reviews test lives and results, under the 
supervision of the responsible actuary 

Unless otherwise noted, all of the above calculations are based on the December 31, 2021 
Actuarial Valuation results including the participant data, actuarial assumptions, methods, and 
models on which that valuation was based. That valuation and these projections were 
completed under the supervision of Andy Yeung, ASA, MAAA, FCA, Enrolled Actuary. 

The undersigned are members of the American Academy of Actuaries and meet the 
Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion 
herein. 

Please let us know if you have any questions. 

Sincerely, 

Paul Angelo, FSA, MAAA, FCA, EA 
Senior Vice President & Actuary 

Andy Yeung, ASA, MAAA, FCA, EA 
Vice President & Actuary 

EK/bbf 
Enclosure 



7 

Exhibit 

Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
Estimated Employer Rate Change by Cost Group (CG) Based on December 31, 2021 Valuation 

CG#1 & 2 CG#1 & 2 CG#1 & 2 CG#1 & 2 CG#1 & 2
County and Courts Moraga-Orinda FD First Five LAFCO Other District

with POB with POB with Prepayment with Prepayment without POB
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -7.33% -7.07% -8.04% -16.20% -16.20%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -6.40% -6.40% -6.40% -0.98% -6.40%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -7.33% -7.07% -8.04% -16.20% -16.20%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -13.73% -13.47% -14.44% -17.18% -22.60%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -13.73% -13.47% -14.44% -17.18% -22.60%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 -13.73% -13.47% -14.44% -17.18% -22.60%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 -13.73% -13.47% -14.44% -17.18% -22.60%

Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2021** 13.88% 13.62% 14.59% 17.33% 22.75%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2022** 6.55% 6.55% 6.55% 1.13% 6.55%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2023** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2024** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2025** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2026** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%

Year to Reach Full Funding (Valuation as of 12/31) 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023

* Includes the impact of the December 31, 2007 UAAL charge and POB credit layers dropping off due to being fully amortized.
** The employer UAAL rates include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.15% of payroll.

These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions or any member subvention of employer contributions.



8 

Exhibit (continued) 

Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
Estimated Employer Rate Change by Cost Group (CG) Based on December 31, 2021 Valuation 

CG#3 CG#4 CG#5 CG#6
Enhanced CCC Enhanced Enhanced Non-Enhanced
Sanitary District Housing Authority CCCFPD*** District

Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* 0.00% -18.87% -0.35% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 0.00% -8.65% -1.74% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 0.00% 0.00% -1.44% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 0.00% 0.00% -1.53% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% 0.00% -15.07% 0.00%

Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* 0.00% -18.87% -0.35% 0.00%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 0.00% -27.52% -2.09% 0.00%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 0.00% -27.52% -3.52% 0.00%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 0.00% -27.52% -5.05% 0.00%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% -27.52% -20.12% 0.00%

Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2021** 0.15% 27.67% 20.27% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2022** 0.15% 8.80% 19.92% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2023** 0.15% 0.15% 18.18% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2024** 0.15% 0.15% 16.75% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2025** 0.15% 0.15% 15.22% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2026** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%

Year to Reach Full Funding (Valuation as of 12/31) 2021 2023 2026 2021

* Includes the impact of the December 31, 2007 UAAL charge and POB credit layers dropping off due to being fully amortized.
** The employer UAAL rates include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.15% of payroll.

These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions or any member subvention of employer contributions.
*** Reflects the UAAL prepayment in the amount of $3,344,437 made by East Fire on June 30, 2021 for the General and Safety groups



9 

Exhibit (continued) 

Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
Estimated Employer Rate Change by Cost Group (CG) Based on December 31, 2021 Valuation 

CG#7 & 9
Combined CG#8 CG#10 CG#11
Enhanced Enhanced Enhanced Enhanced 

County CCCFPD*** Moraga-Orinda FD San Ramon Valley FD
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -19.84% -2.39% 1.19% -38.64%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -5.54% -4.39% -4.18% -16.20%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -19.95% -3.69% -3.74% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 0.00% -30.62% -4.08% 0.00%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% 0.00% -40.27% 0.00%

Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -19.84% -2.39% 1.19% -38.64%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -25.38% -6.79% -2.99% -54.83%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -45.33% -10.48% -6.73% -54.83%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 -45.33% -41.10% -10.81% -54.83%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 -45.33% -41.10% -51.07% -54.83%

Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2021** 45.48% 41.25% 51.22% 54.98%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2022** 25.64% 38.86% 52.41% 16.34%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2023** 20.10% 34.46% 48.23% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2024** 0.15% 30.77% 44.49% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2025** 0.15% 0.15% 40.41% 0.15%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2026** 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%

Year to Reach Full Funding (Valuation as of 12/31) 2024 2025 2026 2023

* Includes the impact of the December 31, 2007 UAAL charge and POB credit layers dropping off due to being fully amortized.
** The employer UAAL rates include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.15% of payroll.

These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions or any member subvention of employer contributions.
*** Reflects the UAAL prepayment in the amount of $3,344,437 made by East Fire on June 30, 2021 for the General and Safety groups



10 

Exhibit (continued) 

Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
Estimated Employer Rate Change by Cost Group (CG) Based on December 31, 2021 Valuation 

CG#12
Non-Enhanced Total 

Rodeo-Hercules FPD Plan
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -24.07% -9.04%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -5.18% -6.14%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -3.95% -2.42%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 -37.30% -1.70%
Estimated Incremental Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 0.00% -0.46%

Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2022* -24.07% -9.04%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2023 -29.25% -15.18%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2024 -33.20% -17.60%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2025 -70.50% -19.29%
Cumulative Rate Change as of 12/31/2026 -70.50% -19.75%

Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2021** 70.65% 19.90%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2022** 46.58% 10.86%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2023** 41.40% 4.72%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2024** 37.45% 2.30%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2025** 0.15% 0.61%
Employer UAAL rate as of 12/31/2026** 0.15% 0.15%

Year to Reach Full Funding (Valuation as of 12/31) 2025

* Includes the impact of the December 31, 2007 UAAL charge and POB credit layers dropping off due to being fully amortized.
** The employer UAAL rates include an explicit administrative expense load of 0.15% of payroll.

These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions or any member subvention of employer contributions.



5734702v4/05337.001 
 

Andy Yeung, ASA, MAAA, FCA, EA 
Vice President & Actuary 
T 415.263.8283 
ayeung@segalco.com 

180 Howard Street 
Suite 1100 

San Francisco, CA 94105-6147 
segalco.com 

Via Email 

October 7, 2022 

Gail Strohl 
Chief Executive Officer 
Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association 
1200 Concord Avenue, Suite 300 
Concord, CA 94520 

Re: Contra Costa County Employees' Retirement Association (CCCERA) 
Reconciliations of Employer Contribution Rate and Unfunded Actuarial Accrued 
Liability by Cost Group & Allocation of Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability by 
Employers Based on the December 31, 2021 Actuarial Valuation 

Dear Gail: 

As requested, we are providing the following information regarding the December 31, 2021 
valuation: 

Exhibit A – A reconciliation of employer contribution rate changes separately for each of 
CCCERA’s cost groups. 

Exhibit B – A reconciliation of the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) separately for 
each of CCCERA’s cost groups. 

Exhibit C – Allocation of the UAAL for each participating employer.  

Reconciliation of Employer Contribution Rate Changes for Each Cost Group 

Exhibit A details the changes in the recommended employer contribution rates for each cost 
group from the December 31, 2020 valuation to the December 31, 2021 valuation. 

Observations 

• The average employer rate increased from 33.87% of payroll as of December 31, 2020 to
35.55% of payroll as of December 31, 2021. As discussed in our December 31, 2021
actuarial valuation report, this increase is primarily due to the effect of change in
assumptions, individual salary increases greater than expected, and COLA increases
greater than expected, offset to some degree by an investment return on actuarial value (i.e.
after asset smoothing) greater than the 7.00% assumed rate used in the December 31, 2020
valuation, and the effect of changes in member demographics on Normal Cost.



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 2 

5734702v4/05337.001 

• The investment gain was allocated to each cost group in proportion to the assets for each
cost group.

• There are other various changes shown in Exhibit A including the effect of changes in
assumptions, actual contributions less/more than expected due to scheduled 18-month lag
in implementation of the contribution rates calculated in the December 31, 2020 valuation
and smaller/greater than projected total payroll for calendar year 2021, and additional UAAL
contribution made by various employers.

• On March 9, 2022, Local Agency Formation Commissions (LAFCO) approved the
annexation of East Contra Costa Fire Protection District (East Fire) into Contra Costa Fire
Protection District (Con Fire) effective July 1, 2022. Prior to the annexation, Con Fire’s and
East Fire’s Safety members were in Cost Group #8 and Cost Group #13, respectively and
they were the sole employer in each of those two cost groups. For General members, Con
Fire was the sole employer in Cost Group #5 while East Fire was a part of Cost Group #1,
pooled with members from other employers in that Cost Group. After the annexation, East
Fire’s Safety members became part of Cost Group #8 and East Fire’s General members
became part of Cost Group #5.

• As part of the annexation, East Fire made a prepayment of $3,344,437 on June 30, 2022
towards their December 31, 2020 UAAL. As requested by East Fire, this prepayment has
been used to reduce Con Fire's UAAL contribution rates effective July 1, 2022. The first
actuarial valuation to reflect the prepayment in the Table of Amortization Bases for Con Fire
(Cost Groups #5 and #8) will be as of December 31, 2022, as that will be the first valuation
in which the prepayment will be reflected in the assets provided for the valuation. However,
in this letter we have shown Con Fire’s contribution rates in Cost Group #5 and #8 after
reflecting this prepayment effective with the December 31, 2021 valuation.

• Central Contra Costa Sanitary District made a prepayment in the amount of $70,763,669
towards their UAAL on June 25, 2021 and the District’s UAAL contribution rate has been
reduced effective July 1, 2021. Therefore, we have shown the District’s contribution rate in
Cost Group #3 after reflecting the prepayment effective with the December 31, 2020
valuation. However, the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation is the first valuation to
reflect the prepayment in the UAAL amortization bases.

Reconciliation of UAAL for Each Cost Group 

Exhibit B presents the changes in the UAAL by cost group from the December 31, 2020 
valuation to the December 31, 2021 valuation. Note that we have combined the results for 
Cost Group #1 with #2 and Cost Group #7 with #9 as the UAAL for these cost groups is still 
pooled. 

Exhibit B shows that the decrease in UAAL is mainly due to an investment return on actuarial 
value (i.e. after asset smoothing) more than the 7.00% assumed rate used in the 
December 31, 2020 valuation and contributions paying down a portion of the UAAL, offset to 
some degree by the change in assumptions, individual salary increases greater than 
expected, and COLA increases greater than expected. The investment gain was again 
generally allocated amongst the cost groups in proportion to the valuation value of assets for 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 3 

5734702v4/05337.001 

each cost group. All other elements of the changes in UAAL were determined based on the 
data specific to each separate cost group. 

Allocation of UAAL by Employer 

Exhibit C provides an allocation of the UAAL as of December 31, 2021 by employer. 

Since the depooling action taken by the Board effective December 31, 2009, employers that 
are now in their own cost group have their UAAL determined separately in the valuation. For 
employers that do not have their own cost group, there is no UAAL maintained on an 
employer-by-employer basis in the valuation. In those cases, we develop contributions to fund 
the UAAL strictly according to projected payroll for each employer. We then use those UAAL 
contributions to develop a UAAL for each participating employer.  

Note that the UAAL we calculate for each employer is not necessarily the liability that would 
be allocated to that employer in the event of a plan termination or withdrawal by that 
employer. It is also not the Net Pension Liability (NPL) allocated to each employer for financial 
reporting purposes as shown in the Governmental Accounting Standards (GAS) Statement 
No. 68 report. 

Based on the above method, we have prepared the breakdown of the UAAL for each 
participating employer as shown in the enclosed Exhibit C. We also show the projected 
payroll for each participating employer that was used in the determination of the UAAL. 

Summary of Cost Groups and Employers 

The following table provides a brief summary of the employers included within each cost 
group, as referenced in Exhibit A and Exhibit B.  

Cost Group Employers 
Cost Group #1 General County and Small Districts 
Cost Group #2 General County and Small Districts 
Cost Group #3 Central Contra Costa Sanitary District 
Cost Group #4 Contra Costa Housing Authority 
Cost Group #51 Contra Costa County Fire Protection District - General 
Cost Group #6 Small Districts Non-Enhanced 
Cost Group #7 Safety County (Tiers A and D) 
Cost Group #81 Contra Costa County Fire Protection District - Safety 
Cost Group #9 Safety County (Tiers C and E) 
Cost Group #10 Moraga-Orinda Fire District 
Cost Group #11 San Ramon Valley Fire District 
Cost Group #12 Rodeo-Hercules Fire Protection District Non-Enhanced 

1 Effective July 1, 2022, East Fire was annexed into Con Fire. 



Gail Strohl 
October 7, 2022 
Page 4 

5734702v4/05337.001 

All results shown in this letter are based on the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation including 
the participant data and actuarial assumptions on which that valuation was based. That 
valuation and these calculations were completed under the supervision of Andy Yeung, ASA, 
MAAA, FCA, Enrolled Actuary. 

The undersigned is a member of the American Academy of Actuaries and meets the 
Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion 
herein. 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to give us a call. 

Sincerely, 

Andy Yeung, ASA, MAAA, FCA, EA 
Vice President & Actuary 

EK/bbf 
Enclosures 



5734702v4/05337.001 

Exhibit A 

Reconciliation of Recommended Employer Contribution from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 Valuation 
Cost Group 

#1 
Cost Group 

#2 
Cost Group 

#31, 2 
Cost Group 

#4 
Cost Group 

#53 
Cost Group 

#62
Cost Group 

#7 
Recommended Employer Contribution Rate 
in December 31, 2020 Valuation 32.60% 25.99% 15.63% 41.51% 35.63% 15.33% 70.95% 

1. Effect of investment return greater than
expected (after asset smoothing) (0.67%) (0.67%) (1.08%) (0.90%) (0.71%) (0.73%) (1.69%) 

2. Effect of actual contributions less/(more)
than expected4 0.06% 0.06% 1.42% 0.04% 0.24% 0.14% 0.02% 

3. Effect of additional UAAL contributions 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 
4. Effect of individual salary increases

higher/(lower) than expected 0.03% 0.03% 0.26% 0.66% (0.07%) (0.49%) 0.75% 

5. Effect of amortizing prior year’s UAAL over
a smaller/(larger) than expected projected
total payroll

0.09% 0.09% (0.40%) (0.18%) 0.70% 0.01% (0.03%) 

6. Effect of COLA increases greater than
expected in 2022 0.32% 0.32% 0.41% 0.44% 0.53% 0.26% 1.08% 

7. Effect of changes in active member
demographics on Normal Cost5 (0.23%) (0.19%) (0.15%) (0.29%) (0.41%) 0.37% (0.18%) 

8. Effect of other experience (gains)/losses6, 7 0.28% (0.04%) (0.40%) (0.75%) (1.64%) 0.09% (0.79%) 
9. Effect of change in assumptions 1.50% 1.31% 2.36% 2.14% 1.91% 1.43% 5.36% 
10. Effect of setting Cost Groups #3 and #6

contribution rate equal to Normal Cost 0.00% 0.00% (2.23%) 0.00% 0.00% (0.30%) 0.00% 

Total Change 1.38% 0.91% 0.19% 1.16% 0.55% 0.78% 4.52% 
Recommended Employer Contribution Rate 
in December 31, 2021 Valuation 33.98% 26.90% 15.82% 42.67% 36.18% 16.11% 75.47% 

Note: These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions, or member subvention of employer contributions. This Exhibit 
also excludes withdrawn employers. 

1 The employer contribution rates shown as of December 31, 2020 has been recalculated since the prior valuation to reflect the UAAL prepayment made by Central Contra Costa Sanitary District in the 
amount of $70,763,669 on June 25, 2021. 

2 Cost Groups #3 and #6 have no UAAL as of December 31, 2021. 
3 The employer contribution rates shown as of December 31, 2020 has been recalculated since the prior valuation to reflect the UAAL prepayment made by East Fire in the amount of $3,344,437 on 

June 30, 2022. The employer contribution rates for Cost Group #1 and Cost Group #5 shown as of December 31, 2020 also reflect the annexation of East Fire into Con Fire. 
4 Primarily due to smaller than projected total payroll for calendar year 2021. For Cost Group #3, that actual contributions are less than expected because the expected contributions excluded the effect of 

additional UAAL prepayment made by Central Contra Costa Sanitary District in the amount of $70,763,669 on June 25, 2021. 
5 This is the net impact of: a) reduction in normal cost rate due to the replacement of legacy members by PEPRA members, b) change in entry age and other demographic profiles, and c) the effect of 

legacy Safety members who for the first time reached 30 years of reported service as of December 31, 2021 and stopped making member basic contributions. 
6 Other differences in actual versus expected experience including (but not limited to) mortality, retirement, disability, termination and leave cashout experience. 
7 The effect of other experience gains for Cost Group #5 of 1.64% includes a mortality gain of 1.10%. 



5734702v4/05337.001 

Exhibit A (continued) 

Reconciliation of Recommended Employer Contribution from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 Valuation 

Cost Group 
#81 

Cost Group 
#9 

Cost Group 
#10 

Cost Group 
#11 

Cost Group 
#12 

Total Average 
Recommended 

Rate 
Recommended Employer Contribution Rate 
in December 31, 2020 Valuation 63.35% 61.32% 67.47% 77.24% 90.21% 33.87% 

1. Effect of investment return greater than
expected (after asset smoothing) (1.79%) (1.69%) (1.90%) (1.76%) (1.44%) (0.90%) 

2. Effect of actual contributions less/(more)
than expected2 (0.39%) 0.02% 0.17% 0.00% 0.11% 0.08% 

3. Effect of additional UAAL contributions 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% (0.09%) 0.00% (0.00%) 
4. Effect of individual salary increases

higher/(lower) than expected 0.86% 0.75% (0.39%) 1.34% 1.25% 0.19% 

5. Effect of amortizing prior year’s UAAL over
a smaller/(larger) than expected projected
total payroll

(0.90%) (0.03%) 2.13% 0.16% (1.55%) 0.08% 

6. Effect of COLA increases greater than
expected in 2022 1.43% 1.08% 1.22% 1.04% 0.89% 0.49% 

7. Effect of changes in active member
demographics on Normal Cost3 0.12% (0.39%) 0.48% (0.79%) (0.55%) (0.24%) 

8. Effect of other experience (gains)/losses4, 5 0.70% (0.79%) 3.11% 0.09% 1.32% (0.06%) 
9. Effect of change in assumptions 4.92% 5.02% 5.82% 5.69% 5.48% 2.13% 
10. Effect of setting Cost Groups #3 and #6

contribution rate equal to Normal Cost 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% (0.09%) 

Total Change 4.95% 3.97% 10.64% 5.68% 5.51% 1.68% 
Recommended Employer Contribution Rate 
in December 31, 2021 Valuation 68.30% 65.29% 78.11% 82.92% 95.72% 35.55% 

Note: These rates do not include any employer subvention of member contributions, or member subvention of employer contributions. This Exhibit 
also excludes withdrawn employers. 

1 The employer contribution rates shown as of December 31, 2020 has been recalculated since the prior valuation to reflect the UAAL prepayment made by East Fire in the amount of $3,344,437 on 
June 30, 2022 and the annexation of East Fire into Con Fire. 

2 Primarily due to smaller than projected total payroll for calendar year 2021. 
3 This is the net impact of: a) reduction in normal cost rate due to the replacement of legacy members by PEPRA members, b) change in entry age and other demographic profiles, and c) the effect of 

legacy Safety members who for the first time reached 30 years of reported service as of December 31, 2021 and stopped making member basic contributions. 
4 Other differences in actual versus expected experience including (but not limited to) mortality, retirement, disability, termination and leave cashout experience. 
5 The effect of other experience losses for Cost Group #10 of 3.11% includes the impact of a change in benefit amount for one member of 2.86%. 

The effect of other experience losses for Cost Group #12 of 1.32% includes the net impact of a retirement experience loss of 3.09% and a disability experience gain of 2.08%. 



5734702v4/05337.001 

Exhibit B 

Reconciliation of UAAL from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 Valuation 
Cost Groups 

#1 & #21 
Cost Group 

#3 
Cost Group 

#4 
Cost Group 

#5 
Cost Group 

#6 
Cost Groups 

#7 & #91 
1. UAAL as of December 31, 2020 $387,636,307 $63,666,968 $5,813,475 $13,291,227 $(861,048) $195,574,885 
2. Total Normal Cost at middle of year2 169,911,446 9,693,192 1,618,942 1,949,713 283,974 43,209,026 
3. Expected administrative expenses 8,515,254 427,680 72,618 70,082 11,718 1,224,328 
4. Expected employer and member

contributions (275,173,042) (23,656,582) (3,373,250) (3,521,649) (295,692) (89,497,224) 

5. Interest (whole year on (1) plus half year on
(2) + (3) + (4)) 24,065,044 4,029,985 354,056 883,088 (60,273) 12,272,872 

6. Expected UAAL as of December 31, 2021 $314,955,009 $54,161,243 $4,485,841 $12,672,461 $(921,321) $162,783,887 
7. Actuarial (gain)/loss due to all changes:

a. Investment return greater than
expected (after asset smoothing) $(67,279,019) $(5,533,860) $(777,960) $(692,452) $(97,913) $(24,505,011) 

b. Actual contributions less/(more) than
expected3 5,776,749 7,248,338 35,259 233,531 18,394 272,800 

c. Gain from additional UAAL
contributions4 (31,804) (73,198,508) 0 0 0 0 

d. Individual salary increases
higher/(lower) than expected 3,120,924 1,338,863 567,539 (66,476) (65,964) 10,809,143 

e. COLA increases greater than expected
in 2022 31,460,347 2,082,915 380,109 517,834 34,787 15,624,982 

f. Other experience (gain)/loss5, 6 (2,914,342) (2,032,318) (644,297) (1,804,028) 12,361 (11,208,169) 
g. Assumption changes 114,962,352 10,169,571 1,519,858 1,486,425 138,952 58,980,022 
h. Total changes $85,095,207 $(59,924,999) $1,080,508 $(325,166) $40,617 $49,973,767 

8. UAAL as of December 31, 2021 $400,050,216 $(5,763,756) $5,566,349 $12,347,295 $(880,704) $212,757,654 

Note: Results may not add due to rounding. 

1 Starting with the December 31, 2016 valuation, the three withdrawn employers (i.e., Diablo Water District, Delta Diablo Sanitation District and City of Pittsburg) have been moved from Cost Groups #1, 
#2 and #7 to their own Withdrawn Employers Cost Group. 

2 Excludes administrative expense load. 
3 Primarily due to smaller than projected total payroll for calendar year 2021. For Cost Group #3, that actual contributions are less than expected because the expected contributions excluded the effect of 

additional UAAL prepayment made by Central Contra Costa Sanitary District in the amount of $70,763,669 on June 25, 2021. 
4 $71,056,669 in total additional contributions ($70,763,699 made by Central Contra Costa Sanitary District, $263,000 made by San Ramon Valley Fire Department and $30,000 made by LAFCO) 

adjusted with $2,444,309 in interest to the end of the year. 
5 Other differences in actual versus expected experience including (but not limited to) mortality, retirement, disability, termination and leave cashout experience. 
6 The effect of other experience gains for Cost Group #4 of $644,297 includes a mortality gain of $784,983. 

The effect of other experience gains for Cost Group #5 of $1,804,028 includes a mortality gain of $1,079,599. 



5734702v4/05337.001 

Exhibit B (continued) 

Reconciliation of UAAL from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2021 Valuation 
Cost Group 

#8 
Cost Group 

#10 
Cost Group 

#11 
Cost Group 

#12 
Withdrawn 
Employers Total 

1. UAAL as of December 31, 2020 $113,577,315 $27,898,621 $36,984,213 $8,232,400 $7,530,886 $859,345,249 
2. Total Normal Cost at middle of year1 20,313,887 3,692,739 9,878,286 872,419 0 261,423,624 
3. Expected administrative expenses 553,346 101,479 265,926 28,908 0 11,271,338 
4. Expected employer and member

contributions (39,145,005) (7,541,848) (21,721,324) (2,569,570) (1,067,164) (467,562,349) 

5. Interest (whole year on (1) plus half year on
(2) + (3) + (4)) 7,377,908 1,834,773 2,224,742 523,697 (131,872) 53,374,020 

6. Expected UAAL as of December 31, 2021 $102,677,451 $25,985,764 $27,631,843 $7,087,854 $6,331,850 $717,851,882 
7. Actuarial (gain)/loss due to all changes:

a. Investment return greater than
expected (after asset smoothing) $(12,017,459) $(2,171,442) $(5,495,210) $(503,452) $(617,763) $(119,691,541) 

b. Actual contributions less/(more) than
expected2 (2,622,057) 198,706 13,855 39,990 0 11,215,564 

c. Gain from additional UAAL
contributions3 0 0 (270,666) 0 0 (73,500,978) 

d. Individual salary increases
higher/(lower) than expected 5,755,438 (442,961) 4,204,598 435,874 0 25,656,978 

e. COLA increases greater than expected
in 2022 9,625,308 1,391,716 3,257,375 310,279 217,732 64,903,384 

f. Other experience (gain)/loss4, 5 6,274,914 3,561,567 249,587 461,606 1,310,627 (6,732,491) 
g. Assumption changes 25,946,537 5,301,507 13,908,945 1,416,650 1,027,582 234,858,401 
h. Total changes $32,962,681 $7,839,093 $15,868,484 $2,160,947 $1,938,178 $136,709,317 

8. UAAL as of December 31, 2021 $135,640,132 $33,824,857 $43,500,327 $9,248,801 $8,270,028 $854,561,199 

Note: Results may not add due to rounding. 

1 Excludes administrative expense load. 
2 Primarily due to smaller than projected total payroll for calendar year 2021. 
3 $71,056,669 in total additional contributions ($70,763,699 made by Central Contra Costa Sanitary District, $263,000 made by San Ramon Valley Fire Department and $30,000 made by LAFCO) 

adjusted with $2,444,309 in interest to the end of the year. 
4 Other differences in actual versus expected experience including (but not limited to) mortality, retirement, disability, termination and leave cashout experience. 
5 The effect of other experience losses for Cost Group #10 of $3,561,567 includes the impact of a change in benefit amount for one member with a present value of $3,257,307. 



5734702v4/05337.001 

Exhibit C 

Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association UAAL Breakdown 
December 31, 2021 Valuation  

Employer 

Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability 

(UAAL) Projected Payroll 

County $588,842,714 $831,254,712 

Superior Court  12,132,388  23,235,967 

Districts: 

• Bethel Island Municipal Improvement District  210,123  345,733 

• Byron, Brentwood, Knightsen Union Cemetery District  (276,942)  321,312 

• Central Contra Costa Sanitary District  (5,763,756)  39,063,159 

• First Five - Contra Costa Children & Families Commission  1,509,495  2,853,655 

• Contra Costa County Employees’ Retirement Association  3,965,383  6,524,590 

• Contra Costa County Fire Protection District  147,987,427  58,963,156 

• Contra Costa Housing Authority  5,566,349  6,602,093 

• Contra Costa Mosquito and Vector Control District  2,186,194  3,597,135 

• In-Home Supportive Services Authority  615,022  1,011,949 

• Local Agency Formation Commission1  (8,697)  188,947 

• Moraga-Orinda Fire Protection District  34,405,061  9,861,526 

• Rodeo Sanitary District  (603,762)  700,496 

• Rodeo-Hercules Fire Protection District  9,311,926  2,779,261 

• San Ramon Valley Fire Protection District  46,212,246  28,451,696 

• Withdrawn Employers2  8,270,028 0 

Grand Total $854,561,199 $1,015,755,387 

Note: Results may not add due to rounding. 

1 The outstanding balance of LAFCO's UAAL prepayments is $123,532. This outstanding balance, together with Cost Group #1 and #2's UAAL 
allocated to LAFCO resulted in a net UAAL of ($8,697). However, since Cost Groups #1 and #2 are not in surplus, any participating employers in Cost 
Groups #1 and #2 are not considered to be in surplus based on CCCERA's funding policy. 

2 Withdrawn employers include Diablo Water District, Delta Diablo Sanitation District, and City of Pittsburg. 



 
The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

AGENDA 

RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING

 REGULAR MEETING 
October 26, 2022, 9:00 a.m. 

The Board of Retirement will hold its meeting via teleconferencing as permitted by Government 
Code Section 54953(e).  The meeting is accessible telephonically at 669-900-6833, Webinar ID: 
878 8021 6868, Passcode: 330294, or via the web at: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87880216868?pwd=blVqc3ZHTXk4UmIxMUZKa3RuRHNsQT09 

Passcode: 330294 

Persons who wish to address the Board of Retirement during public comment may call in during 
the meeting by dialing the phone number and passcode above.  Access via Zoom is also available 
at the weblink above.  To indicate you wish to speak during public comment, please select *9 on 
your phone or “raise your hand” in the Zoom app.

Public comments are limited to any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board 
of Retirement.  Comments will be received in real time via telephone or Zoom, subject to a three-
minute time limit per speaker.  

THE RETIREMENT BOARD MAY DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING:

1. Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Roll Call.

3. Accept comments from the public.

4. Approve minutes from the September 28, 2022 meeting.

5. Review of private credit by StepStone.

6. Miscellaneous
a. Staff Report
b. Outside Professionals’ Report
c. Trustees’ comments



 
The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

AGENDA 

RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING

 REGULAR MEETING 
November 2, 2022, 9:00 a.m. 

The Board of Retirement will hold its meeting via teleconferencing as permitted by Government 
Code Section 54953(e).  The meeting is accessible telephonically at 669-900-6833, Webinar ID: 
837 8153 0670, Passcode: 764481, or via the web at: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83781530670?pwd=ZHR3MEt2VG13cFZJckdEcFplSFQrZz09 

Passcode: 764481 

Persons who wish to address the Board of Retirement during public comment may call in during 
the meeting by dialing the phone number and passcode above.  Access via Zoom is also available 
at the weblink above.  To indicate you wish to speak during public comment, please select *9 on 
your phone or “raise your hand” in the Zoom app. 

Public comments are limited to any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board 
of Retirement.  Comments will be received in real time via telephone or Zoom, subject to a three-
minute time limit per speaker.   

THE RETIREMENT BOARD MAY DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING:

1. Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Roll Call.

3. Public Comment (3 minutes/speaker).

4. Recognition of Stephanie Shedd for 5 years of service.

5. Approve minutes from the October 12, 2022 meeting.

6. Approve the following routine items:
a. Certifications of membership.
b. Service and disability allowances.
c. Death benefits.
d. Investment liquidity report.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83781530670?pwd=ZHR3MEt2VG13cFZJckdEcFplSFQrZz09


. 

The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

7. Accept the following routine items:
a. Disability applications and authorize subpoenas as required.
b. Travel report.
c. Investment asset allocation report.

CLOSED SESSION 

8. The Board will go into closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 54957 to consider
recommendations from the medical advisor and/or staff regarding the following
disability retirement applications: 

Member Type Sought Recommendation 
a. Jaime Ramirez Non-Service Connected Non-Service Connected 
b. Casey Reel Service Connected Service Connected 

9. The Board will continue in closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 54957 to
consider the motion for reconsideration regarding the disability application for Mark
Emery.

OPEN SESSION 

10. Pension administration system project update:
a. Update from staff
b. Presentation from Segal
c. Presentation from Sagitec

11. Review of report on Risk Diversifying Sub-portfolio.

12. Educational presentation from AQR on trend following strategies.

13. Consider and take possible action to authorize the Board to conduct teleconference
meetings under Government Code section 54953 (e) and to make related findings.

14. Consider and take possible action on 2023 Board meeting schedule.

15. Consider authorizing the attendance of Board:
a. NCPERS 2023 Legislative Conference & Pension Communications Summit,

January 22-24, 2023, Washington, D.C.

16. Miscellaneous
a. Staff Report
b. Outside Professionals’ Report
c. Trustees’ comments



M E M O R A N D U M

C O N T R A  C O S T A  L O C A L  A G E N C Y  F O R M A T I O N  C O M M I S S I O N
40 Muir Rd, First Floor   Martinez CA  94553    (925) 313-7133 

November 9, 2022 

TO:  Each Member of the Commission 

FROM: LAFCO Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Highlights of 2022 Annual CALAFCO Conference 

Several Commissioners and LAFCO staff attended the 2022 Annual CALAFCO Conference in 

Newport  Beach (October 19-21). The conference was well attended with approximately 223 

attendees, guests, and speakers representing 47 of the 58 LAFCos.   

The conference theme was 50+1 Years – A Golden Era  and provided timely and informative 

sessions. The conference started with an optional mobile workshop – “It’s a Shore Thing: 

Navigating Municipal Service Delivery Within Coastal Areas.”  

General sessions included Building on the Basics of LAFCO (LAFCO 101), “Municipal Service 

Reviews: It’s a Brand-New Ballgame”, and “How I Learned to Stop Worrying and Love Fire 

District Consolidations”. Breakout sessions included “Recruitment and Succession Planning: 

Preparing for Future LAFCO Leaders, Today”, “Dangerous Currents! Recognizing and 

Avoiding Conflict of Interest”, “Grand Juries & LAFCO: Why Can’t We Be Friends”, and “The 

Definitive Session on Pensions: LAFCO’s Two-fold Responsibility to Take Care of Its Own and 

Review Agencies”.  

In addition, there were regional roundtables, the CALAFCO Annual Business Meeting, 

Regional Caucus and Elections, CALAFCO Board of Directors meeting, the CALAFCO 

Awards Ceremony, a “Mock-commission Hearing” regarding dissolution of a fire district, and a 

Legislative Update.  

Also, we are pleased to announce that Commissioner McGill was re-elected to the CALAFCO 

Board of Directors with no challengers. Congratulations!   

Conference material is available on the CALAFCO website at www.calafco.org. 

The 2023 CALAFCO Conference will be held in Monterey (October 18 – 22).  

November 9, 2022
Agenda Item 16b

http://www.calafco.org/


EDITORIAL

Voters should OK Brentwood open space protection

In the past three decades, the population of Brentwood increased about ninefold, from a city of 7,500 people in 1990
to 67,000 today.

As the city kept permitting more housing construction, it was falling short of its general-plan targets for neighborhood
and community parks to serve its residents. Meanwhile, plans have been �oated to turn golf courses into
developments, which would further erode the city’s open space.

Seeing this, a group of residents proposed a simple measure: Protect open space by requiring city voters’ approval for
future development of land currently designated in the general plan as parks, open spaces or recreational facilities
open to the public.

The City Council voted unanimously to place the issue on the Nov. 8 ballot. Measure Q would protect 175 parcels
totaling 1,048 acres and remain in effect for 40 years. It’s a smart, simple idea that would help shield the city from the
disproportionate in�uence developers held for so many years. Voters should back Measure Q.

The measure would protect 362 acres designated as parks in the city’s general plan, 77 acres designated at permanent
open space, and 609 acres that covers three golf courses — Deer Ridge (now closed), Shadow Lakes and the Brentwood
Golf Club.

Under Measure Q, the City Council could permit only development on the protected land without voter approval if
necessary to comply with state or federal law or if the land is government owned and to be used for a public purpose.

Development of the Shadow Lakes Golf Club in Brentwood would require voter approval under Measure Q on
the Nov. 8 ballot. DOUG DURAN — STAFF ARCHIVES

November 9, 2022
Agenda Item 16c



In the latter case, the council would, in turn, have to protect an equal or greater amount of open space elsewhere.

Measure Q is similar to a citizens’ initiative Martinez voters passed in 2018. But there’s a big political difference: In
Martinez, the initiative backers had to collect signatures to qualify the measure for the ballot, and then the City
Council tried unsuccessfully to undermine it by placing a sham, competing measure on the same ballot.

In sharp contrast, the Brentwood City Council members this year embraced the idea and placed it directly on the
ballot, saving the residents from having to go through the signature-gathering process. It’s a sign of the monumental
political shift over the past two election cycles that has transformed the City Council.

For years, past members of the Brentwood City Council seemed to live by the mantra, as one council candidate put it,
“If we build it, they will come.” The city kept permitting more housing construction with the hope that enough major
employers would follow to hire those new residents. It hasn’t happened, and it probably never will.

Four of the �ve new council members campaigned with a clear message that that strategy won’t work. They recognize
that they can’t keep plastering the city with more homes and few jobs — that the result would be even more traf�c
gridlock along Highway 4.

And they recognize that the remaining open space must be protected. Measure Q would provide a critical backstop to
ensure that voters have a voice on whether parklands and golf courses are turned into housing sites.



Station 74 in Pinole could reopen in March 2023 

 
 
 
Pinole Valley Fire Station 74, 3700 Pinole Valley Road (via Google Maps) - October 12, 2022  

Fire Station 74 in Pinole could reopen as soon as March 1, 2023, according to a plan that would also have 
Con Fire taking over fire services in the city.  

This week, both the Pinole City Council and Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors, which also serves 
as the governing board for the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (Con Fire), unanimously 
approved the proposal that would dissolve the Pinole Fire Department and have Con Fire operating both 
Station 73 (currently open) and Station 74. The plan now heads to Contra Costa LAFCO for final approval. 

“This means medical and fire response will be faster in West County!,” Contra Costa County Supervisor 
John Gioia posted on Facebook in the wake of this week’s approvals. 

Pinole has operated just one fire station — Station 73 — for most of the city’s history, only briefly operating 
Station 74 from 2003 until 2011. Since the closure of Station 74 due to the recession, the city has explored 
ways to reopen the station or otherwise expand fire protection and emergency medical services. 

The proposal to reopen Station 74 and have Con Fire become the city’s fire service agency is anticipated to 
cost roughly $7.5 million per year on average over the first seven years. Of that amount, $2 million will 
come annually from County Measure X funds currently appropriated to the Pinole Fire Department. 

Proponents of the plan in principle — which include the City’s Fire Chief, the County Executive Fire Chiefs, 
and the labor group representing Con Fire’s and Pinole Fire Department’s firefighters (IAFF Local 1230) — 
say the benefits will be measurable. 

ConFire reported on Facebook that the new arrangement “will near overnight” improve fire and EMS 
services in Pinole. In addition to faster response times, a larger agency like Con Fire would enhance the 
city’s resources and provide services at a lower cost because it “achieves economies of scale and scope,” 
according to a city report. 

 

https://www.facebook.com/sharer.php?u=https%3A%2F%2Frichmondstandard.com%2Fcommunity%2F2022%2F10%2F12%2Fstation-74-in-pinole-could-reopen-in-march-2023%2F
https://www.facebook.com/sharer.php?u=https%3A%2F%2Frichmondstandard.com%2Fcommunity%2F2022%2F10%2F12%2Fstation-74-in-pinole-could-reopen-in-march-2023%2F
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Station+74+in+Pinole+could+reopen+in+March+2023&url=https%3A%2F%2Frichmondstandard.com%2Fcommunity%2F2022%2F10%2F12%2Fstation-74-in-pinole-could-reopen-in-march-2023%2F&via=Richmond+Standard
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Station+74+in+Pinole+could+reopen+in+March+2023&url=https%3A%2F%2Frichmondstandard.com%2Fcommunity%2F2022%2F10%2F12%2Fstation-74-in-pinole-could-reopen-in-march-2023%2F&via=Richmond+Standard
https://cdn5-hosted.civiclive.com/UserFiles/Servers/Server_10946972/File/10.10.2022%20FINAL%20AGENDA%20PACKET.pdf
https://www.facebook.com/photo?fbid=10228478458771649&set=a.1055826961065
https://www.facebook.com/photo?fbid=488010463365207&set=pcb.488010543365199


Map: California updates tsunami hazard 
areas with most changes in the Bay Area  
PUBLISHED: October 12, 2022 at 4:18 p.m. | UPDATED: October 13, 
2022 at 4:20 a.m. 

The California Geological Survey and the Governor’s Office of 
Emergency Services released an update to the state’s tsunami hazard 
area map, with the latest changes concentrated on seven counties — 
mostly in the Bay Area. 

The designated area is primarily used to help cities and counties assess 
tsunami risk and develop plans to deal with the threat. However, the 
CGS does recommend that if you are on land and in the hazard area, you 
should leave immediately after feeling a long earthquake or if you 
receive an official evacuation notification. 

The hazard areas were based from 2009 Tsunami Inundation Maps for 
Emergency Planning and improved high-resolution computer modeling 
of tsunami scenarios. The counties that saw updates Friday are Marin, 
Napa, San Diego, Santa Cruz, Solano, Sonoma and Ventura. 

The last update was in July 2021. The update accounts for 1,000-year 
historical tsunami events. Previous maps only calculated 100- to 500-
year historical events. 

TSUNAMI HAZARD AREA IN CALIFORNIA 

The California Geological Survey recently updated their tsunami 
hazard maps to designate areas at risk of inundation and help 
local agencies plan for evacuations. The state recommends those 
living in the red zone to leave the zone after an earthquake or 
tsunami warning. 

https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/tsunami/maps#counties
https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/tsunami/maps#counties
https://www.mercurynews.com/2021/07/20/if-massive-tsunami-comes-to-bay-area-walk-to-safety-experts-say/


 



Fire Board, City Of Pinole Agree To Join Forces 
Oct. 12, 2022 
 
Contra Costa County Fire Protection District will likely annex Pinole and provide fire 
service, after the West County city and Con Fire's board of directors signed off on the move 
this week. 

The Pinole City Council unanimously approved the move Monday night. 

The Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors, in its role as fire district board, approved the 
move Tuesday. Officially, it approved Con Fire applying to the Local Agency Formation 
Commission (LAFCO), asking for its formal approval -- a process that can take months. 

If approved, Con Fire would then enter an agreement with Pinole to provide service within 
its city limits and take over its two fire stations. Only one station is currently in operation -- 
downtown station 73 -- as station 74 on Pinole Valley Road was closed in 2011 for lack of 
funding. It would reopen under the new agreement. 

The expanded service would be paid for by city and county funds. The first fiscal year, 
2022/23, would cost $7.5 million. 

A county staff report said the county wants to get the application to LAFCO by Oct. 17 for 
consideration at its Nov. 9 meeting. The report says it's possible for the stations to be up and 
running as part of Con Fire by March 1, 2023. Contra Costa has already negotiated union 
agreements to keep the station 73 firefighters employed. 

The move would be just the latest in a year of big expansion for Con Fire. In July, the district 
finalized much-anticipated consolidation with the East Contra Costa Fire Protection District 
becomes official Friday. 

The consolidation brought 128,000 residents of East Contra Costa under the purview of the 
larger district and was expected to improve and streamline service. The district now serves 
753,000 county residents. The consolidation expanded Con Fire geographically from 304 to 
553 square miles, an increase of 82 percent. 

The district has also opened, or reopened, stations in unincorporated Walnut Creek, Oakley 
and Bay Point. Planning for construction of two additional fire stations in the city of 
Brentwood is currently underway, with completion date estimates some time in 2024. 
 

Copyright © 2022 Bay City News, Inc. All rights reserved. Republication, rebroadcast or redistribution 
without the express written consent of Bay City News, Inc. is prohibited. Bay City News is a 24/7 news 
service covering the greater Bay Area. 

 



‘Preserve open land’: Alameda County to vote on amended Measure D 

 

Discussion continues surrounding Measure D, which is aimed at increasing agriculture businesses' 
profits while also preserving open space. 

This November, Alameda County voters will once again vote on Measure D, or the “Save Agriculture and 
Open Space Lands” initiative, this time with amendments aimed at increasing profits for agriculture 
business while simultaneously preserving the county’s open land. 

The proposed amendments come from the Alameda County Local Agency Formation Commission, or 
LAFCo, to allow equestrian centers, greenhouses and wineries more flexibility in their building plans. 

Due to the industries in the valley voicing their concerns, LAFCo issued a report on the effects the 
measure has had in the region throughout the past 20 years, according to a report by the Alameda County 
Community Development Agency’s planning department. It discovered that while the industries are 
stable, the current floor aspect ratio is too limiting and has resulted in stagnation.  

According to Victor Flores, a climate resilience manager for the East Bay Greenbelt Alliance, the measure 
was originally approved in 2000 to establish an “Urban Growth Boundary,” an area delineated to preserve 
open, undeveloped or agricultural land from urban sprawl specifically in the tri-valley region, which 
encompasses the natural regions of Danville, Dublin, Livermore and Pleasanton. 

The purpose of Measure D is to “to preserve and enhance agriculture and agricultural lands, and to protect 
the natural qualities, the wildlife habitats, the watersheds and the beautiful open space of Alameda County 
from excessive, badly located and harmful development,” according to the Alameda County Community 
Development Agency’s planning department. 

However, since the measure’s passing, the agricultural and equestrian communities of Alameda County 
argue that the strict square footage limitations hinder their business performance. 



“What we worry about in general is just the fact that if these industries don’t succeed, there’s a lot of 
market pressure to convert land, especially ‘greenfield developments’ into more sprawling, suburban 
development, which is horrible for the environment,” Flores said. 

If the amended measure passes, the maximum floor area ratio for agricultural buildings in Large Parcel 
Agriculture areas will be increased from .01 to .025 and equestrian riding areas will be able to build 
covered structures to a maximum of 60,000 square feet, which will allow for more space for large events, 
thereby increasing revenue, according to Flores. 

Flores noted that the largest supporters of the measure are industry advocates and the Tri-Valley 
Conservancy, a land trust aimed at preserving and advocating for the open spaces in the East Bay. 
According to Flores, there does not seem to be many who oppose the measure as the amendments will 
likely not be “super drastic.” 

Flores noted that though Berkeley residents can vote on the measure, it will not impact them directly. In 
fact, he said it will likely only affect Livermore residents who live or work in the valley itself. 

 


	00 Notice and Agenda
	03  Approval of Minutes of the September 14, 2022 regular LAFCO meeting
	05  Resolution Authorizing Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361
	AB 361 - LAFCO Resolution 22-07

	06  LAFCO 22-04  Annexation to  EBMUD  Thomas Property
	EXHIBIT A - Map - LAFCO No. 22-04 Annexation to East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD)
	ATTACHMENT 3 -LAFCO Resolution 22- 04 - EBMUD Annexation - 4949 Happy Valley Rd - Lafayette - Reso
	ATTACHMENT 1 - Contra Costa Health Services
	ATTACHMENT 2 - EBMUD Will Serve Letter

	07   LAFCO 22-07  Contra Costa County Fire Protection District and City of Pinole Out of Agency Service Agreement
	LAFCO 22-07 - CCCFPD and City of Pinole -OAS - Staff Report
	EXHIBIT A - Map - LAFCO 22-07 - CCCFPD and City of Pinole -OAS
	ATTACHMENT 4 - LAFCO Resolution 22-07
	ATTACHMENT 2 -  Independent Fiscal Analysis
	ATTACHMENT 1 - Pinole Fire Services Agreement - Executed Version 10-19-22
	ATTACHMENT 3 - LAFCO 22-07 - CCCFPD Plan for Services City of Pinole
	ATTACHMENT 5 - Pinole Resolution 2022-83
	ATTACHMENT 6 - CCCFPD Resolution of Application 2022-13

	08   (CCMVCD) & (CCRCD)  (MSR) & (SOI) Updates (2nd Round)
	EXHIBIT A -  Map -Boundary/SOI – CCMVCD
	ATTACHMENT 1 - 
RESOLUTION OF THE CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION
COMMISSION ADOPTING MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW AND
SPHERE OF INFLUENCE DETERMINATIONS FOR THE
CONTRA COSTA MOSQUITO AND VECTOR CONTROL DISTRICT
	EXHIBIT B - Map -Resource Conservation District and Coterminous SOI
	ATTACHMENT 2 - RESOLUTION OF THE CONTRA COSTA LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION
COMMISSION ADOPTING MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW AND
SPHERE OF INFLUENCE DETERMINATIONS FOR THE
CONTRA COSTA RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT
	ATTACHMENT 3 - Response to Comments Log

	09  LAFCO 2023 Meeting Schedule
	10  FY 2022-23 First Quarter Budget Report
	11  2022 Legislative Wrapup
	ATTACHMENT - CALAFCO List of Current Bills 9/30/22

	12  Updates to LAFCO Staffing, Budget, and Personnel
	ATTACHMENT 1 Clerk Analyst Position Description
	ATTACHMENT 2 Draft Resolution 2022-08

	13  Current and Potential Applications
	ATTACHMENT - Current Applications

	14  Correspondence from Contra Costa County Employees Retirement Association
	CCCERA Agenda 9.14.22
	CCCERA of 9.22.22 Meeting Notice
	CCCERA - Retirement Board Meeting 9.28.22
	CCCERA Agenda 10.12.22
	CCCERA - Retirement Board Meeting 10.26.22
	CCCERA - Retirement Board Meeting 11.2.22

	16b  CALAFCO Conference Highlights
	16c Newspaper Articles
	Newspaper Articles
	Voters Should OK Brentwood Open Space Protection
	Station 74 in Pinole could reopen in March 2023

	Map: California Updates Tsunami Hazard Areas with Most Changes in the Bay Area 10.12.22
	Fire Board, City Of Pinole Agree To Join Forces 10.12.22
	Preserve open land’: Alameda County to vote on amended Measure D





